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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Various statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”), including those that express a belief, expectation, or
intention, as well as those that are not statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements are
generally, but not always, accompanied by words such as, but not limited to, “aim,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend” “may,” “might,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “possible,” “project,” “predict,” “potential,” “seek,” “should,”
“strategy,” “target,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions or phrases, or the negative of those expressions or phrases, or other words that
convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes, which are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking
statements contain these identifying words. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections and
related assumptions, about future events and financial trends. While our management considers these expectations, projections and assumptions
to be reasonable, they are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingencies and
uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. There can be no assurance that actual
developments will be as we anticipate. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in these statements as a result of
significant risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to:
·

Our plans to commercialize our 900 MHz spectrum assets depend on our ability to qualify for and obtain broadband licenses from
the Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) in accordance with the requirements of the Report and Order approved by
the FCC on May 13, 2020. If we are unable to obtain broadband licenses on favorable terms and on a timely basis, or at all, our
business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects will be materially adversely affected.

·

We may not be able to correctly estimate our operating expenses or future revenues, which could lead to cash shortfalls and require
us to secure additional financing sooner than planned.

·

We have no operating history with our proposed business plan which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and future
financial results and our business activities, strategic approaches and plans may not be successful.

·

The mandatory retuning process established by the FCC in the Report and Order may not allow us to obtain broadband licenses
from incumbents in a timely manner and on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

·

We may not be successful in commercializing our spectrum assets to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure enterprises.

·

The ongoing coronavirus outbreak could adversely impact our business, including our efforts to secure broadband licenses and our
efforts to commercialize our spectrum assets.

·

Our initiatives with the federal and state agencies and commissions that regulate electric utilities may not be successful, which may
hinder our ability to commercialize our spectrum assets to our targeted customers.

·

We may not be able to maintain any broadband licenses that we obtain from the FCC.

·

Government regulations or actions taken by governmental bodies could adversely affect our business prospects, liquidity and
results of operations.

·

The value of our spectrum assets may fluctuate significantly based on supply and demand, as well as technical and regulatory
changes.

·

Many of the third parties who offer spectrum and communication technologies, products and solutions to our targeted customers
have existing long-term relationships with these targeted customers and have significantly more resources and greater political and
regulatory influence than we do.

·

We will need to continue to expand our organization and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could
disrupt our operations and financial results.

·

We have a limited trading history and there is no assurance that a robust market in our common stock will develop or be sustained.

·

Our common stock prices may be volatile which could cause the value of our common stock to decline.

·

Concentration of ownership will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.

These and other important factors, including those discussed under “Business,” “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Therefore, you are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such statements. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and except to the
extent required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after
the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise.
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PART I.
Item 1. Business
Overview
Anterix Inc., formerly known as pdvWireless, Inc. (“Anterix,” “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company”), is a wireless communications
company focused on commercializing our spectrum assets to enable our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers to deploy private
broadband networks, technologies and solutions. We are the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the 900 MHz band (896-901/935-940 MHz)
throughout the contiguous United States, plus Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico. On May 13, 2020, the Federal Communications Commission
(“FCC”) approved a Report and Order (the “Report and Order”) to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and
capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. We are now engaged in qualifying
for and securing broadband licenses from the FCC, with a focus on pursuing licenses in those counties in which we believe we have near-term
commercial opportunities. At the same time, our sales and marketing organization is pursuing opportunities to lease the broadband licenses we
secure to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers.
A Glossary of industry terms used in this Item 1 is provided at the end of this section.
Our Historical Spectrum Assets
Our spectrum is our most valuable asset. We are the largest holder of FCC-licensed spectrum in the 900 MHz band (896-901/935-940
MHz), with a nationwide footprint in the contiguous United States, plus Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico. In the 900 MHz band, the FCC
historically allocated approximately 10 MHz of spectrum, sub-divided into 40 10-channel blocks (for a total of 399 contiguous channels)
alternating between blocks designated for the operation of Specialized Mobile Radio (“SMR”) commercial systems and blocks designated
for private land mobile systems for business users (“B/ILT”), with the FCC’s rules also enabling B/ILT licenses to be converted to SMR
use. Subsequently, the FCC conducted overlay auctions on the SMR designated blocks that awarded geographic-based licenses on a Major
Trading Area (“MTA”) basis while affording operational protection to incumbent, site-based licensees in those areas. Certain MTA licenses
were not purchased at auction or have been returned to the FCC. In addition, the FCC never auctioned the 20 blocks of B/ILT spectrum and in
some parts of the United States, no users acquired site-based licenses utilizing this spectrum. As a result, the FCC is currently holding 900 MHz
spectrum in its inventory in most counties throughout the United States.
We hold, on average, approximately 60% of the 399 channels in the 900 MHz band in the top 20 metropolitan market areas in the
United States, which covers approximately 70% of the U.S. population. We acquired our 900 MHz spectrum and certain related equipment from
Sprint in September 2014 for $100 million, which we paid in the form of $90 million in cash and $10 million in shares of our common stock.
Our Historical FCC Initiatives
Joint Petition. While our current licensed spectrum can support narrowband and wideband wireless services, the most significant
business opportunities we have identified require contiguous spectrum that allows for greater bandwidth than allowed by the current
configuration of the 900 MHz spectrum. In November 2014, in conjunction with the Enterprise Wireless Alliance (“EWA”), we submitted a
Joint Petition for Rulemaking (the “Joint Petition”) to the FCC proposing a realignment of a portion of the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz
broadband segment, while retaining 4 MHz for continued narrowband operations. The EWA is a trade association representing the spectrum
interests of a broad range of business enterprise, critical infrastructure and commercial service providers. In response to the Joint Petition, the
FCC issued a public notice requesting comments from interested parties and asked several questions about the proposal. A number of parties,
including several incumbent licensees, filed comments with the FCC expressing their views both in support and opposition. In May 2015, we
and the EWA filed proposed rules with the FCC related to our Joint Petition recommending procedural and technical operating parameters and
processes related to the administration and technical sequencing of the proposed realignment of the 900 MHz band. Our proposed rules included
the requirement for the broadband operator to provide comparable facilities to incumbent licensees, to pay the costs of their realignment and to
utilize available filtering technologies to protect incumbents adjacent to the proposed broadband portion of the 900 MHz band. The FCC issued
a public notice on the proposed rules and received comments from interested parties.
Notice of Inquiry. In August 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) announcing that it had commenced a proceeding to
examine whether it would be in the public interest to change the existing rules governing the 900 MHz band to increase access to spectrum,
improve spectrum efficiency and expand flexibility for a variety of potential uses and applications, including broadband and other advanced
technologies and services. The FCC requested interested parties, including us, to comment on several questions related to three potential options
for the 900 MHz band: (i) retaining the current configuration of the 900 MHz band, but increasing operational flexibility; (ii) reconfiguring a
portion or all of the 900 MHz band to support broadband and other advanced technologies and services; or (iii) retaining the current 900 MHz
band licensing and eligibility rules. Because the FCC requested information on multiple options for the 900 MHz band, the NOI effectively
superseded the Joint Petition and other pending proposals that involved the 900 MHz band. We and EWA filed a joint response to the FCC’s
NOI in October 2017 and submitted reply comments in November 2017.
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Notice of Proposed Rulemaking. On March 14, 2019, the FCC unanimously adopted the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (“NPRM”)
endorsing our objective of creating a broadband opportunity in the 900 MHz band for critical infrastructure and other enterprise users. In the
NPRM, the FCC requested comments aimed at gathering information to help the FCC balance the interests of the potential broadband applicant
with the interests of incumbents and other interested parties. The FCC’s questions included: (i) what mechanism and requirements should be
imposed before a broadband applicant can acquire the FCC’s inventory of spectrum, including how to mitigate a windfall that might be
attributed to the broadband applicant by the FCC’s action; (ii) what mechanism should be used to enable the broadband applicant to clear
sufficient spectrum to qualify for a broadband license, including how to prevent potential holdouts; (iii) what size systems being operated by
incumbents should be deemed to be “Complex Systems” and exempt from any mandatory relocation requirements; and (v) what approaches,
including potential overlay auctions, should be used in counties where the broadband segment cannot be cleared of incumbents.
We filed our comments to the NPRM in June 2019 and submitted reply comments in July 2019. Following the comment period, we
continued to meet with the FCC, incumbents holding licenses or operating systems in the 900 MHz band, utility and other critical infrastructure
businesses, providers of equipment, technologies and/or services to the utility and other critical infrastructure businesses and other interested
parties in the 900 MHz band. The goals of these discussions were to: (i) build consensus and solicit support for the proposed reconfiguration of
the 900 MHz band to support broadband and other advanced technologies and services; (ii) resolve technical and other concerns raised by
incumbents; (iii) educate critical infrastructure and other enterprises on how broadband capabilities could enhance their operations and initiatives
and their regulatory obligations; (iv) gain a better understanding of the size of the operational incumbent base and the nature of the systems they
are currently operating; and (v) evaluate and propose voluntary license relocation opportunities to, or purchase spectrum from, certain
incumbents.
The 900 MHz Report and Order
On May 13, 2020, the FCC approved the Report and Order to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and
capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. In the Report and Order, the FCC
reconfigured the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz broadband segment (240 channels) and two narrowband segments, consisting of a 3 MHz
narrowband segment (120 channels) and a 1 MHz narrowband segment (39 channels). See FIGURE 1 below.

FIGURE 1

Figure 1
Figure 2
Figure 1 896.0 935.0 897.5 936.5 Narrowband 3 MHz 120 Channels Part of 4 MHz Narrowband Segment 47 CFR Part 27.5 Broadband 6 MHz – County Based 240 Channels Post Realignment 6MHz Broadband Segment 900.5 901.0 939.5 940.0 Narrowband 1 MHz 39 Channels Part of 4 MHz Narrowband Segment

The Role of the County. Under the Report and Order, the FCC established the “county” as the base unit of measure in determining
whether a broadband applicant is eligible to secure a broadband license. A broadband applicant must satisfy the FCC’s eligibility requirement
for each separate county in which the broadband applicant desires to obtain a broadband license. There are 3,223 counties in the United States,
including Puerto Rico.
Broadband License Eligibility Requirements. The Report and Order establishes three eligibility requirements to obtain a broadband
license for a county, which we refer to herein as (i) the “50% Licensed Spectrum Test,” (ii) the “90% Broadband Segment Test” and (iii) the
“240 Channel Requirement.”
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1.
50% Licensed Spectrum Test. To be eligible for a broadband license in a particular county, a broadband applicant must
demonstrate that it holds more than 50% of the outstanding licensed channels in that county. As noted above, the 900 MHz band is made up of a
maximum of 399 channels in each county. The FCC has licensed less than the maximum number of 399 channels in all but the most populous
counties. Because the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test is based on licensed channels, any channels that are not licensed by the FCC are not
included in the denominator when determining whether the broadband applicant has satisfied this test. As of the date of this filing, we satisfy the
50% Licensed Spectrum Test in more than 3,100 counties of the 3,223 counties in the United States and its territories. See MAP 1 below.

MAP 1: ANTERIX 50% TEST IN THE ENTIRE 900 MHZ BAND Anterix-Claimed Chs vs. All Licensed Chs in 5x5 (Number of Counties in Range) 50% or more (3183) 40% to 49.9% (35) 0% to 39.9% (15) ^ 10 of these counties are Guam, American Samoa, & Northern Mariana Islands. Total of 3,233 counties in the US and territories Map dated May 2020.
Map 1

Map 23

2.
90% Broadband Segment Test. The second test, the 90% Broadband Segment Test, addresses the balance between a
voluntary market process to clear any Covered Incumbent (i.e., holders of licenses in the broadband segment) and the mandatory relocation
process established by the FCC in the Report and Order (which applies to all Covered Incumbents, except for those Covered Incumbents
operating “Complex Systems” as described below). This test requires the broadband applicant to hold or have agreements with Covered
Incumbents for 90% of the licensed channels in the broadband segment in a particular county and within 70 miles of the county’s boundaries
before the FCC will issue a broadband license or commence the mandatory retuning period. The broadband segment in the 900 MHz band has a
total of 240 channels. The 90% Broadband Segment Test is calculated using outstanding licensed channels, which means that if the FCC has
licensed all 240 channels, the broadband applicant would be required to have control of, or agreements covering, 216 channels within the
broadband segment. In most counties in the United States, the FCC has licensed fewer than 240 channels in the broadband segment and these
unlicensed channels are not included in the denominator when determining whether the broadband applicant has satisfied this 90% Broadband
Segment Test.
A broadband applicant can satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test by purchasing channels from Covered Incumbents for cash or
other consideration, by paying to relocate Covered Incumbents to replacement spectrum channels outside the broadband segment, or by
demonstrating that the broadband applicant’s facilities will be far enough from the Covered Incumbent’s narrowband system to allow the two
types of networks to co-exist.
Before filing for a broadband license, the broadband applicant must satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test by utilizing its channel
holdings and negotiating with Covered Incumbents on a purely voluntary basis for any additional channels it requires to satisfy this test. Only
after the 90% Broadband Segment Test is satisfied will the FCC issue the broadband applicant a broadband
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license and commence the “Mandatory Retuning” period. During this period, any Covered Incumbents that remain in the broadband segment
(other than Complex Systems) are required to negotiate in good faith with the broadband applicant to sell their channels or otherwise clear the
broadband segment, subject to intervention by the FCC if the parties cannot reach an agreement.
MAP 2 illustrates our current licensed holdings in the 6 MHz broadband segment created by the Report and Order.

MAP 2: ANTERIX 90% TEST IN THE BROADBAND SEGMENT 1 Also used for Mandatory Relocation trigger 2 SMR Geographic Licenses effect only indicated licensed counties Complex Systems not factored into this calculation Anterix + Swap-Agreed Chs vs. All Licensed Chs in 3x3 (Number of Counties in Range) 90% or more (1394) 80% to 89.9% (515) 60% to 79.9% (892) Less than 60% (432)^ ^10 of these counties are Guam, America Samoa, & Northern Mariana Islands. Total of 3,233 counties in the US and territories Map dated May 2020.

3.
240 Channel Requirement. The Report and Order requires the broadband applicant to surrender 6 MHz of broadband or
narrowband spectrum (or 240 channels) in the applicable county to the FCC in exchange for a broadband license. If the broadband applicant
does not have sufficient channels in the county to return 240 channels to the FCC, it can elect to make an Anti-Windfall Payment (see Glossary)
to the U.S. Treasury to effectively purchase unlicensed channels in the FCC’s inventory. The Anti-Windfall Payment for these channels will be
based on prices paid in the applicable county in the 600 MHz auction conducted by the FCC. To satisfy the 240 Channel Requirement, the
broadband applicant has the option on a county-by-county basis to determine whether it is more cost-effective to make the Anti-Windfall
Payment, purchase channels from incumbents (where available), or possibly a combination of both.
Importantly, the markets where the FCC has channels in inventory and where we may need to make Anti-Windfall Payments to
effectively return 240 channels to the FCC are generally in smaller urban, suburban and rural markets. Our spectrum position is greatest in the
largest, most populated and therefore most expensive markets, with a few exceptions as shown in MAP 3 below. Although we will need to make
Anti-Windfall Payments to secure broadband licenses in some counties, the cost for the channels, on average, will be lower than the nationwide
average amount paid in the FCC’s 600 MHz auction.
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MAP 3: ANTERIX CHANNEL COUNT BY COUNTY Anterix Chs Count in 5x5 (Number of Counties in Range) 240 to 209 Chs (158) 210 to 239 Chs (94) 180 to 209 Chs (2426) 150 to 179 Chs (431) 0 to 149 Chs (124)^ ^10 of thse counties are Guam, American Samoa, & Northern Mariana Islands. Total of 3,233 counties in the US and territories Map dated May 2020.

Treatment of Complex Systems. The Report and Order exempts “Complex Systems” from the mandatory retuning process—even
when a broadband applicant meets the 90% Broadband Segment Test. The FCC defines a Complex System as a radio system that has at least 45
integrated sites. The FCC exempted Complex Systems from the mandatory retuning requirements because retuning these systems would
potentially be more disruptive to the operators than retuning the smaller systems operated by other incumbents. Of the small number of systems
that qualify for this 45-site exemption, based on our calculation, all but one system belongs to utilities that we have identified as our target
customers. See MAP 4 below.
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MAP 4: COMPLEX SYSTEM AREAS – 45+ SITES Area contains S Cal Edison & S Cal Gas LCRA Oncor Evergy FPL Santee Cooper Duke Eversource IWT Complex System Site Complex System Site (Under Swap Agreement) Currently in commercial discussions with 8 of these 11 systems Total of 3,233 counties in the US end territories Map dated May 2020.

The Association of American Railroads. The nation’s railroads, particularly the major freight lines, operate on six narrowband 900
MHz channels licensed to their trade association, the Association of American Railroads (“AAR”). Three of these narrowband channels are
located in the 900 MHz broadband segment created by the FCC. The Report and Order seems to acknowledge an agreement between the parties
by which AAR’s channels will be exchanged for a nationwide 10-channel license contributed by Anterix. We worked extensively with the AAR
and the railroads throughout the 900 MHz proceeding and expect them to work cooperatively with us to clear their three channels in the
broadband segment as they become needed for broadband deployment.
Costs of Securing Broadband Licenses
As discussed above, to obtain a broadband license in a county, the broadband applicant must satisfy (i) the 50% Licensed Spectrum
Test, (ii) the 90% Broadband Segment Test and (iii) the 240 Channel Requirement. As the broadband applicant, we can satisfy these channel
requirements by including our existing licensed channels in the 900 MHz band and by acquiring or clearing additional channels when necessary
through (i) spectrum purchases, (ii) retuning incumbents and/or (iii) effectively obtaining channels by making Anti-Windfall Payments. Under
the Report and Order, we have the option of using each of these options alone, or in any combination required, to satisfy the broadband license
eligibility requirements for a particular county. See FIGURE II.
gur3
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FIGURE II

Figure 2 Interrelated Requirements and Costs on Path to a Broadband License Spectrum Purchase Spectrum Relocation Anti-Windfall Calculation 01 02 03 Broadband License 50% Licensed Spectrum Test 50% of licensed channels throughout the 10MHz 240 Channel Requirement Return 240 channels from throughout10MHz 90% Broadband Segment Test 90% of licensed channels in the Broadband Segment

1.
Channel Acquisition. In 2015, we began acquiring targeted additional channels in the 900 MHz band in various markets in
anticipation of the Report and Order. We will continue to employ spectrum acquisition as a tool for those situations where a Covered Incumbent
desires to exit the 900 MHz band. We may selectively acquire channels outside the 900 MHz broadband segment and use them to swap for
channels within the broadband segment. For purposes of broadband license eligibility, any potential acquisitions we negotiate will be included
as part of our broadband application, but the acquisition does not need to be consummated at the time we submit our license application.
2.
Retuning Costs. Retuning is the exercise of exchanging, also referred to as swapping, broadband segment channels held by
Covered Incumbents and moving them to channels outside of the 900 MHz broadband segment. A retune or swap adds to the number of
channels we hold for computational purposes in the 90% Broadband Segment Test. We began retuning or swapping channels with interested
Covered Incumbents in 2015 in anticipation of the Report and Order. We have continued retuning channels with Covered Incumbents since that
time.
3.
Anti-Windfall Payments. To obtain a 6 MHz broadband license, we must surrender 240 licensed channels in the
county. As this band has been underutilized historically, most counties in the United States do not have 240 outstanding licensed channels. To
make up the difference, we may obtain channels from the FCC’s spectrum inventory and effectively pay for those channels by making an AntiWindfall Payment. As noted above, the FCC will use a reference per channel price based on the average price paid in the FCC’s 600 MHz
auction in a given county.
Broadband Licensing Process
The broadband licensing process will begin after the Wireless Telecommunication Bureau releases a Public Notice further detailing the
application requirements and timeline. The FCC declined to establish a finite period for filing broadband applications in the Report and
Order. The broadband licensing process will likely include an FCC Form 601, an application used for new wireless licenses, an Eligibility
Certification and a Transition Plan describing the agreements the prospective broadband applicant has entered into with Covered
Incumbents. We intend to pursue and file applications based on the timing of customer opportunities and our spectrum clearing results. Within
15 days of filing an application, we will make an Anti-Windfall Payment to the U.S. Treasury for any spectrum we require from the FCC’s
inventory to reach the 240 Channel Requirement. In cases where we have satisfied the 90% Broadband Segment Test but have not reached an
agreement with all Covered Incumbents, the mandatory negotiation process will commence after we receive the broadband license.
Our Business Strategy
Anterix’s mission is to deliver the transformative broadband needed to enable the modernization of critical infrastructure for energy,
transportation, logistics and other industries through the power of private wireless broadband connectivity on 900 MHz spectrum. To that end,
we are pursuing a two-pronged strategy focused on: 1) converting our nationwide narrowband 900 MHz spectrum position into valuable
broadband spectrum and 2) establishing our commercial positioning and accelerating adoption through deployment of our principle commercial
business offering, the long-term leasing of our broadband spectrum, to critical infrastructure enterprises nationwide. Our approach and
supporting business initiatives are captured below:
Converting our Nationwide Narrowband 900 MHz Spectrum Position to Broadband. Shifting our spectrum from narrowband to
broadband application nationwide is a foundational component of our two-pronged strategy as it provides the platform for growing our
business. To achieve this conversion, we are focused on obtaining broadband licenses in those counties in which we believe we have near-term
commercial prospects and strategically retuning our spectrum to achieve optimum cost over time.
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Secure Broadband Licenses. In the Report and Order, the FCC chose to make counties the “base unit of measure” for calculating
whether an entity is eligible to hold a broadband license. As a result of this decision and our extensive accumulated spectrum holdings, Anterix
—and only Anterix—is an essential party in every one of the nation’s 3,233 counties. And while we intend to continue to prioritize our
spectrum transactions in areas where we have customer opportunities, we also plan to pursue spectrum transactions opportunistically to optimize
our total investments in our spectrum clearing costs. We have been proactive in this effort and to date have completed, and intend to continue to
pursue, spectrum transactions to support our efforts to satisfy the broadband license eligibility requirements.
Retune Covered Incumbents. In anticipation of the efforts required to secure broadband licenses, we have been proactive in our
retuning efforts in preparation for the broadband licensing process. “Retuning” is the exercise of exchanging, or swapping, broadband segment
channels of Covered Incumbents and moving them to channels outside of the broadband segment. Our dedicated retuning teams are focused on
moving Covered Incumbents from the newly allocated broadband segment of the 900 MHz spectrum band to the segments allocated for
continued narrowband operations. Our team has already established contact with many of the Covered Incumbents throughout the country.
Deploying our Commercial Business Offering. With the Report and Order now issued, paving the way for deployment of broadband
in the 900 MHz band, the second key prong of our strategy is accelerating the adoption of the 900 MHz driven private LTE solution through
targeted deployment of our principle commercial business offering. Based upon our analysis and discussions with potential customers to date,
we generally intend to lease the broadband licenses we secure to customers for longer lease terms (generally 20 years or longer), including builtin pricing escalators and long-term renewal options. In that vein, we will be responsible for the costs of securing the broadband licenses from
the FCC, including the costs of acquiring sufficient spectrum to support broadband use and retuning incumbents to clear the spectrum.
By contrast, we expect that our customers will bear the costs of deploying and operating their private broadband networks,
technologies and solutions. And, beyond our principle commercial business offering, we are also exploring opportunities to offer our
prospective customers additional value-added services to support their network deployment and operation.
Accordingly, our approach to driving this second key prong of our strategy includes: 1) growing our customer pipeline; 2) engaging
Federal and State agencies; 3) developing expanded value-added business offerings; 4) enabling the Band 8 Ecosystem; and 5) continually
evaluating potential opportunities for expanding our verticals.
Continue to Build the Customer Pipeline. Our business development and sales teams are actively working with many of the largest
Investor Owned Utilities (“IOUs”), as well as with municipal and cooperative electric utilities. More specifically, these teams are working in
coordination with representatives from our target customers, LTE infrastructure vendors, end-user device manufacturers and other technology
companies to respond to Requests for Information (“RFIs”), Requests for Proposals (“RFPs”) and requests to support technology trials related to
using our 900 MHz spectrum for broadband services. In addition to IOUs, we have dedicated resources exploring trials and business
relationships with enterprise customers in other vertical segments interested in the capabilities of 900 MHz broadband.
Build Support with Federal and State Agencies. Our targeted critical infrastructure customers are highly regulated by both federal and
state agencies. Electrical utilities, for example, are regulated by federal agencies ranging from the Department of Energy, the Department of
Homeland Security, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the National Institute of Standards and Technologies. We are working with
each of these agencies to educate them about the security, reliability and priority access benefits that private broadband LTE networks,
technologies and solutions can offer utilities. We are also working with a number of state agencies and commissions who regulate electrical
utilities, and who have a strong influence over electric utility buying decisions. Our goal with these state agencies and commissions is to gain
their support, with an eye toward allowing utilities to include the costs of leasing of our spectrum assets and deploying private broadband LTE
networks, technologies and solutions into their respective rate bases. This permits utilities to earn a customary rate of return on those prudent
investments while providing essential services to their ratepayers.
Develop a Roadmap for Expanded Services. Through our day-to-day interactions with prospective utility and critical infrastructure
customers, and our responses and subsequent discussions related to RFIs and RFPs, we have identified additional areas of opportunity to support
our prospective customers in the implementation of private LTE networks. We are performing due diligence to determine how best to meet
these customer needs, including using our internal expertise, collaborating with strategic partners and working with specific service
providers. We are also developing a roadmap for defining a unique set of services we refer to as UtilityNet services. These services result from
the simultaneous adoption of multiple Private LTE networks and may consist of developing shared infrastructure, enhanced cyber-security
applications, regional coordination of distributed generation balancing, facilitating cross-territory transactive services and mobility management
across territories.
Enable the U.S. Band 8 Ecosystem. Our spectrum assets are located within the 3GPP global standard of Band 8 (also known as the EGSM band, or 880 - 915 MHz paired with 925 - 960 MHz). Band 8 has been internationally approved and is currently being utilized with
commercial LTE broadband networks in Asia and Europe. We are taking proactive steps to enable the adoption of 900 MHz Band 8 equipment
and end-user devices in the U.S. We are working with chipmakers and vendors to ensure that customers have timely access to 3GPP standardscompliant Band 8 devices that meet the specifications established in the Report and Order. The
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benefit of working with a global standard is that many existing devices and network components and solutions are already well suited for the
working environment of our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers.
Identify and Evaluate New Opportunities. The wireless communications industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid
regulatory, technological and market changes. A key part of our business strategy is to continually monitor changes in the wireless industry and
to evaluate how these changes could enable us to maximize the value of our spectrum assets. Additionally, although we are initially focusing on
the electric utility industry, we have identified other customer groups, including ports, railroads, water, oil and gas facilities and mining
operations, where we believe there is both customer demand and a good fit for the private broadband networks, technologies, and solutions that
our spectrum assets could support.
Our Broadband Market Opportunity
We have identified utility and critical infrastructure enterprises as the primary customers for our future broadband spectrum
assets. We have identified the electric utility industry as our initial focused customer group. According to data published by Edison Electric
Institute, annual capital spent by the 150 IOUs located in the United States was approximately $120 billion in 2017. We believe that security,
priority access, latency, redundancy, private ownership and control and unique coverage requirements are just some of the reasons utility and
critical infrastructure enterprises would be interested in obtaining rights to deploy the broadband networks, technologies and solutions that can
be enabled through use of our spectrum.
The electric utility industry is undergoing a fundamental transformation. Grid modernization efforts and the drive to reduce carbon
emissions have hindered the ability of utilities to build new large-scale, centralized facilities. Today, power is generated by smaller, more
geographically distributed facilities that can switch from a power producer to a recipient of power generated by a variety of other disparate
sources, including wind and solar installations. Grid architecture must now accommodate end-users that are both generators and consumers,
converting back and forth rapidly and carrying power in both directions, something the existing grid was not originally designed to
handle. Technological advancements have produced sensors and smart devices to enable the new two-way grid and offer operators the ability to
control and run the grid efficiently, safely and reliably. Utilities, however, need wireless communication networks, technologies and solutions
that can move the large volumes of data generated by these sensors and smart devices to their control systems for decision making, analytics,
responsiveness to market demand and emergencies. The legacy communications systems utilized by many utilities cannot handle this new data
load, are inefficient and costly to maintain, as well as, in many cases, their associated equipment is approaching end of life.
Our targeted customers have historically built, maintained and operated their communication networks, including private Land Mobile
Radio (“LMR”) networks and supervisory control and data acquisition (“SCADA”) networks on narrowband frequencies licensed exclusively to
them by the FCC. Based on our discussions, these entities commonly express their desire to retain the positive elements of their aging LMR and
SCADA networks, namely private ownership, tight control and custom features (such as specialized coverage and priority access), while adding
the benefits of broadband and other advanced technologies (such as solving a broader set of use cases, including high-speed data transmission
and video services and economies of scale). However, due to the general unavailability of low band spectrum (i.e., below 1 GHz), these entities
have had limited opportunities to license or acquire the spectrum required to deploy cost-effective broadband or other advanced technologies on
their own.
In contrast to legacy systems, the broadband networks, technologies and solutions that can be utilized with our spectrum assets can
address the wireless communication demands of the modern grid, both now and in the future. Our licensed 900 MHz spectrum offers the
assurance of absolute control over access to and use of that spectrum, allowing our spectrum to be utilized to provide customers with guaranteed
levels of service and the ability to prescribe and enforce purpose-built “rules of the road” for the provision of those services. Our spectrum
assets can also serve as the foundational element to allow our critical infrastructure and enterprise customers to move from LTE to 5G. Recent
FCC decisions have created significant opportunities for blocks of shared, unlicensed spectrum, both below 1 GHz to a limited extent and, in
substantial amounts, above 1 GHz. The addition of unlicensed spectrum, particularly in large swaths that support very high-speed services, can
enable future 5G networks, technologies and solutions. While we intend to build our existing and future business strategies around our 900 MHz
licensed spectrum, the ability of our critical infrastructure and enterprise customers to combine our licensed 900 MHz spectrum with additional
spectrum in one or more unlicensed bands can provide them with an optimal solution, and a path to 5G.
Business Development, Sales and Marketing
We are actively focused on growing our extended business development, sales and marketing teams, which include both external and
internal resources, to help foster our evolving customer relationships in furtherance of sustaining and growing our pipeline. With the issuance of
the Report and Order, our sales and marketing focus will be pursuing spectrum lease arrangements for the broadband licenses we secure from the
FCC. We have identified utilities and other critical infrastructure enterprises as our initial target customers. We intend to enter long-term (e.g.,
20 years, plus renewals) leasing arrangements with these customers. We expect our customers will bear the costs of deploying and operating
their private broadband networks operating on the broadband spectrum we lease to them.
Our business development, sales and marketing organization has three key focus areas, including, (i) direct account-based sales and
marketing efforts to our targeted customers, (ii) regulatory outreach and support and (iii) industry trade organization collaboration. We intend to
enhance these efforts with sales and marketing partnerships with a variety of third parties, such as
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integrators, communication consultants, technology and equipment vendors, with whom we will seek active promotion of our broadband
spectrum assets and their support for it with their products, technologies, solutions and services. Additionally, our marketing team supports our
sales efforts through participation, sponsorships and supporting speaking engagements at major trade events, associations and organizations.
We achieved a significant milestone with the execution of the Letter of Intent with Ameren Corporation (“Ameren”) in April 2020 for a
long-term lease of broadband spectrum to enable Ameren to deploy a private LTE network that will provide critical communications services for
its service territories in Missouri and Illinois. We believe the execution of this agreement, although non-binding, ahead of the FCC rulemaking
is an indication of the importance to our targeted customers of securing sub 1 GHz spectrum (e.g. 900M MHz) which can be a foundation for
supporting their private broadband networks and achieving greater reliability and resiliency of the grid and clean energy programs.
Before signing the Letter of Intent, Ameren successfully completed its pilot of a private LTE network in support of its Smart Energy
Plan demonstrating 14 different use cases leveraging our spectrum under an FCC experimental license. In addition to Ameren, the FCC granted
six additional experimental licenses to an aggregate of 11 utilities, the United Parcel Service and a National Renewable Energy Lab (“NREL”).
Competition
Our competitors include the Tier 1 carriers (Verizon, AT&T, T-Mobile and Sprint), private radio operators and other public and private
companies who supply communication networks, technologies, products and solutions to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure
enterprises. Many of these competitors have a long track record of providing technologies, products and solutions to our targeted customers and
have greater political and regulatory influence than we do. In addition, many of our competitors have more resources, substantially greater
product development and marketing budgets, greater name and brand recognition, a significantly greater base of customers in which to spread
their operating costs and more financial and personnel resources than we do. All of these factors could prevent, delay or increase the costs of
commercializing the broadband licenses we secure to our targeted customers.
In addition, these and other competitors have developed or may develop services, technologies, products and solutions that directly
compete with the broadband networks, technologies, products and solutions that can be deployed with our spectrum assets . If competitors may
offer services, technologies, products and solutions to our targeted customers at prices and terms that make the licensing of our spectrum assets
unattractive, we may be unable to attract customers at prices or on terms that would be favorable, or at all, which could have an adverse effect on
our financial results and prospects.
Further, the FCC and other federal, state and local governmental authorities could adopt new regulations or take actions, including
making additional spectrum available that can be utilized by our targeted customers, which could harm our ability to license our spectrum
assets. For example, the federal government created and funded the First Responder Network Authority, which the federal government
authorized to help accomplish, fund, and oversee the deployment of a dedicated Nationwide Public Safety Broadband Network (“NPSBN”). The
NPSBN may provide an additional source of competition to utilizing our 900 MHz spectrum assets by our targeted utility and critical
infrastructure enterprises.
Transfer of Historical Businesses
Historically, we generated our revenue principally from our pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses. pdvConnect is a mobile
communication and workforce management solution that enables businesses to locate and communicate with their field workers and improve the
documentation of work events and job status. We historically marketed pdvConnect primarily through two Tier 1 carriers in the United
States. In the year ended March 31, 2016, we began offering a commercial push-to-talk (“PTT”) service, which we marketed as TeamConnect,
in seven major metropolitan areas throughout the United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York
and Philadelphia. We developed TeamConnect to address the needs of enterprises that value a tailored PTT solution addressing the management
of their mobile workforce. We primarily offered our TeamConnect service to customers indirectly through third-party sales representatives who
were primarily selected from Motorola’s nationwide dealer network.
In June 2018, we announced our plan to restructure the business to align and focus our business priorities on the spectrum initiatives
aimed at modernizing and realigning the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity, including for the future deployment of broadband
and other advanced technologies and services. In December 2018, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the transfer of our
TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses to help reduce our operating costs and to allow our management team and Company to focus on our
FCC initiatives and future broadband opportunities. Specifically, we entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A
BEEP LLC (“A BEEP”) on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc.
(“Goosetown”) on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31,
2018.
Under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements, we: (i) transferred our TeamConnect customers located in the Atlanta, Chicago,
Dallas, Houston and Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transferred our TeamConnect customers located in the
Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provided A BEEP and Goosetown with access
to our TeamConnect Metro and Campus Systems (the “MotoTRBO Systems”) and (iv) granted A BEEP and Goosetown
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the right to resell access to our MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements for two years. We
also granted Goosetown a license to sell the business applications we developed for our TeamConnect service.
Under these agreements, A BEEP and Goosetown agreed to provide customer care, billing and collection services for their respective
acquired customers. We continued to provide these services through April 1, 2019, to help facilitate the transition of the acquired
customers. Additionally, we are required to maintain and pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate
the MotoTRBO Systems for two years ending on January 2, 2021. As part of our efforts to clear the 900 MHz spectrum for broadband use, A
BEEP and Goosetown are required to migrate the acquired customers off the MotoTRBO Systems by the end of this two year period. In
consideration for the customers and rights we transferred, A BEEP and Goosetown are required to pay us a certain portion of the recurring
revenues they receive from the acquired customers ranging from 20-100% during the terms of the agreements. Additionally, A BEEP is required
to pay us a portion of recurring revenue from customers who utilize A BEEP’s push-to-talk Diga-Talk Plus application service ranging from 1535% for a period of two years. Goosetown is required to pay us 20% of recurring revenues from the TeamConnect applications we licensed to
them for a period of two years. As part of our obligations, we will continue operating the TeamConnect networks in the markets in which
customers are being transferred and trunked facilities in other markets in which we hold FCC licenses.
Under the terms of the MOU, we assigned the intellectual property rights to our TeamConnect and pdvConnect applications to
TeamConnect LLC (the “LLC”), a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest in the
LLC upon the April 30, 2019 execution of the LLC’s Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement. The Goosetown principals
agreed to fund the future operations of the LLC, subject to certain limitations. The LLC assumed our software support and maintenance
obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. The LLC also assumed customer care services related to our pdvConnect
application. We provided transition services to the LLC through April 1, 2019, to facilitate an orderly transition of the customer care services.
We are obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for 24 months ending on January 7, 2021, for the assumption of the Company’s
support obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. We are also obligated to pay the LLC a portion of the billed revenue we
receive from pdvConnect customers for 48 months.
Our Motorola Lease
In 2014, we entered into an agreement with Motorola to lease a portion of our 900 MHz licenses in exchange for an upfront, fully paid
lease fee of $7.5 million. Additionally, Motorola invested $10 million in our subsidiary, PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC, that we
formed to hold our 900 MHz spectrum licenses. Motorola’s ownership interest in our subsidiary is convertible, at the option of either party, into
shares of our common stock at a price equal to $20.00 per share. Motorola is not entitled to any profits, dividends, or other distribution from the
operations of our subsidiary. Under the terms of this lease agreement with Motorola, Motorola can use the leased channels to provide
narrowband services to certain qualified end-users. The end-users can only use the leased channels for their internal communication
purposes. The end-users cannot sublease the channels to any other end-users or any commercial radio system operations or carriers. The lease
agreement limits the total number of channels that Motorola can lease in any market area. The lease agreement provides us with flexibility
regarding the future use and management of our spectrum, including relocation and repurposing policies designed to facilitate any necessary
realignment of frequencies that may be associated with our efforts to assemble contiguous spectrum for broadband uses.
Motorola cannot enter contracts with end-users after December 31, 2020, involving new leases of spectrum from us without our
consent and the payment of an additional fee. The initial lease period for any end-user cannot last more than seven years, and the lease can only
be renewed for up to three years for an aggregate lease period of up to 10 years. In addition, until December 31, 2020, Motorola has the right to
provide the majority of the broadband equipment for any future 900 MHz LTE broadband network we deploy (if any), so long as certain
conditions are satisfied, including that the equipment meets our required sourcing criteria.
Our Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade-secret laws, as well as confidentiality provisions in our contracts,
to protect our intellectual property. We have several trademarks and service marks to protect our current and future corporate name, services
offerings, goodwill and brand. There are currently no claims or litigation regarding these trademarks, patents, copyrights, or service marks. We
also rely on trade secret protection of our intellectual property. We enter into confidentiality agreements with third parties, employees and
consultants when appropriate.
Regulation of Our Business
We hold FCC spectrum licenses in the 900 MHz band throughout the contiguous United States, plus Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto
Rico. The FCC regulates our wireless spectrum holdings, the issuance of broadband licenses in the 900 MHz band in accordance with the
Report and Order, our future leasing or sale of any broadband licenses we secure, and the future construction and operation of wireless networks,
technologies and solutions utilizing our spectrum assets.
Licensing. We are authorized to provide our wireless communication services on specified frequencies within specified geographic
areas and in doing so must comply with the rules, regulations and policies adopted by the FCC. The FCC issues each spectrum license for a
fixed period, typically ten years in the case of the FCC licenses we currently hold and 15 years for any
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broadband licenses in accordance with the Report and Order. Any broadband licenses we secure will also have performance requirements at the
six- and 12-year marks to demonstrate that the broadband spectrum is being used to serve the public interest. While the FCC has generally
renewed licenses held by operating companies like us, the FCC has the authority to both revoke a license for cause and to deny a license renewal
if it determines that license renewal is not in the public interest. Furthermore, we could be subject to fines, forfeitures and other penalties for
failure to comply with FCC regulations, even if any such non-compliance is unintentional. The loss of any licenses, or any related fines or
forfeitures, could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.
The Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and FCC rules and regulations require us to obtain the FCC’s prior approval before
assigning or transferring control of wireless licenses, with limited exceptions. The FCC’s rules and regulations also govern spectrum lease
arrangements for a range of wireless radio service licenses, including the licenses we hold. These same requirements apply to any licenses or
leases we may wish to enter into, transfer, or acquire as part of our broadband initiatives. The FCC may prohibit or impose conditions on any
proposed acquisitions, sales, or other transfers of control of licenses or leases. The FCC engages in a case-by-case review of transactions that
involve the consolidation or sale of spectrum licenses or leases and may apply a spectrum “screen” in examining such transactions. Because an
FCC license is necessary to lawfully provide the wireless services we plan to enable, if the FCC were to disapprove any such request to acquire,
assign, or otherwise transfer a license or lease, our business plans would be adversely affected. Approval from the Federal Trade Commission
and the Department of Justice, as well as state or local regulatory authorities, also may be required if we sell or acquire spectrum.
FCC Regulations. The FCC does not currently regulate rates for services offered by wireless providers. However, we may be subject
to other FCC regulations that impose obligations on wireless providers, such as Federal Universal Service Fund obligations, which require
communications providers to contribute to a fund that supports subsidized communications services to underserved areas and users; rules
governing billing, subscriber privacy and customer proprietary network information; roaming obligations; rules that require wireless service
providers to configure their networks to facilitate electronic surveillance by law enforcement officials; rules governing spam, telemarketing and
truth-in-billing and rules requiring us to offer equipment and services that are accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities, among
others. There are also pending proceedings that may affect spectrum aggregation limits and/or adjustment of the FCC’s case-by-case spectrum
screens; regulation surrounding the deployment of advanced wireless broadband infrastructure; the imposition of text-to-911 capabilities; and the
transition to IP networks, among others. Some of these requirements and pending proceedings (of which the previous examples are not an
exhaustive list) pose technical and operational challenges which we, and the industry as a whole, have not yet developed clear solutions. We are
unable to predict how these pending or future FCC proceedings may affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Our failure
to comply with any applicable FCC regulations could subject us to significant fines or forfeitures.
State and Local Regulation. In addition to FCC regulation, we are subject to certain state regulatory requirements. The
Communications Act of 1934, as amended, preempts state and local regulation of the entry of, or the rates charged by, any wireless
provider. State and local governments, however, are permitted to manage public rights of way and can require fair and reasonable compensation
from wireless providers for use of those rights of way so long as the compensation required is publicly disclosed by the government. The siting
of base stations also remains subject to some degree of control by state and local jurisdiction. States also may impose competitively neutral
requirements that, among other things, are necessary for universal service or to defray the costs of state E911 services programs, to protect the
public safety and welfare and to safeguard the rights of customers.
Tower Siting. Our future customers who deploy broadband networks will be required to comply with various federal, state and local
regulations that govern the siting, lighting and construction of transmitter towers and antennas, including requirements imposed by the FCC and
the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”). Federal rules subject certain tower site locations to extensive zoning, environmental and historic
preservation requirements and mandate consultation with various parties, including State and Tribal Historic Preservation Offices, which can
make it more difficult and expensive to deploy facilities. The FCC antenna structure registration process also imposes public notice
requirements when plans are made for construction of, or modification to, antenna structures that require FAA approval, potentially adding to the
delays and burdens associated with tower siting, including potential challenges from special interest groups. To the extent governmental
agencies continue to impose additional requirements like this on the tower siting process, the time and cost to construct towers could be
negatively impacted. The FCC has, however, imposed a tower siting “shot clock” that requires local authorities to address tower applications
within a specific timeframe, which can assist carriers in more rapid deployment of towers. More recently, the FCC also has adopted rules
intended to accelerate broadband deployment by removing barriers to infrastructure investment, in particular for “small cell” equipment. Those
rules have been challenged by certain municipalities and tribal nations both at the FCC and in court.
Electronic Surveillance. Our clients who deploy broadband networks may be required by law to provide certain surveillance
capabilities to law enforcement agencies. If required, we intend to deliver the requisite surveillance capabilities to law enforcement with respect
to any networks we deploy.
National Security. National security and disaster recovery issues continue to receive attention at the federal, state and local
levels. For example, Congress is expected to again consider cyber security legislation to increase the security and resiliency of the nation’s
digital infrastructure. In 2013, the President issued an executive order directing the Department of Homeland Security and other government
agencies to take steps to improve the security of the nation’s critical infrastructure. The details surrounding the implementation of this order
have not been resolved, however, and we cannot predict the cost or other impacts of such measures.
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Moreover, the FCC continues to examine issues of network resiliency and reliability and may impose additional regulations designed to reduce
the severity and length of disruptions in communications.
Our Employees
As of March 31, 2020, we had 59 employees, 58 of which were full-time employees. We engage consultants and contract workers on
an as-needed basis. We believe the relations with our employees and consultants are good.
Our Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 3 Garret Mountain Plaza, Suite 401, Woodland Park, New Jersey 07424 and 8260
Greensboro Drive, Suite 501, McLean, Virginia. Our main telephone number is (973) 771-0300. We were originally incorporated in California
in 1997 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2014. Our website is www.anterix.com. Our Annual Report, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”) are made available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC on their website located at www.sec.gov. The information on or accessible through our website is
not incorporated into this Annual Report, and you should not consider any information on, or that can be accessed through, our website a part of
this Annual Report.
Glossary of Terms
240 Channels: Equals 6 MHz of 900 MHz spectrum whether the individual 25 kHz channels are scattered throughout the 5x5/10 MHz
900 MHz band or are contained within the contiguous 3x3/6 MHz broadband segment created by the Report and Order.
3x3 or 6 MHz: The broadband segment of the 900 MHz band is authorized for a total of 6 MHz of spectrum, with 3 MHz designated
for uplink transmissions and 3 MHz for downlink transmissions.
5x5 or 10 MHz: The 900 MHz band is authorized for a total of 10 MHz of spectrum, with 5 MHz designated for uplink transmissions
and 5 MHz for downlink transmissions.
600 MHz Auction: The FCC’s 2016 “incentive auction” in which licensees of television broadcast channels were incentivized to
relinquish their spectrum for defined payments so the spectrum could be repurposed for licensed wireless services.
Anti-Windfall Payment: A payment to the U.S. Treasury from a 900 MHz broadband applicant if the applicant relinquishes less than
six MHz (or 244 channels) of spectrum with the amount of the payment based on the per MHz-pop 600 MHz forward auction prices for the
Partial Economic Area in which the county applied for by the broadband applicant is included.
B/ILT: Private land mobile systems for business users.
Channel Size: FCC licenses authorize the use of channels of varying bandwidths. 900 MHz narrowband channels each are authorized
for 25 kHz bandwidth (12.5 kHz each uplink and downlink). The broadband license will be authorized for 6 MHz bandwidth (3 MHz each
uplink and downlink), the equivalent of 240 25 kHz bandwidth channels.
Complex System: A Covered Incumbent’s system that consists of 45 or more functionally integrated sites.
Covered Incumbent: Any 900 MHz site-based licensee in the broadband segment that is required under section 90.621(b) to be
protected by a broadband licensee with a base station at any location within the county, or any 900 MHz geographic-based SMR licensee in the
broadband segment whose license area completely or partially overlaps the county.
Eligibility Certification: A document filed as part of the broadband application that lists the licenses the applicant holds in the 900
MHz band to demonstrate that it holds the licenses for more than 50% of the total licensed 900 MHz spectrum for the relevant county, including
credit for spectrum included in an application to acquire or relocate any covered incumbents filed on or after March 14, 2019 (i.e., the 50%
Licensed Spectrum Test).
FCC Form 601: FCC Application used for Wireless Telecommunications Bureau Radio Service Authorizations such as a 900 MHz
broadband license.
Licensed Channel: Any of the 399 25 kHz narrowband 900 MHz channels for which the FCC has issued a license to an entity. Some
channels in the 900 MHz band remain in the FCC inventory.
Mandatory Retuning: A process by which an eligible broadband applicant can relocate a Covered Incumbent to channels outside the
broadband segment if the replacement channels provide comparable facilities to the Covered Incumbent’s existing system and the broadband
applicant pays all reasonable retuning costs.
MTA: Major Trading Area; service areas based on the Rand McNally 1992 Commercial Atlas & Marketing Guide, that define 900
MHz SMR geographic licenses.
Narrowband Channel: A 900 MHz 25 kHz bandwidth channel.
Railroads: The freight railroads that, through the Association of American Railroads, hold an effectively nationwide license for six
non-contiguous 900 MHz channels, three of which are in the broadband segment.
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Retuning: Modifying a Covered Incumbent’s narrowband system to operate on channels outside the broadband segment established
by the Report and Order.
Swapping: Exchanging narrowband channels outside the broadband segment for the broadband segment channels held by a Covered
Incumbent.
Transition Plan: A document filed as part of the broadband application that demonstrates that the applicant holds or has agreements to
acquire, relocate or protect at least 90% of the licensed channels of Covered Incumbents in the county (i.e., the 90% Broadband Segment Test).
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the
“Annual Report”) and our other reports and filings made with the SEC, in evaluating our business and prospects. If any of the risks discussed
in this Annual Report occur, our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected, in which case the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly. Some statements in this Annual Report, including
statements in the following risk factors, constitute forward-looking statements. Please refer to the section entitled “Cautionary Statement
Concerning Forward-Looking Statements.”
Risks Related to Obtaining Broadband Licenses, the Retuning Process and the Use of Our Spectrum
Our plans to commercialize our 900 MHz spectrum assets depend on our ability to qualify for and obtain broadband licenses from
the FCC in accordance with the requirements of the Report and Order. If we are unable to obtain broadband licenses on favorable terms
and on a timely basis, or at all, our business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects will be materially adversely affected.
Our plans to commercialize our 900 MHz spectrum assets depend on our ability to obtain broadband licenses in accordance with the
requirements of the Report and Order approved by the FCC in May 2020. The Report and Order establishes three general eligibility
requirements to obtain a broadband license, which we refer to herein as (i) the “50% Licensed Spectrum Test,” (ii) the “90% Broadband
Segment Test” and (iii) the “240 Channel Requirement.” We will need to satisfy all eligibility requirements in each county in the United States
for which we desire to obtain a broadband license. Under the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test, we must demonstrate that we hold more than 50%
of the licensed channels in the 900 MHz band in the applicable county. Under the 90% Broadband Segment Test, we must provide the FCC with
a plan demonstrating that we hold, or have agreements with Covered Incumbents for, at least 90% of the licensed channels in the 6 MHz
broadband segment designated by the FCC and within 70 miles of the county boundary. Under the 240 Channel Requirement, we must
surrender 6 MHz of broadband or narrowband spectrum (or 240 channels) in the applicable county to the FCC. If we do not have a sufficient
number of channels to satisfy any of these tests, we will be required to purchase the additional channels from incumbents in privately negotiated
transactions, swap our existing channels with incumbents (including any required retuning of the incumbent radio systems), or effectively
purchase channels not previously licensed by the FCC by making an Anti-Windfall payment. The amount of spectrum we will be required to
purchase and/or swap and the amount of any Anti-Windfall payment will vary in each county based on our existing spectrum holdings in such
county. Our ability to acquire and/or swap the additional spectrum necessary to secure broadband licenses in a desired county on a timely and
cost-effective basis will depend on the incumbents who hold the additional spectrum we need to acquire or swap and their operations that we
may need to retune or replace. Obtaining the required spectrum to qualify for broadband licenses may take longer and be more expensive than
we currently anticipate. In addition, as discussed in more detail below, incumbents may elect not to sell or swap their existing channels on
reasonable terms, or at all, and if we cannot satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test, we will not be able to utilize the mandatory retuning
procedures the FCC established in the Report and Order. If we are unable to obtain broadband licenses on favorable terms and on a timely basis,
or at all, our business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects will be materially adversely affected. In addition, significant costs or delays
beyond what we have anticipated in our business plan will further delay us from commercializing our spectrum assets, and may require us to
seek additional sources of capital and liquidity in order to carry out our business and plans, which could cause significant dilution to our existing
stockholders. See the risk factor entitled “We may not be able to correctly estimate our operating expenses or future revenues, which could lead
to cash shortfalls and require us to secure additional financing sooner than planned.”
The mandatory retuning process established by the FCC in the Report and Order may not allow us to obtain broadband licenses
from incumbents in a timely manner and on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
The Report and Order establishes a market-driven, voluntary exchange process for clearing the channels in the broadband segment on a
county-by-county basis. When we apply for a broadband license, we will need to demonstrate that we satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment
Test. The fact that we will need to account for 90% of the licensed channels in the broadband segment before we can file for a broadband
application, can lead to holdouts by Covered Incumbents. For example, a Covered Incumbent may demand compensation in an amount that is
disproportionate to the cost of relocating its system or any reasonable reflection of the value of its spectrum holdings or may elect not to
negotiate an agreement at all. In the Report and Order, the FCC has established the 90% Broadband Segment Test, which if satisfied, triggers a
mandatory relocation process to help a broadband applicant clear the remaining channels in the broadband segment. There is no assurance,
however, that we can swap or acquire sufficient channels, including by purchasing additional spectrum, swapping spectrum or entering into
protective agreements with Covered Incumbents to satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test on a timely basis and on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. Further, even if we satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test, as part of the mandatory retuning process we will be required to
pay the costs associated with providing Covered Incumbents with comparable facilities and paying relocation costs.
In addition, the FCC has exempted channels from the mandatory relocation process that are being utilized by incumbents operating
Complex Systems. The FCC defines a Complex System as a radio system that has 45 or more functionally integrated sites. The FCC exempted
Complex Systems from the mandatory retuning requirements because retuning these systems could be more complex and disruptive to the
incumbent operators than the systems operated by most other incumbents. Complex Systems are located in some of the largest business and
population centers in the United States. Most are operated by electric utilities, including
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some utilities that actively opposed 900 MHz broadband. This exemption effectively prevents us from obtaining broadband licenses in counties
where these Complex Systems are located (or if a Complex System is being operated within 70 miles of a county boundary for which we are
attempting to obtain a broadband license) without the incumbent’s consent, which could be withheld for any reason, or for no reason. As a
result, the incumbents operating Complex Systems can make demands that are not commercially reasonable (including the commercial terms of
any long-term lease of our spectrum), delay their decision or refuse altogether. Our inability to obtain broadband licenses in counties where
Complex Systems are currently being operated (or are being operated within 70 miles of a county boundary for which we are attempting to
obtain a broadband license) could have a material adverse effect on our operations and business plan, our future prospects and opportunities and
on our ability to develop a profitable business.
The members of the Association of American Railroads may delay or hinder our ability to commercialize broadband licenses.
The AAR holds a nationwide geographic license for six non-contiguous channels in the 900 MHz band, three of which are located
within the broadband segment established by the FCC in the Report and Order. These channels are used by freight railroads for Advanced Train
Control System operations. We recognized from the outset of the 900 MHz proceedings the importance of reaching agreements with the
railroads about their relocation and worked with them throughout the FCC process. The Report and Order acknowledged an agreement reached
between AAR and Anterix. Delays by members of the AAR in clearing their channels in the broadband segment could delay or hinder our
ability to commercialize broadband licenses and the ability of our customers to deploy 3/3 MHz broadband networks in the affected area, which
could have a material adverse effect on our operations and business plan, our future prospects and opportunities and on our ability to develop a
profitable business.
We may not be successful in commercializing our spectrum assets.
We have identified utilities and other critical infrastructure enterprises as our initial target customers. As of the date of this filing, we
have not signed our first binding customer contract with a utility or other critical infrastructure enterprise for the long-term lease of our spectrum
assets. Further, even though the FCC adopted the Report and Order, there is no assurance that we will be successful in our efforts to
commercialize our spectrum assets. For example, utilities or other critical infrastructure enterprises may not elect to lease any broadband
licenses we secure on terms satisfactory to us, on a timely basis, or at all. Similarly, there is no assurance that utilities or other critical
infrastructure customers will retain us for any other value-added engineering or commercial services we offer them. As a result, our prospects
must be considered in light of the uncertainties, risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stages of
implementing a new business plan and pursuing opportunities in highly competitive and rapidly developing markets.
In addition, under our current business plan, we intend to enter long-term leasing or other transfer arrangements for our spectrum assets
with one customer, or a limited number of customers, in each geographic area. We also expect that our customers will bear the costs of
deploying and operating their private broadband networks. As a result, many geographic areas may have only one or a limited number of
potential customers and if we are not successful with this customer or customers, our spectrum may not be utilized and we will not be able to
generate revenues from owning spectrum in that geographic area. In addition, even if we enter a long-term lease or transfer arrangement for a
geographic area, that customer will typically require rights to all spectrum we have in that geographic area. Because of this, we may not have
additional spectrum assets to lease in such geographical area to other potential customers. Further, other than our lease or transfer arrangements,
we will not generate revenue from the operation of the broadband networks or technologies deployed by our customers. As a result, there is
considerable uncertainty as to whether we can generate sufficient revenues to develop a profitable business from leasing or otherwise
transferring our licensed 900 MHz spectrum.
Our ability to successfully commercialize our spectrum assets will also depend on the availability of technology, products and
solutions that can both utilize the broadband licenses we secure and satisfy our customers’ demands. Our spectrum assets are located within the
3GPP global standard of Band 8 (also known as the E-GSM band, or 880 - 915 MHz paired with 925 - 960 MHz). Band 8 has been
internationally approved and is currently being utilized with LTE broadband networks. However, we may be unable to convince chipmakers and
other technology, product and solution manufacturers and vendors to develop the technology, products and solutions required to satisfy our
customers’ various use cases and meet the technical specifications established in the Report and Order. If such technologies, products and
solutions are not available, or are significantly delayed, our customers may decide not to lease any broadband licenses we secure on acceptable
terms, on a timely basis, or at all.
Further, our assessment that we should target utilities and other critical infrastructure entities as customers for our spectrum is based on
our determination that these entities have regulatory and other incentives to install a significant number of new technologies, such as smart
devices and sensors, that will generate an increasing amount of data that cannot be addressed well by their existing communication networks and
systems. Our potential customers, however, are large organizations and a decision to implement private broadband networks, technologies and
solutions is a significant decision and will require significant capital outlays. Any negotiation and contract process with these potential
customers may take longer than we currently expect. In addition, there is no assurance that the governmental agencies that regulate these entities
will allow them to pass the capital costs of implementing broadband networks, technologies and solutions utilizing our spectrum on to their
ratepayers. In addition, although there is broad availability of broadband LTE, there is no assurance that our targeted customers will be able to
utilize existing broadband networks, technologies and solutions with our spectrum without requiring modifications to existing equipment or
engaging in product and/or service development efforts, any of which could result in deployment delays, require them or us to invest in
technology or other development activities or otherwise adversely limit the potential benefits or value of our spectrum assets. If any of these
risks occur, our current plans to
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commercialize our spectrum assets may not be as valuable as we expect or may face significant delays, any of which would adversely affect our
business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects.
The ongoing coronavirus outbreak could adversely impact our business, including our broadband licensing and commercialization
efforts and our financial condition, liquidity and results of operations.
Any outbreak of contagious diseases or other adverse public health developments could have a material adverse effect on our business
operations. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19, the disease caused by the novel coronavirus, a global
pandemic. In an effort to contain and mitigate the spread of COVID-19, many countries, including the United States, have imposed various
unprecedented responses, including government-imposed quarantines, restrictions on travel and business and government operations and other
public health safety measures, resulting in, among other things, business closures and a substantial reduction in economic activity globally.
Our plans to commercialize our 900 MHz spectrum assets to support the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and
solutions depend on our ability to obtain broadband licenses in accordance with the requirements of the Report and Order. Reduced business
operations may prevent us from timely and successfully negotiating and entering into agreements with incumbents and the FCC to acquire and/or
swap the spectrum required to qualify for broadband licenses. The reduced business operations may hinder our efforts to timely and successfully
commercialize any broadband licenses we secure for our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity and results of operations.
As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to affect individuals and businesses around the globe, we will likely experience disruptions that
could severely impact our financial condition, business and/or ability to obtain and commercialize broadband licenses, including:
·

interruption of key business activities due to illness, work from home mandates and/or quarantine of key individuals, including
employees and service providers;

·

delays and difficulties in obtaining broadband licenses in accordance with the requirements of the Report and Order;

·

slower business development and sales efforts due to uncertainty in the business climate of our targeted customers based on their
concerns regarding the impact of COVID-19 or their reduced cash flows and resources to invest in long-term leases of any
broadband licenses we secure;

·

delays in necessary interactions with businesses, the FCC and other federal and state governmental agencies and other important
parties due to limitations in employee resources, travel restrictions, forced furlough of employees or other interruptions in
operations;

·

delays in AAR clearing its operations from its channels in the broadband segment in critical counties;

·

delays and difficulties in meeting performance or build-out requirements to retain and renew each broadband license we obtain;

·

difficulties in raising additional capital that may be needed to execute our long-term business plan due to the slowing economy and
near term and/or long-term negative effects of the pandemic on the financial, banking and capital markets; and

·

inability to correctly estimate our operating expenses or future revenues, which could lead to cash shortfalls and require us to
secure additional financing sooner than planned.

The global outbreak of the COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations
is unknown and will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the ultimate
geographic spread of the disease, the duration of the COVID-19 outbreak, travel restrictions, required social distancing, new information which
may emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and any additional preventative and protective actions that governments, or we,
may direct, which could result in an extended period of continued business disruption, reduced customer, collaborator or supplier traffic and
reduced operations.
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Our initiatives with the federal and state agencies and commissions that regulate electric utilities may not be successful.
Our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers are highly regulated by both federal and state agencies. Electrical utilities, for
example, are regulated by federal agencies including the Department of Energy, the Department of Homeland Security, the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission and the National Institute of Standards and Technologies. We are working with each of these agencies to educate them
about the potential benefits that private broadband LTE networks, technologies and solutions utilizing our spectrum assets can offer utilities. We
are also working with state agencies and commissions who regulate the electrical utilities in their respective states, and who have a strong
influence over electric utility buying decisions in their jurisdictions. Our goal with these state agencies and commissions is to gain their support
for allowing utilities to pass the capital costs of leasing our spectrum assets and deploying private broadband LTE networks, technologies and
solutions to ratepayers, including at a customary rate of return for the electric utility company. We are in the early stages of our initiatives with
these federal and state agencies and commissions. We may not be successful in gaining support from these governmental bodies on a timely
basis, or at all, which could hinder or delay our commercialization efforts with electric utilities and other critical infrastructure entities. If we do
not gain support from these governmental bodies, our targeted critical infrastructure customers may not find it commercially feasible to license
our spectrum assets.
We may not be able to maintain any broadband licenses that we obtain from the FCC.
The FCC issues each spectrum license for a fixed period, typically ten years in the case of the FCC licenses for the narrowband
spectrum we currently hold and 15 years for any broadband licenses we intend to secure in the future. The Report and Order establishes
“performance” or build-out requirements that we will be required to meet to retain and renew any broadband licenses we obtain. Performance
will be measured at the six- and twelve-year anniversaries of each broadband license. A failure to satisfy this requirement could result in the
FCC’s termination of a broadband license or refusal to renew a previously issued broadband license. In addition, under our business plan, we
intend for our customers to be responsible to pay the build-out and operating costs of such broadband systems. Such build-out requirements
could impose a significant expense and could cause potential customers to decide not to license broadband licenses from us, or to seek
alternatives from other providers.
Government regulations or actions taken by governmental bodies could adversely affect our business prospects, liquidity and results
of operations.
The licensing and sale of spectrum assets, as well as the deployment and operation of wireless networks and technologies, are regulated
by the FCC and, depending on the jurisdiction, by state and local regulatory agencies. In particular, the FCC imposes significant regulation on
licensees of wireless spectrum with respect to how FCC licenses may be transferred or sold. The FCC also regulates how the spectrum is used
by licensees, the nature of the services that licensees may offer and how the services may be offered, including resolution of issues of
interference between spectrum bands. Failure to comply with FCC requirements applicable to a given licensee could result in revocation or nonrenewal of the license, depending on the nature and severity of the non-compliance. If we, or any of the future licensees of our spectrum assets,
fail to comply with applicable FCC regulations, we may be subject to sanctions or lose our FCC licenses, which would have a material adverse
effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects. The Report and Order also states that the FCC will evaluate the success of
the realignment process in 2021 and will consider whether it should adopt additional mechanisms to facilitate broadband
deployment. Additionally, although the Report and Order was adopted by a unanimous vote of the FCC Commissioners, like all FCC actions the
approval of the Report and Order is subject to an appeal process through the filing of a Petition for Reconsideration within 30 days of publication
of the Report and Order in the Federal Register.
In addition, the FCC and other federal, state and local governmental authorities could adopt new regulations or take actions, including
imposing taxes or fees on our business that could have a materially adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects.
Further, the FCC or Congress may make additional spectrum available for communications services, which may result in the introduction of
additional competitive entrants to the already crowded wireless communications marketplace in which we compete. For example, the federal
government created and funded the First Responder Network Authority which the federal government authorized to help accomplish, fund and
oversee the deployment of a dedicated Nationwide Public Safety Broadband Network (“NPSBN”). The NPSBN may provide an additional
source of competition to utilizing our 900 MHz spectrum assets by our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers.
The value of our spectrum assets may fluctuate significantly based on supply and demand, as well as technical and regulatory
changes.
The FCC spectrum licenses we hold are our most valuable asset. The value of our spectrum, however, may fluctuate based on various
factors, including, among others:
·

the cost and time required to comply with the FCC’s requirements to obtain broadband licenses in the 900 MHz band, including
purchasing additional spectrum and retuning and relocating incumbents;

·

our ability to enter long-term leases or transfer arrangements with our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers on a
timely basis and on commercially reasonable terms;

·

potential uses of our spectrum based on the Report and Order and available technology;

·

the market availability of, and demand for, broadband spectrum;
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·

the demand for private broadband networks, technologies and solutions by our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise
customers; and

·

regulatory changes by the FCC to make additional spectrum available or to promote more flexible uses of existing spectrum in
other bands.

Similarly, the price of any additional spectrum we desire to purchase to enable us to qualify for broadband licenses or our future
business plans will also fluctuate based on similar factors. Any decline in the value of our spectrum or increases in the cost of the spectrum we
acquire could have an adverse effect on our market value and our business and operating results.
Risks Related to Our Business
We may not be able to correctly estimate our operating expenses or future revenues, which could lead to cash shortfalls, and require
us to secure additional financing sooner than planned.
We have dedicated significant resources to support and pursue the FCC’s approval of the Report and Order and to promote the benefits
of deploying broadband systems to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers. We will need to continue to expend substantial
resources for the foreseeable future to qualify for and obtain broadband licenses, including the costs related to retuning incumbent systems,
purchasing additional spectrum from incumbents and/or making Anti-Windfall payments to the U.S. Treasury, and to commercialize our
spectrum assets. We believe our existing cash will be sufficient to fund our planned operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for
at least the next 12 months.
Our budgeted expense levels are based in part on our expectations and assumptions regarding the timing and costs to qualify for and
obtain broadband licenses and the demand by our targeted customers to utilize our spectrum assets to deploy broadband networks, technologies
and solutions. However, we may not correctly predict the amount or timing of our future revenues and our operating expenses, which may
fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and may be materially different
than our announced plans and expectations. These factors include:
·

the cost and time required to obtain broadband licenses, including the costs to retune and clear the 900 MHz band and to acquire
additional spectrum from incumbents and/or to make Anti-Windfall payments;

·

our ability to qualify for and utilize the mandatory retuning process established by the Report and Order;

·

our ability to negotiate agreements with the operators of Complex Systems;

·

the cost and time to promote, market and commercialize our spectrum assets, including the long sales cycle required to enter longterm lease arrangements with our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers;

·

the commercial terms, including the length of the lease and the timing of payments, in our future commercial arrangements with
our targeted customers; and

·

the costs associated with increasing the size of our commercial and spectrum acquisition and retuning organizations, including the
costs to attract and retain personnel with the skills required to support our business plans.

In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise that we currently do not anticipate. Further, other unanticipated events may occur that
reduce the amounts and delay the timing of our future revenues, including the potential impacts of COVID-19. We may not be able to adjust our
operations in a timely manner to compensate for any shortfall in our revenues, delays in obtaining broadband licenses, delays in entering longterm leases for our spectrum or increases in the expenses required to secure broadband licenses and implement our commercialization and
business plans. As a result, a significant shortfall in our planned revenues, a significant delay in obtaining broadband licenses and entering into
long-term leases for our spectrum assets or significant increases in our planned expenses could have an immediate and material adverse effect on
our business, liquidity, results of operations and prospects. In such case, we may be required to issue additional equity or debt securities or enter
into other commercial arrangements sooner than anticipated to secure the additional financial resources to support our future operations and the
implementation of our business plans. Such financing may result in dilution to stockholders, imposition of debt covenants and repayment
obligations, or other restrictions that may adversely affect our business, prospects and results of operations. In addition, we may seek additional
capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future
operating plans.
We have no operating history with our proposed business plan, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and future
financial results and our business activities, strategic approaches and plans may not be successful.
Although we were incorporated in 1997, our business is now reliant on our ability to secure broadband licenses pursuant to the Report
and Order approved by the FCC in May 2020 and to commercialize our spectrum assets to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure
customers. There is no assurance that we will be able to secure broadband licenses on a timely basis and on commercially available terms, or at
all. Further, we have not signed our first binding customer contract with an electric utility or other critical infrastructure enterprise for the longterm lease of our spectrum asset. As a result, the ability to forecast our future operating results is limited and subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including our ability to accurately forecast and estimate our future revenues and the expenses and time required to obtain
broadband licenses and pursue our commercialization plans. We have encountered, and expect to continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties
frequently experienced by new businesses in highly competitive, technical and rapidly changing markets. If our assumptions regarding these
risks and uncertainties are incorrect, or if
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there are adverse changes in our commercialization plans or opportunities or general economic conditions, or if we do not manage or address
these risks and uncertainties successfully, our results of operations could differ materially and adversely from our expectations.
As a new and unproven business, any future success will depend, in large part, on our ability to, among other things:
·

comply with the requirements and restrictions the FCC has established in the Report and Order to qualify for and obtain broadband
licenses in key geographic areas on a timely and cost-effective basis;

·

successfully commercialize our spectrum assets to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers on favorable terms, on a
timely basis, or at all;

·

manage any ongoing costs, obligations and liabilities related to the transfer of our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses;

·

compete against other wireless companies, including the Tier 1 carriers, manufacturers and vendors who have significantly greater
resources and pricing flexibility, long-term relationships with our targeted customers and greater political and regulatory influence;

·

successfully convince chipmakers and other technology, product and solution manufacturers and vendors to develop the
technology, products and solutions required to satisfy our customers’ various use cases and meet the technical specifications
established in the Report and Order; and

·

successfully manage and grow our internal business, regulatory, technical and commercial operations in an efficient and costeffective manner.

Any failure to achieve one or more of these objectives could adversely affect our business, our results of operations and our financial
condition.
Many of the third parties who offer spectrum and communication technologies, products and solutions to our targeted customers
have existing long-term relationships with these targeted customers and have significantly more resources and greater political and
regulatory influence than we do, and we may not be able to successfully compete with these third parties.
Our competitors include the Tier 1 carriers (Verizon, AT&T, T-Mobile and Sprint), private radio operators and other public and private
companies who supply communication networks, technologies, products and solutions to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure
entities. Many of these competitors have significantly more resources, a longer track record of providing technologies, products and solutions to
our targeted customers and greater political and regulatory influence than we do, all of which could prevent, delay or increase the costs of
commercializing the broadband licenses we secure to our targeted customers. In addition, under our business plan, our targeted customers will
be required to enter a long-term lease for our broadband spectrum and bear the cost of installing and operating the broadband networks,
technologies and solutions utilizing our licensed spectrum, thereby requiring the replacement of some or all of their existing communication
systems. Given these significant capital requirements, there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully commercialize our spectrum
assets, especially in light of the competitive environment in which we operate and the wide variety of technologies, products and solutions
offered by our competitors. Further, in the process of pursuing broadband licenses, we may be required to make significant concessions or
contractual commitments, purchase additional spectrum or replacement communication systems or limit the use of our spectrum assets or restrict
our pursuit of business opportunities to address the concerns expressed by incumbents and other interested parties.
Some of our competitors, including the Tier 1 carriers, have significantly greater pricing flexibility, have taken steps and may decide to
compete against us more aggressively. These and other competitors have developed or may develop technologies that directly compete with our
solutions. If competitors offer services, technologies and solutions to our targeted customers at prices and terms that make the licensing of our
spectrum assets unattractive, our ability to license our spectrum assets could be impaired. As a result, we may be unable to attract customers at
prices or on terms that would be favorable, or at all, which could have an adverse effect on the growth of our revenues. In addition, we may not
be able to fund or invest in certain areas of our business to the same degree as our competitors. Many have substantially greater product
development and marketing budgets and other financial and personnel resources than we do. Many also have greater name and brand
recognition and a larger base of customers than we have. Competition could increase our selling and marketing expenses and related customer
acquisition costs. We may not have the financial resources, technical expertise or marketing and support capabilities to compete successfully.
If we are unable to attract new customers, our results of operations and our business will be adversely affected.
As of the date of this report, we have not recognized revenues from our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers. Our
targeted customers are large, heavily-regulated enterprises and our business plan requires these customers to commit to long-term leases of our
spectrum. As a result, sales to our targeted customers will require significant time and costly sales efforts. These factors will also require us to
increase the size, resources and costs of our business development, sales and marketing organization. In addition, numerous other factors, many
of which are out of our control, may now or in the future impact our ability to acquire new customers, including not gaining support from
governmental bodies that regulate our customers, potential customers’ commitments to other providers, real or perceived costs of licensing our
spectrum assets, our failure to expand, retain and motivate our sales and marketing personnel, our failure to develop or expand relationships with
our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers, negative media, industry or financial analyst commentary regarding us or our
solutions, litigation and deteriorating general
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economic conditions. Any of these factors could impact our ability to attract new customers to license our spectrum assets. As a result of these
and other factors, we may be unable to attract enough customers to support our operating costs, which would harm our business.
We have had net losses each year since our inception and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We have incurred net losses each year since our inception and we expect to continue to incur significant net losses in the future for a
number of reasons, including without limitation, the costs to obtain broadband licenses, including the costs to clear the 900 MHz band, the costs
to promote and commercialize our spectrum assets to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers and the costs associated with the
transfer of our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses. Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen operating expenses, difficulties,
complications, delays and other unknown factors that may result in significant delays in our business plans, levels of revenue below our current
expectations, or losses or expenses that exceed our current expectations. If our losses or expenses exceed our expectations or our revenue
assumptions are not met in future periods, we may never achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income, if any, may be subject to certain limitations.
As of March 31, 2020, we had approximately $125.5 million of federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards, expiring in various
amounts from 2020 through 2038, to offset future taxable income and the remaining $86.6 million of which can be carried forward indefinitely
but limited to 80% of future taxable income when used. In the United States, utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject
to a substantial annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and similar state provisions
due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. The NOL carryforwards and certain other
tax attributes of ours may also be subject to limitations as a result of ownership changes. If we were to lose the benefits of these loss
carryforwards, our future earnings and cash resources would be materially and adversely affected. We have incurred net losses since our
inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future; thus, we do not know whether or when we
will generate the U.S. federal taxable income necessary to utilize our NOLs.
The transfer of our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses and our related restructuring plans may result in higher costs and
lower revenues than expected and cause us not to achieve the expected long-term operational benefits.
In December 2018, our Board approved the transfer of our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses to help reduce our operating costs
and to allow our management team and company to focus on our FCC initiatives and future broadband opportunities. Specifically, we entered
into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A BEEP on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing
Agreement with Goosetown on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a MOU with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. Under the A BEEP
and Goosetown Agreements, we agreed to: (i) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, Houston and
Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and
New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with access to our MotoTRBO Systems and (iv) grant A
BEEP and Goosetown the right to resell access to our MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements
for a two-year period. We also granted Goosetown a license to sell the business applications we developed for our TeamConnect service.
We retained a number of significant obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown agreements related to the TeamConnect and
pdvConnect businesses. For example, we are obligated to continue operating the TeamConnect networks in the seven launched markets
through January 2, 2021. We are also required to continue to pay the cell tower leases for the TeamConnect networks we deployed for the
balance of the lease terms. We also retained customer billing and collection responsibility for the pdvConnect business. In addition, if A BEEP,
Goosetown or the principals of Goosetown do not comply with their contractual obligations or otherwise fail to adequately provide service to the
transferred customers, we may recognize less revenue and incur more costs from these arrangements than anticipated, including potential
litigation or damage claims from the transferred customers. In such case, the transfer of our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses and our
related restructuring plans may result in higher costs and lower revenues than expected and cause us not to achieve the expected long-term
operational benefits. Further, following the transfer of the pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses, our prospects and future results are reliant
on the success of our efforts to secure broadband licenses and plans to commercialize our spectrum assets.
Our reputation and business may be harmed, and we may be subject to legal claims if there is loss, disclosure, or misappropriation
of, or access to, our, or our customers’, information.
We make extensive use of online services and centralized data processing, including through third-party service providers. The secure
maintenance and transmission of customer information is an important element of our operations. Our information technology and other
systems, and those of our service providers or contract partners (including A BEEP, Goosetown and TeamConnect LLC), that maintain and
transmit customer information, including location or personal information, may be compromised by a malicious third-party penetration of our
network security, or that of our third-party service providers or contract partners, or impacted by unauthorized intentional or inadvertent actions
or inactions by our employees, or by the employees of our third-party service providers or contract partners. Cyber-attacks, which include the
use of malware, computer viruses and other means of disruption or unauthorized access, have increased in frequency, scope and potential harm
in recent years. While, to date, we have
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not been subject to cyber-attacks or other cyber incidents which, individually or in the aggregate, have been material to our operations or
financial condition, the preventive actions we and our third-party service providers and contract partners take to reduce the risk of cyber
incidents and protect information technology resources and networks may be insufficient to repel a major cyber-attack in the future. As a result,
our customers’ information may be lost, disclosed, accessed, used, corrupted, destroyed or taken without the customers’ consent. Any
significant compromise of our data or network security, failure to prevent or mitigate the loss of customer information and delays in detecting
any such compromise or loss could disrupt our operations, impact our reputation and subject us to additional costs and liabilities, including
litigation, which could produce material and adverse effects on our business and results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure
We may change our operations and business strategies without stockholder consent.
Our executive management team, with oversight from our Board, establishes our operational plans, our commercialization plans and
our business strategies. Our Board and executive management team may make changes to or approve transactions that deviate from our current
operations and strategies without a vote of, or prior notice to, our stockholders. This authority to change our operations, commercialization plans
and business strategies could result in us conducting operational matters, making investments, pursuing spectrum opportunities, or implementing
business or growth strategies in a manner different than those that we are currently pursuing. Under any of these circumstances, we may expose
ourselves to different and more significant risks, decrease our revenues or increase our expenses and financial requirements, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
We depend on our executive officers and key personnel.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of our executive officers and key personnel, who have unique
experience and expertise in retuning and clearing spectrum to obtain FCC licenses. Although we have adopted a severance plan for our
executive officers, we do not otherwise have long-term employment agreements with any of our executive officers or key personnel. There is no
guarantee that these individuals will remain employed with us. In addition, we have not obtained and do not expect to obtain key man life
insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of any of our executive officers or key personnel. If any of
our executive officers or key personnel were to cease employment with us, our operating results and the implementation of our commercial and
business terms could suffer. Further, the process of attracting and retaining suitable replacements for our executive officers and key personnel
would result in transition costs and would divert the attention of other members of our senior management team from our existing
operations. As a result, the loss of services from our executive officers or key personnel or a limitation in their availability could materially and
adversely impact our business, prospects and results of operations. Further, such a loss could be negatively perceived in the capital markets.
We will need to continue to expand our organization and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could
disrupt our operations.
As we pursue broadband licenses and implement our commercialization plans, we expect to need additional managerial, operational,
sales, marketing, financial, legal and other resources. Our management may need to divert its attention away from its day-to-day activities and
devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our
operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and
reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial
resources from other projects, such as deploying broadband systems to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers. If our
management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected or budgeted, our ability to generate
and/or grow revenue could be reduced and we may not be able to implement our currently anticipated business strategy. Our future financial
performance and our ability to commercialize our spectrum assets and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively
manage any future growth. Failure to manage this growth could disrupt our business operations and negatively impact our ability to achieve
success.
If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately determine our
financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial results, which would materially and
adversely affect our value and our ability to raise any required capital in the future.
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. We discovered in the
past and may discover in the future areas of our internal controls that need improvement or additional documentation. For example, in
connection with preparing our financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, we determined that we incorrectly interpreted the
effective date of a change in the accounting treatment of our net operating losses (“NOLs”) in accordance with the new tax law provisions in the
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. This error was the result of an inadequate design of controls pertaining to our review and analysis of changing
tax legislation, which represented a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls. As a result, we
filed restated financial statements for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2017 and for the year ended March 31, 2018. In addition, in
preparing our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019, we determined that we had improper segregation of duties and
other design gaps caused by user access deficiencies within the design of our information technology controls that support our financial reporting
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processes, and that this deficiency represented a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. As of March 31, 2020, we
had remediated both of these material weaknesses. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in implementing or maintaining effective
internal controls for all financial periods. As we grow our business, our internal controls will become more complex, and we will require
significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls remain effective. The existence of any material weakness or significant deficiency in
the future may require management to devote significant time and incur significant expense to remediate any such material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies and management may not be able to remediate any such material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in a timely
manner. In addition, the existence of any material weakness in our internal controls could also result in errors in our financial statements that
could require us to restate our financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and cause stockholders to lose confidence in
our reported financial information, all of which could materially and adversely affect our value and our ability to raise any required capital in the
future.
Changes in accounting rules, assumptions and/or judgments could materially and adversely affect us.
Accounting rules and interpretations for certain aspects of our operations are highly complex and involve significant assumptions and
judgments. Our reported financial statements have been and will continue to be based on our assumptions and judgments, and any changes in
these assumptions or judgments could have a material impact on our results of operations and the other information contained in our financial
statements. The complexities of these assumptions and judgments could also lead to a delay in the preparation and dissemination of our
financial statements or could subject our financial statements to restatement if our independent auditors, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) or we determine such assumptions or judgments must be changed. Furthermore, changes in accounting rules and
interpretations could significantly impact our financial statements. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised standard
retroactively, resulting in restating prior period financial statements. Any of these circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our
reported financial condition and results of operations.
We have a concentration of risk related to the pdvConnect accounts receivable from a third-party carrier and failure to fully collect
outstanding balances from this carrier may adversely affect our results of operations.
We historically offered pdvConnect to customers indirectly through two domestic Tier 1 carriers. As of March 31, 2020, we had
accounts receivable balances owed to us by one domestic Tier 1 carrier representing approximately 39% of our accounts receivable
balances. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the credit risk, historical trends and other information, as well as for any
specific instances we become aware of that may preclude us from reasonably assuring collection on outstanding balances. Determining the
allowance for doubtful accounts is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates. A determination that requires a
change in our estimates for the accounts receivable from this carrier, or a failure by this carrier to pay a significant portion of its outstanding
accounts receivable balances, could have a negative impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We have a limited trading history and there is no assurance that a robust market in our common stock will develop or be sustained.
Since our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market in 2015, we have had limited daily trading volume. We cannot
assure you that a more active or liquid trading market for our common stock will develop, or will be sustained if it does develop, either of which
could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock, our ability to raise capital in the future and the ability of
stockholders to sell their shares at the volume, prices and times desired. In addition, the risks and uncertainties related to our ability to obtain
broadband licenses and our proposed business strategies makes it difficult to evaluate our business, our prospects and the valuation of our
Company, which limits the liquidity and volume of our common stock and may have a material adverse effect on the market price of our
common stock.
Our common stock prices may be volatile, which could cause the value of our common stock to decline.
The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. Some of the factors that could
negatively affect or result in fluctuations in the market price of our common stock include:
·

the timing and costs of securing broadband licenses;

·

our ability to enter into contracts with our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers on favorable terms, or at all;

·

market reaction to any changes in our business plans or strategies;

·

any unexpected costs or liabilities associated with the transfer of the TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses;

·

additions or departures of any of our executive officers or key personnel;

·

actions by our stockholders;

·

speculation in the press or investment community;

·

general market, economic and political conditions, including an economic slowdown or dislocation in the global credit markets;

·

our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;
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·

changes in accounting principles, judgments or assumptions; and

·

passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry.

Concentration of ownership will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.
Based on our review of publicly available filings as of May 15, 2020, funds affiliated with Owl Creek Asset Management (“Owl
Creek”) beneficially owned approximately 30.5% and the other holders of our common stock who have made filings with the SEC beneficially
own, in the aggregate, a total of approximately 26% of our outstanding shares of common stock, and together with Owl Creek, approximately
56.5% of our outstanding shares of common stock. Specifically, based on publicly available filings as of May 15, 2020: funds affiliated with
Pacific Investment Company owned approximately 7.9% of our outstanding common stock; funds affiliated with Lomas Capital Management
LLC owned approximately 7.8% of our outstanding common stock; funds affiliated with American Financial Group Inc. owned approximately
5.2% of our outstanding common stock and funds affiliated with TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc. owned approximately 5.1% of our
outstanding common stock. Although we are not aware of any voting arrangements between these stockholders, our significant stockholders can
determine (if acting together) or significantly influence (if acting as a group of two or more): (i) the outcome of any corporate actions submitted
by our Board for approval by our stockholders and (ii) any proposals or director nominees submitted by a stockholder. Further, they could place
significant pressure on our Board to pursue corporate actions, director candidates and business opportunities they identify. For example, we are
engaged in cooperative discussions with Owl Creek regarding Owl Creek’s interest in nominating an individual to our Board. In addition, in its
Schedule 13D/A filed with the SEC on May 5, 2020, Owl Creek reported that it expects to continue to engage in cooperative discussions with
our management and Board concerning ways to work together to achieve our strategic objectives. Owl Creek and our other significant
stockholders could effectively block a proposed sale of the company, even if recommended by our Board. Alternatively, these stockholders
could place pressure on our Board to pursue a sale of the company or its assets. As a result of this concentration of ownership, our other
stockholders may have no effective voice in our corporate actions or the operations of our business, which may adversely affect the market price
of our common stock.
We are a “smaller reporting company” and may elect to comply with reduced public company reporting requirements applicable to
smaller reporting companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are a “smaller reporting company” (as defined under Section 12-b2 of the Exchange Act) meaning that we are not an investment
company, an asset-backed issuer or a majority-owned subsidiary of a parent company and had either (i) a public float of less than $250 million
as of the last business day of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter or (ii) if the public float was less than $700 million, had annual
revenues of less than $100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year. Smaller reporting companies are permitted to provide
simplified executive compensation disclosure in their filings; certain smaller reporting company are exempt from the provisions of Section
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) requiring that independent registered public accounting firms provide an attestation
report on the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting; and they have certain other decreased disclosure obligations in their SEC
filings, including, among other things, only being required to provide two years of audited financial statements in annual reports. For as long as
we continue to be a smaller reporting company, we expect that we will take advantage of the reduced disclosure obligations available to us as a
result of those respective classifications. Decreased disclosure in our SEC filings as a result of our having availed ourselves of scaled disclosure
may make it harder for investors to analyze our results of operations and financial prospects. If investors find our common stock less attractive
as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure we may make, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our
stock price may be more volatile.
If securities or industry analysts cease publishing, research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports, about us, our
business, our market or our prospects, or if they change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced, in part, by the research and reports that industry or financial research
analysts publish about us, our business, our market or our prospects. We do not have any control over these analysts. If securities or industry
analysts who provide coverage, or who initiate coverage in the future, downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, our market or our prospects, our stock price will likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or
fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and any trading volume to
decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain our existing cash and our future earnings, if any, to finance the development and expansion of our
business, securing broadband licenses and pursuing our commercialization of broadband licenses. Therefore, we do not intend to pay cash
dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board and
will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in any financing instruments and such
other factors as our Board deems relevant in its discretion. Accordingly, you may need to sell your shares of our common stock to realize a
return on your investment, and you may not be able to sell your shares at or above the price you paid for them.
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Future sales of our common stock, or preferred stock, or of other securities convertible into our common stock or preferred stock,
could cause the market value of our common stock to decline and could result in dilution of your shares.
Our Board is authorized, without stockholder approval, to permit us to issue additional shares of common stock or to raise capital
through the creation and issuance of preferred stock, other debt securities convertible into common stock or preferred stock, options, warrants
and other rights, on terms and for consideration as our Board in its sole discretion may determine. In April 2020, we filed a shelf registration
statement (the “Shelf Registration Statement”) on Form S-3 with the SEC that was declared effective by the SEC on April 20, 2020, which
permits us to offer up to $150 million of common stock, preferred stock and warrants in one or more offerings and in any combination, including
in units from time to time. In April 2020, we entered into an Amended and Restated Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement and an
Amended and Restated Sales Agreement (collectively, the “Sales Agreements”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR, Inc.,
respectively (collectively, the “Agents”), and registered the sale of up to an aggregate of $50,000,000 in shares of our common stock in at-themarket sales transactions pursuant to the Sales Agreements under the Shelf Registration Statement. Our Sales Agreement is intended to provide
us with additional flexibility to access the capital markets by selling registered shares under the Shelf Registration Statement. In addition, we
have filed registration statements on Form S-8 to register the total number of shares of our common stock that may be issued under our 2014
Stock Plan, including the equity awards issued to our executive officers and directors. As of May 15, 2020, there are outstanding options to
purchase 1,849,913 shares of our common stock and restricted stock unit agreements for 606,810 shares of our common stock and 1,053,832
shares remaining available for issuance under our 2014 Stock Plan, all of which are registered for sale on currently effective Forms S-8.
Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, including sales by our officers, directors or 5% and greater stockholders, or of
preferred stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decrease significantly. We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales
of our common stock, or the availability of our common stock for future sales, on the value of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts
of our common stock by any one or more of our large stockholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.
Future offerings of debt securities or preferred stock, which would rank senior to our common stock in the event of our bankruptcy
or liquidation, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt securities or otherwise incurring debt. In
the event of our bankruptcy or liquidation, holders of our debt securities may be entitled to receive distributions of our available assets prior to
the holders of our common stock. In addition, we may offer preferred stock that provides holders with a preference on liquidating distributions
or a preference on dividend payments or both or that could otherwise limit our ability to pay dividends or make liquidating distributions to the
holders of our common stock. Although we have no present plans to do so, our decision to issue debt securities or to issue preferred stock in any
future offerings or otherwise incur debt may depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control. As a result, we cannot predict or
estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings, and investors in our common stock bear the risk of our future offerings reducing
the market price of our common stock and/or diluting their ownership interest in us.
Certain anti-takeover defenses and applicable law may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us.
Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended (the “amended and restated certificate of
incorporation”) and amended and restated bylaws, as amended (the “amended and restated bylaws”), could discourage, delay, or prevent a
merger, acquisition, or other change of control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise
receive a premium for your shares. These provisions also could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for our
common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. These provisions, among other things:
·

allow the authorized number of directors to be changed only by resolution of our Board;

·

authorize our Board to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock, the rights of which will be determined at the discretion
of the Board and that, if issued, could operate as a “poison pill” to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to
prevent an acquisition that our Board does not approve;

·

establish advance notice requirements for stockholder nominations to our Board or for stockholder proposals that can be acted on
at stockholder meetings; and

·

limit who may call a stockholders meeting.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). In general, Section 203 of the
DGCL prevents an “interested stockholder” (as defined in the DGCL) from engaging in a “business combination” (as defined in the DGCL) with
us for three years following the date that person becomes an interested stockholder unless one or more of the following occurs:
·

Before that person became an interested stockholder, our Board approved the transaction in which the interested stockholder
became an interested stockholder or approved the business combination;

·

Upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of
determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the
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interested stockholder) stock held by directors who are also officers of our Company and by employee stock plans that do not
provide employees with the right to determine confidentially whether shares held under the plan will be tendered in a tender or
exchange offer; or
·

Following the transaction in which that person became an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by our
Board and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding
voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder.

The DGCL generally defines “interested stockholder” as any person who, together with affiliates and associates, is the owner of 15% or
more of our outstanding voting stock or is our affiliate or associate and was the owner of 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock at any
time within the three-year period immediately before the date of determination. As a result, our election to be subject to Section 203 of the
DGCL could limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us.
Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims
against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors
and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our amended
and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:
·

we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our
request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if
such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful;

·

we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by
applicable law;

·

we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except
that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled
to indemnification;

·

we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated
by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our Board or brought to
enforce a right to indemnification;

·

the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification
agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

·

we may not retroactively amend our bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees
and agents.

As a result, claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party
claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We maintain offices in Woodland Park, New Jersey, and McLean, Virginia. The lease for our corporate headquarters at 3 Garret
Mountain Plaza, Suite 401, Woodland Park, New Jersey, which was renewed in February 2017 for an additional 10 years, is for 19,276 square
feet of office space. We have the right of first offer for adjacent space if it becomes available. In February 2019, we entered into a lease
agreement for our second office space located at 8260 Greensboro Drive, Suite 501, McLean, Virginia for 5.5 years which commenced on April
15, 2019. The leased office facility includes approximately 5,365 square feet.
We do not own any real property.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND OTHER MATTERS
We are not involved in any material legal proceedings or other legal matters at this time. However, from time to time, we may be
involved in litigation that arises from the ordinary operations of business, such as contractual or employment disputes or other general actions.
See Notes 10 and 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within this Annual Report for a further discussion of
potential commitments and contingencies related to legal proceedings.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
On February 3, 2015, shares of our common stock became listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “PDVW.”
Effective June 17, 2019, we changed our ticker symbol on the Nasdaq Capital Market to “ATEX” and subsequently changed our name to
Anterix Inc.
As of May 15, 2020, we had 138 record holders of our common stock. The number of beneficial owners of our common stock is greater
than the number of record holders because a portion of our common stock is held of record through brokerage firms in “street name.”
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not currently anticipate declaring or paying cash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the development
and expansion of our business. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board and will depend on our financial
condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in any financing instruments and such other factors as our Board
deems relevant in its sole discretion. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to our Common Stock –We do not intend to pay dividends on our
common stock for the foreseeable future”.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
We award stock option and restricted stock units to our employees meeting certain eligibility requirements under plans approved by our
stockholders in 2010 and 2014, referred to as the “2010 Stock Plan” and “2014 Stock Plan”, respectively. The following table summarizes
information about our equity compensation plans as of March 31, 2020:

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Stock Options (1)

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security holders

1,889,663

Weighted-Average Exercise Price
of Outstanding Stock Options (1)

$

—

Number of Shares Remaining
Available for Future Issuance
Under Equity Compensation
Plans

24.58
—

1,187,260 (2)
—

(1) Does not take into account outstanding restricted stock units.
(2) Pursuant to the terms of the 2014 Stock Plan, the number of shares of our common stock authorized under the 2014 Stock Plan
automatically increases annually on each January 1 and through January 1, 2024 by an amount equal to the smaller of 5% of the number of
shares of our common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or a lesser amount determined by our
Board. Effective January 1, 2020, the number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under the 2014 stock plan increased by
342,762 shares as approved by our Board, which is the amount equal to 2% of the number of shares of our common stock issued and
outstanding on December 31, 2019.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
We did not sell any equity securities not registered under the Securities Act during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020.
On May 18, 2015, we completed a public offering of our common stock in which we raised net proceeds of approximately
$64.8 million. We registered the shares of common stock issued in the offering on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-203681),
which the SEC declared effective on May 12, 2015. Through March 31, 2020, we have used approximately $59.0 million of the net proceeds
from this offering. We did not complete any transaction in which we paid any of these proceeds, directly or indirectly, to our directors or
officers, to any person owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, to any associate of any of the foregoing, or to any of our
affiliates. There has been no material change in the expected uses of the net proceeds from the offering as described in our Registration
Statement.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We did not repurchase any equity securities during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable to smaller reporting companies.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our historical consolidated financial statements and the related notes. This management’s discussion and analysis contains forwardlooking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. Any statements
that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause our actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors
that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the section
entitled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Except as required by applicable law we do not undertake any obligation to
update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Annual Report.
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial
statements, which we have prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate such estimates and judgments, including those described in greater detail
below. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Overview
Anterix Inc., formerly known as pdvWireless, Inc. (“Anterix,” “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company”), is a wireless communications
company focused on commercializing our spectrum assets to enable our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers to deploy private
broadband networks, technologies and solutions. We are the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the 900 MHz band (896-901/935-940 MHz)
with nationwide coverage throughout the contiguous United States, Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico. On May 13, 2020, the Federal
Communications Commission (“FCC”) approved a Report and Order (the “Report and Order”) to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to
increase its usability and capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. We are
now engaged in qualifying for and securing broadband licenses from the FCC, with a focus on pursuing licenses in those counties in which we
believe we have near-term commercial opportunities. At the same time, our sales and marketing organization is pursuing opportunities to lease
the broadband licenses we secure to our targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers.
Securing Broadband Licenses
On May 13, 2020, the FCC approved a Report and Order to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and
capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. In the Report and Order, the FCC
reconfigured the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz broadband segment (240 channels) and two narrowband segments, consisting of a 3 MHz
narrowband segment (120 channels) and a 1 MHz narrowband segment (39 channels).
The Role of the County. Under the Report and Order, the FCC established the “county” as the base unit of measure in determining
whether a broadband applicant is eligible to secure a broadband license. There are 3,223 counties in the United States, including Puerto Rico.
Broadband License Eligibility Requirements. The Report and Order establishes three eligibility requirements to obtain broadband
licenses in a county, which we refer to herein as (i) the “50% Licensed Spectrum Test,” (ii) the “90% Broadband Segment Test” and (iii) the
“240 Channel Requirement.”
1.
50% Licensed Spectrum Test. To be eligible for a broadband license in a particular county, we must demonstrate that we
hold more than 50% of the outstanding licensed channels in the county. Because the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test is based on licensed channels,
any channels that are not licensed by the FCC are not included in the denominator when determining whether we have satisfied this test. The
FCC has licensed less than the maximum number of 399 channels in all but the most populous counties. As of the date of this filing, we satisfy
the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test in more than 3,100 counties of the 3,223 counties in the United States and its territories.
2.
90% Broadband Segment Test. The second test, the 90% Broadband Segment Test, addresses the balance between a
voluntary market process to clear any Covered Incumbent (i.e., holders of licenses in the broadband segment) and the mandatory relocation
process established by the FCC in the Report and Order (which applies to all Covered Incumbents, except for those Covered Incumbents
operating “Complex Systems” as described below). This test requires we hold or have agreements with Covered Incumbents for 90% of the
licensed channels in the broadband segment in a particular county and within 70 miles of the county’s boundaries. The broadband segment in
the 900 MHz band has a total of 240 channels. The 90% Broadband Segment Test is calculated using outstanding licensed channels, which
means that if the FCC has licensed all 240 channels, we will be required to have control of or agreements covering 216 channels within the
broadband segment. In many counties in the United States, the FCC has
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licensed fewer than 240 channels in the broadband segment and these unlicensed channels are not included in the denominator when determining
whether we have satisfied this 90% Broadband Segment Test.
Before filing for a broadband license, we must satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test by utilizing our channel holdings and
negotiating with Covered Incumbents on a purely voluntary basis for any additional channels we require to satisfy this test. Only after we satisfy
the 90% Broadband Segment Test will the FCC issue a broadband license to us and commence the “Mandatory Retuning” period. During this
period, any Covered Incumbents that remain in the broadband segment (other than Complex Systems) are required to negotiate with us in good
faith to sell its channels or otherwise clear the broadband segment, subject to intervention by the FCC if the parties cannot reach an agreement.
3.
240 Channel Requirement. The Report and Order requires the broadband applicant to surrender 6 MHz of broadband or
narrowband spectrum (or 240 channels) in the applicable county to the FCC in exchange for a broadband license. If we do not have sufficient
channels in the county to return 240 channels to the FCC, we can elect to make an “Anti-Windfall Payment” to the U.S. Treasury to effectively
purchase unlicensed channels in the FCC’s inventory. The Anti-Windfall Payment for these channels will be based on prices paid in the
applicable county in the 600 MHz auction conducted by the FCC.
Treatment of Complex Systems. The Report and Order exempts “Complex Systems” from the mandatory retuning process—even if
we meet the 90% Broadband Segment Test. The FCC defines a Complex System as a radio system that has at least 45 integrated sites. The FCC
exempted Complex Systems from the mandatory retuning requirements because retuning these systems would potentially be more disruptive to
the operators than retuning the smaller systems operated by other incumbents. Of the small number of systems that qualify for this 45-site
exemption, based on our calculation, all but one system belongs to utilities that we have identified as our target customers.
The Association of American Railroads. The nation’s railroads, particularly the major freight lines, operate on six narrowband 900
MHz channels licensed to their trade association, the Association of American Railroads (“AAR”). Three of these narrowband channels are
located in the 900 MHz broadband segment created by the FCC. The Report and Order seems to acknowledge an agreement between the parties
by which AAR’s channels will be exchanged for a nationwide 10-channel license contributed by Anterix. We worked extensively with the AAR
and the railroads throughout the 900 MHz proceeding and expect them to work cooperatively with us to clear their three channels in the
broadband segment as they become needed for broadband deployment.
Costs of Securing Broadband Licenses
As a broadband applicant, we can satisfy the three eligibility tests discussed above by including our existing licensed channels and by
acquiring or retuning additional channels when necessary through (i) spectrum purchases, (ii) spectrum relocations and/or (iii) Anti-Windfall
Payments, or any combination thereof.
1.
Channel Acquisition. In 2015, we began acquiring targeted additional channels in various markets in anticipation of the
Report and Order. We will continue to employ spectrum acquisition as a tool for those situations where a Covered Incumbent desires to exit the
900 MHz band. We may selectively acquire channels outside the 900 MHz broadband segment and use them to swap for channels within the
broadband segment. For purposes of broadband license eligibility, any potential acquisitions we negotiate will be included as part of our
broadband application, but the acquisition does not need to be consummated at the time we submit our license application.
2.
Retuning Costs. Retuning is the exercise of exchanging, also referred to as swapping, broadband segment channels held by
Covered Incumbents and moving them to channels outside of the 900 MHz broadband segment. A retune or swap adds to the number of
channels we hold for computational purposes in the 90% Broadband Segment Test. We began retuning or swapping channels with Covered
Incumbents in 2015 in anticipation of the Report and Order. We have continued retuning channels with Covered Incumbents since that time.
3.
Anti-Windfall Payments. To obtain a 6 MHz broadband license, we must surrender up to 240 licensed channels in the
county. As this band has been underutilized historically, most counties in the United States do not have 240 channels licensed. To make up the
difference, we may need to obtain channels from the FCC’s spectrum inventory and to effectively pay for those channels by making an AntiWindfall Payment. As noted above, the FCC will use a reference per channel price based on the average price paid in the FCC’s 600 MHz
auction in a given county.
Importantly, the markets where the FCC has channels in inventory and where we may need to make Anti-Windfall Payments to
effectively return 240 channels to the FCC are generally in smaller urban, suburban and rural markets. Our spectrum position is greatest in the
largest, most populated and therefore most expensive markets, with a few exceptions. Although we will need to make Anti-Windfall Payments
to secure broadband licenses in some counties, the cost for the channels, on average, will be lower than the nationwide average amount paid in
the FCC’s 600 MHz auction.
When combining our estimated clearing and spectrum acquisition costs with our anticipated Anti-Windfall Payments to the U.S.
Treasury, we anticipate the combined total costs of securing broadband licenses from the FCC will to range from $130 to $160 million, the
significant majority of which we intend to spend by the end of fiscal year 2024. We will deploy this capital at our
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determined pace based on several key ongoing factors, including customer demand, market opportunity and offsetting income from spectrum
leases.
Historical Spectrum Initiatives
We acquired our 900 MHz spectrum and certain related equipment from Sprint in September 2014 for $100 million. While the
spectrum we initially purchased can support narrowband and wideband wireless services, the most significant business opportunities we
identified requires contiguous spectrum that allows for greater bandwidth than allowed by the current configuration of our spectrum. As a result,
since purchasing our 900 MHz spectrum in 2014, we pursued initiatives at the FCC seeking to modernize and realign a portion of the 900 MHz
band to increase its usability and capacity by allowing it to accommodate the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and
solutions. Specifically, in November 2014, we and the Enterprise Wireless Alliance (“EWA”) submitted a Joint Petition for Rulemaking to the
FCC to propose a realignment of a portion of the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz broadband authorization, while retaining 4 MHz for
continued narrowband operations. Comments on the proposed rules were filed in June 2015 and reply comments in July 2015.
In August 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) announcing that it had commenced a proceeding to examine whether it
would be in the public interest to change the existing rules governing the 900 MHz band to increase access to spectrum, improve spectrum
efficiency and expand flexibility for a variety of potential uses and applications, including broadband and other advanced technologies and
services. We and EWA filed a joint response to the FCC’s NOI in October 2017 and reply comments in November 2017.
On March 14, 2019, the FCC unanimously adopted a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (the “NPRM”) that endorsed the Company’s
objective of creating a broadband opportunity in the 900 MHz band for critical infrastructure and other enterprise users. In the NPRM, the FCC
requested comments from interested parties, including us, on a number of important topics that would impact the timing and costs of obtaining a
broadband license. The Company filed comments to the NPRM in June 2019 and reply comments in July 2019.
On May 13, 2020, the FCC approved a Report and Order to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and
capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions.
Historical Business Operations
Historically, we generated revenue principally from our pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses. We historically marketed
pdvConnect, a mobile communication and workforce management solution, primarily through two Tier 1 carriers in the United States. In Fiscal
2016, we began offering a commercial push-to-talk (“PTT”) service, which we marketed as TeamConnect, in seven major metropolitan areas
throughout the United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York and Philadelphia. We primarily
offered the TeamConnect service to customers indirectly through third-party sales representatives who were primarily selected from Motorola’s
nationwide dealer network.
In June 2018, we announced our plan to restructure our operations to align and focus our business priorities on our spectrum
initiatives. Consistent with this restructuring plan, we transferred our TeamConnect business and support obligations for our pdvConnect
business in December 2018. Specifically, we entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A BEEP LLC (“A BEEP”) on
January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (“Goosetown”) on January 2,
2019 and (iii) a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. Under the A BEEP and
Goosetown Agreements, we agreed to: (i) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, Houston and Phoenix
metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and New
York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with access to our TeamConnect Metro and Campus Systems
(the “MotoTRBO Systems”) and (iv) grant A BEEP and Goosetown the right to resell access to our MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate
Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements for a two-year period. We also granted Goosetown a license to sell the business applications
we developed for our TeamConnect service.
We retained a number of significant obligations under our A BEEP and Goosetown agreements related to the TeamConnect and
pdvConnect businesses. To help ensure the transitioning of the TeamConnect customers, we continued to provide customer care, billing and
collection services through April 1, 2019. We are required to pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate the MotoTRBO
Systems for a two (2)-year period ending on January 2, 2021. By the end of this two-year period, A BEEP and Goosetown are required to
migrate their respective customers off of the MotoTRBO Systems. We are required to continue to pay the cell tower leases for the TeamConnect
networks we deployed for the balance of the lease terms. We also retained customer billing and collection responsibility for the pdvConnect
business.
Under the terms of the MOU, we assigned the intellectual property rights to our TeamConnect and pdvConnect related applications to
TeamConnect LLC (the “LLC”), a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest in the LLC,
effective April 30, 2019. The Goosetown Principals have agreed to fund the future operations of the LLC, subject to certain limitations. The
LLC assumed our software support and maintenance obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. The LLC also assumed
customer care services related to the pdvConnect service. We provided transition services to the LLC through April 1, 2019. We are also
obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for a 24-month period ending
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on January 7, 2021 for its assumption of our support obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. We are obligated to pay the
LLC a certain portion of the billed revenue we received from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month period.
As of September 30, 2019, we transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000, and recorded an
investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the assets as of such
date. As of December 31, 2019, we also completed the transfer of our intellectual property rights with a net book value of $174,000 to the LLC
and recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $34,000 and loss on disposal of capitalized patent costs amounting to $140,000 relating to
the transfer of the intellectual property. For the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, we incurred $942,000 and $331,000 of expenses under
the MOU, respectively.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, our actual results could differ from those based on such estimates and assumptions. Further,
to the extent that there are differences between our estimates and our actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to
understanding our historical performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving our judgments and estimates.
We believe that the areas described below are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial
results, as they require management’s significant judgments in the application of accounting policy or in making estimates and assumptions that
are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods. Our significant accounting policies are set forth in Note 2 to our
consolidated financial statements. Of those policies, we believe that the policies discussed below may involve a higher degree of judgment and
may be more critical to an accurate reflection of our financial condition and results of operations.
Leases. Leases in which we are the lessee are comprised of corporate office space and tower space. Substantially all our leases are
classified as operating leases. We are obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various dates from
October 31, 2024 through June 30, 2027, which includes lease extensions ranging from three to ten-years for our corporate headquarters. We
entered into multiple lease agreements for tower space related to our spectrum holdings.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), 2016-02 Leases (“ASC
842”) which we adopted on April 1, 2020, we recognized right of use (“ROU”) assets and corresponding lease liabilities on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet for our operating lease agreements. We elected the package of practical expedients for its long-term operating leases, which
permits us not to reassess under the new standard the prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. See
Note 10 – Leases for further discussion, including the impact on the consolidated financial statements and required disclosures.
Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue when a contract with a customer exists and control of the promised goods or services is
transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services and
the identified performance obligation has been satisfied.
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the unit of account in
Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). A contract’s transaction price is allocated to
each distinct performance obligation and is recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied, which typically occurs
when the services are rendered. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be
accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment. Our contracts with customers may include multiple performance
obligations. For such arrangements, we allocate revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. We
generally determine standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers under contracts involving only the relevant performance
obligation. Judgment may be used to determine the standalone selling prices for items that are not sold separately, including services provided at
no additional charge. Most of our performance obligations are satisfied over time as services are provided.
We recognize an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if it expects the benefit of those costs to be
longer than one year. We determined that certain sales commissions meet the requirements to be capitalized and were recorded as an asset upon
our adoption of ASC 606.
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Stock compensation. For purposes of calculating stock-based compensation, we estimate the fair value of stock options using a BlackScholes option-pricing model. The determination of the fair value of option-based compensation utilizing the Black-Scholes model is affected
by a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The expected term and
volatility are based on the historical volatility of our common stock along with comparable public companies within our industry since we have a
short history regarding these variables. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
the grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the options. The dividend yield assumption is zero since we have never paid and do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, we will continue to estimate the number of equity awards that are
expected to vest based on historical forfeiture rates.
The fair value of restricted stock and performance units are measured based on the quoted closing market price for the stock at the date
of grant. The compensation cost for restricted stock is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The compensation cost for the
performance stock units is recognized when the performance criteria are complete.
We have not attributed tax benefits to the share-based compensation expense because we maintain a full valuation allowance for all net
deferred tax assets.
Property and equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the applicable lease term. The carrying amount at the balance sheet date of long-lived assets
under construction in process includes construction costs to date on capital projects that have not been completed, assets being constructed that
are not ready to be placed in service and assets that are not currently in service. Depreciation commences when the assets are placed in
service. Depreciation rates for assets are updated periodically to account for changes, if any, in the estimated useful lives of the assets, lease
terms, management’s strategic objectives, estimated residual values or obsolescence. Changes in estimates will result in adjustments to
depreciation expense prospectively.
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. An asset retirement obligation is evaluated and recorded as appropriate on assets for
which we have a legal obligation to retire. We record a liability for an asset retirement obligation and the associated asset retirement cost at the
time the underlying asset is acquired and put into service. Subsequent to the initial measurement of the asset retirement obligation, the
obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the
obligation, if any. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of
the asset.
We enter into long-term leasing arrangements primarily for tower site locations. We construct assets at these locations and, in
accordance with the terms of many of these agreements, we are obligated to restore the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of
the agreements, generally at the demand of the other party to these agreements. We recognize the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation and capitalize that cost as part of the cost basis of the related asset, depreciating it over the useful life of the related asset. Upon
settlement of the obligation, any difference between the cost to retire the asset and the recorded liability is recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.
Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are wireless licenses that will be used to provide us with the exclusive right to utilize designated
radio frequency spectrum to provide wireless communication services. While licenses are issued for only a fixed time, generally ten to fifteen
years, such licenses are subject to renewal by the FCC. License renewals have occurred routinely and at nominal cost in the past. There are
currently no legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the useful life of our wireless licenses. As a result,
we have determined that the wireless licenses should be treated as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. We will evaluate the useful life
determination for our wireless licenses each year to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support our treatment as an
indefinite useful life asset.
The licenses are tested for impairment on an aggregate basis, as we will be utilizing the wireless licenses on an integrated basis as a part
of developing broadband. For the year ended March 31, 2020, (“Fiscal 2020”), we performed a step zero qualitative approach to test indefinitelived intangible assets for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of
an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform quantitative impairment testing. For
the year ended March 31, 2019, (“Fiscal 2019”), we performed a step one quantitative impairment test to determine if the fair value is greater
than carrying value. Estimated fair value is determined using a market-based approach.
Long-Lived Assets and Right of Use Assets Impairment. We evaluate long-lived assets, including right of use assets, other than
intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
group may not be recoverable. Asset groups are determined at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash
flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. When the carrying amount of a long-lived asset group is not recoverable and exceeds its fair
value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over the estimated fair value. In Fiscal 2020, we
recorded a $46,000 non-cash impairment charge for long-lived assets consisting of $35,000 for property and equipment and $11,000 for a right
of use asset to reduce the carrying values to zero. For Fiscal 2019, we recorded a $0.7 million non-cash charge for long-lived asset impairment
of its radio assets to reduce the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount.
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Equity Method Investment. Our 19.5% investment in the LLC for which we are not the primary beneficiary and does not influence or
control the activities that most significantly impact the LLC’s economic performance, are not consolidated and are accounted for under the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the LLC’s accounts are not reflected within our consolidated balance
sheets and statements of operations. Our share of the earnings of the LLC is reported as income (loss) on equity method investment in the
consolidated statements of operations. Our carrying value in an equity method investment is reported as equity method investment on the
consolidated balance sheets.
If our carrying value in an equity method is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the consolidated financial statements
unless we guarantee obligations of the LLC or commit additional funding. When the LLC subsequently reports income, we will not record its
share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously recognized.
Income taxes. We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of
assets and liabilities as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established when it is estimated
that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. We recognize the effect of tax positions only when they are more likely than not to be
sustained. Our management has determined that we had no uncertain tax positions that would require financial statement recognition or
disclosure. We are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations for periods prior to 2017.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the years ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 (“Fiscal 2020”) and March 31, 2019
(“Fiscal 2019”). The period to period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of financial results to be achieved in future
periods.
Operating revenues
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Service revenue
Spectrum lease revenue
Other revenue
Total operating revenues

2020

$

835
729
—
1,564

$

Aggregate Change

2019

$

2020 from 2019

4,774
729
996
6,499

$

$

$

(3,939)
—
(996)
(4,935)

-83%
0%
-100%
-76%

Overall operating revenues decreased by $4.9 million, or 76% to $1.6 million in Fiscal 2020 from $6.5 million in Fiscal 2019. The
decrease in our operating revenues were attributable to the transfer of our TeamConnect customers to A BEEP and Goosetown as part of our
December 2018 restructuring efforts as discussed in Note 3 below, as well as the loss of customers in our pdvConnect business.
Operating expenses

For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Direct cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
General and administrative
Sales and support
Product development
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense (exclusive of restructuring related
costs)
Restructuring costs
Impairment of long-lived assets
Total operating expenses

2020

$

$

2,833
19,876
3,846
2,693
3,591
5,826
236
46
38,947

Aggregate Change

2019

$

$

4,652
19,617
3,673
2,286
2,846
5,784
9,598
782
49,238

2020 from 2019

$

$

(1,819)
259
173
407
745

-39%
1%
5%
18%
26%

42
(9,362)
(736)
(10,291)

1%
-98%
-94%
-21%
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Direct cost of revenue. Direct cost of revenue decreased by $1.8 million to $2.8 million for Fiscal 2020, or 39%, from $4.7 million for
Fiscal 2019. The decrease was attributable to lower costs related to radio sales as a result of the transfer of our TeamConnect customers to A
BEEP and Goosetown as part of our December 2018 restructuring efforts as discussed in Note 3 below.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by $0.3 million to $19.9 million for Fiscal 2020,
or 1%, from $19.6 million for Fiscal 2019. The $0.3 million increase for Fiscal 2020 resulted primarily from a $0.6 million increase in costs
related to the monthly service fee for the transfer of our TeamConnect customers, a $0.3 million increase in retuning and relocations costs related
to clearing the spectrum, partially offset by $0.5 million lower employee related costs due to lower headcount resulting from the restructuring
activities in Fiscal 2019.
Sales and support expenses. Sales and support expenses increased by $0.2 million, or 5%, to $3.8 million for Fiscal 2020 from $3.7
million for Fiscal 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to $0.9 million higher costs for marketing and the Utility Broadband Alliance
(“UBBA”) in Fiscal 2020, partially offset by the reduction in workforce that occurred in Fiscal 2019 resulting in $0.7 million for lower
headcount and related costs.
Product development expenses. Product development expense increased by $0.4 million, or 18% to $2.7 million for Fiscal 2020 from
$2.3 million for Fiscal 2019. The $0.4 million increase for Fiscal 2020 resulted primarily from $0.7 million higher contract consulting costs due
to the restructuring of our management, partially offset by $0.3 million lower employee related costs due to lower headcount due to the
restructuring of our management.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization for Fiscal 2020 increased by $0.8 million, or 26% to $3.6 million in
Fiscal 2020 from $2.8 million for Fiscal 2019. During Fiscal 2020, we adjusted the estimated non-cash capitalized asset retirement obligations
and useful life for its network sites, resulting in additional depreciation expense of $1.1 million.
Stock compensation expense (exclusive of restructuring related costs). Stock compensation expense exclusive of restructuring related
costs Fiscal 2020 remained relatively flat as compared to Fiscal 2019.
Restructuring costs. Restructuring costs of $236,000 were incurred in Fiscal 2020 mainly for employee severance and benefit costs
relating to the December 2018 cost reduction and restructuring actions related to the transfer of the TeamConnect business and the support for
our pdvConnect business to A BEEP, Goosetown and the LLC.
Restructuring costs of $8.7 million were incurred in Fiscal 2019 as a result of the April and June 2018 announcements of our plans to
shift our focus and resources to our spectrum initiatives at the FCC and to prepare for the commercialization of our spectrum assets for the future
deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. In light of this shift in focus, our Board also approved a chief executive officer
transition plan, under which, John Pescatore, our then-current chief executive officer and president, transitioned to the position of vice chairman
and Morgan O’Brien, our then-current vice chairman, assumed the position as our new chief executive officer. In connection with the transition,
we and Mr. Pescatore entered into a Continued Service, Consulting and Transition Agreement and a separate Consulting Agreement (the “CEO
Transition Agreements”). We also entered into consulting and transition agreements with several other key employees.
In addition, restructuring costs of $0.9 million were incurred due to the December 2018 approval by our Board for cost reductions and
restructuring actions related to the transferring of the TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses to A BEEP, Goosetown and the LLC.
Impairment of long-lived assets. For Fiscal 2020, the $46,000 in non-cash impairment charge for long-lived assets consisted of
$35,000 for property and equipment and $11,000 for a right of use asset to reduce the carrying values to zero.
The impairment for Fiscal 2019 resulted from the carrying value of our TeamConnect radios not being fully recoverable due to the
realigning of the business to focus on our spectrum initiatives.
Interest income
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Interest income

2020

$

Aggregate Change

2019

1,810

$

2020 from 2019

1,462

$

348

24%

Interest income increased by $0.3 million, or 24% to $1.8 million for Fiscal 2020 as compared to $1.5 million from Fiscal 2019 due to
the return on the net proceeds from the July 2019 follow-on offering.
Other income (expenses)
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Other income (expenses)

2020

$

Aggregate Change

2019

346

$

2020 from 2019

(28) $

374

-1336%

Other income in Fiscal 2020 represents payments received in consideration for the customer and rights transferred to A BEEP and
Goosetown.
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Loss on equity method investment
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Loss on equity method investment

2020

$

Aggregate Change

2019

2020 from 2019

(9) $

—

$

(9)

-100%

The loss on investment for Fiscal 2020 is due to the 19.5% ownership interest in the LLC.
Income tax expense
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Income tax expense

2020

$

Aggregate Change

2019

2,402

$

2020 from 2019

688

$

1,714

249%

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was signed into law. The new CARES Act
modified Section 172(b)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code to state that net operating loss (“NOL”) arising in a taxable year beginning before
January 1, 2018, is carried forward 20 years provided that a carryback claim is not effected. From this adjusted provision, our March 31, 2018
NOL carryforward changed from an indefinite life to a 20-year life. The total impact of this date change from the CARES Act increased our
non-cash net federal deferred tax expense from approximately $0.2 million to $1.6 million for Fiscal 2020.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
On March 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $137.5 million.
Our accounts receivable are heavily concentrated in one domestic carrier partner and one reseller. As of March 31, 2020, our accounts
receivable balance was approximately $61,000, of which approximately $43,000, or 71%, was owed by one domestic carrier partner and one
reseller.
Cash Flows from Operating, Investing and Financing Activities
For the year ended March 31,
(in thousands)

Net cash used by operating activities
Net cash used by investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

2020

$
$
$

2019

(30,957)
(4,426)
96,114

$
$
$

(23,089)
(1,666)
3,159

Net cash used by operating activities. Net cash used by operating activities was approximately $31.0 million and $23.1 million in
Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. The majority of net cash used by operating activities in Fiscal 2020 resulted from a net loss of $37.6
million, partially offset by non-cash compensation expense attributable to stock awards of $5.8 million. The majority of net cash used by
operating activities in Fiscal 2019 resulted from a net loss of $42.0 million, partially offset by non-cash compensation expense attributable to
stock awards of $10.3 million, depreciation and amortization of $2.8 million, deferred income tax of $0.7 million and an increase in the
restructuring reserve of $2.8 million.
Net cash used by investing activities. Net cash used by investing activities was approximately $4.4 million and $1.7 million for Fiscal
2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. For Fiscal 2020, the net cash used by investing activities resulted from $4.0 million in wireless license
acquisitions and $0.4 million for the purchase of equipment. For Fiscal 2019, the net cash used by investing activities resulted from $0.9 million
in wireless license acquisitions and $0.7 million for the purchase of equipment.
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $96.1 million and $3.2 million for
Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. For Fiscal 2020, the net cash provided by financing activities primarily resulted from $94.2 million
net proceeds from the July 2019 follow-on offering and $2.4 million in cash received from the proceeds of stock option exercises. For Fiscal
2019, the net cash provided by financing activities primarily resulted from $3.4 million in cash received from the proceeds of stock option
exercises offset by taxes withheld and paid for employee stock awards of $0.2 million.
Net proceeds from July 2019 follow-on offering. In July 2019, we completed a registered follow-on offering in which we sold
2,222,223 shares of common stock at a purchase price to the public of $45.00 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $94.2 million after
deducting $5.5 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, and $0.3 million in offering expenses.
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Capital Requirements. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: the timeline and costs to acquire
broadband licenses pursuant to the 900 MHz Report and Order, including the costs to acquire additional spectrum, the costs related to retuning,
or swapping spectrum held by, Covered Incumbents and the costs of paying Anti-Windfall payments to the U.S. Treasury; costs related to the
commercializing of our spectrum assets; and our ability to sign customer contracts and generate revenues from the license or transfer of any
broadband licenses we secure; the terms and conditions of any customer contracts, including the timing of payments; the costs associated with
expanding our business development, sales and marketing organization, the costs and ongoing obligations related to our former TeamConnect
and pdvConnect businesses; the revenues we generate from royalties we may receive from our agreements we entered into with the buyers of our
TeamConnect and our pdvConnect businesses; and our ability to control our operating expenses.
On April 3, 2020, we filed a shelf registration statement (the “Shelf Registration Statement”) on Form S-3 with the SEC that was
declared effective by the SEC on April 20, 2020, which permits us to offer up to $150 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities
and warrants in one or more offerings and in any combination, including in units from time to time. Our Shelf Registration Statement is
intended to provide us with additional flexibility to access capital markets for general corporate purposes, which may include working capital,
capital expenditures, repayment of debt, other corporate expenses and acquisitions of complementary products, technologies, or businesses.
We entered into an Amended and Restated Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement and an Amended and Restated Sales
Agreement (collectively, the “Sales Agreements”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR, Inc., respectively (collectively, the
“Agents”), and on April 3, 2020, registered the sale of up to an aggregate of $50,000,000 in shares of our common stock in at the market sales
transactions pursuant to the Sales Agreements under the Shelf Registration Statement. Through the date of this filing, we have not sold any
shares of our common stock in at the market transactions or any securities under the Shelf Registration Statement.
We are now engaged in qualifying for and securing broadband licenses from the FCC. As a broadband applicant, we can satisfy the
three eligibility tests for a broadband license by including our existing licensed channels and by acquiring or retuning additional channels when
necessary through spectrum purchases and spectrum relocations and/or making Anti-Windfall Payments to the U.S. Treasury, or any
combination thereof. When combining our estimated clearing and licensing costs with our anticipated Anti-Windfall Payments, we anticipate
the combined total costs to obtain broadband licenses will range from $130 to $160 million, the significant majority of which we intend to spend
by the end of fiscal year 2024. We will deploy this capital at our determined pace based on several key ongoing factors, including customer
demand, market opportunity, and offsetting income from spectrum leases.
We believe our cash and cash equivalents on hand will be sufficient to meet our financial obligations through at least the next 12
months. Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including the costs and timing of securing broadband licenses,
including our spectrum retuning activities, spectrum acquisitions and the Anti-Windfall payments to the U.S. Treasury, and our operating
activities and any revenues we generate through our commercialization activities. When combining our estimated clearing and spectrum
acquisition costs with our anticipated Anti-Windfall payments to the U.S. Treasury to effectively acquire additional spectrum from the FCC’s
inventory in markets where we need it, we anticipate the combined total costs to range from $130 to $160 million, the significant majority of
which we intend to spend over through the end of fiscal year 2024. We will deploy this capital at our determined pace based on several key
ongoing factors, including customer demand, market opportunity, and offsetting income from spectrum leases. As we cannot predict the
duration or scope of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our targeted customers, the potential negative financial impact to our results of
operations and financial condition cannot be reasonably estimated. We are actively managing the business to maintain cash flow and believe that
we have adequate liquidity. To implement our business plans and initiatives, however, we may need to raise additional capital. We cannot
predict with certainty the exact amount or timing for any future capital raises See “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report for risks and uncertainties
that could cause our costs to be more than we currently anticipate and/or our revenue and operating results to be lower than we currently
anticipate. If required, we intend to raise additional capital through debt or equity financings, including pursuant to our Shelf Registration
Statement, or through some other financing arrangement. However, we cannot be sure that additional financing will be available if and when
needed, or that, if available, we can obtain financing on terms favorable to our stockholders and to us. Any failure to obtain financing when
required will have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and liquidity.
Warranties. Our agreements with our customers generally include certain provisions for indemnifying them against liabilities if our
services infringe a third-party’s intellectual property rights or for other specified reasons.
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Contractual Obligations and Indebtedness
Leases. We are obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various dates from October 31,
2024 through June 30, 2027, which includes a three to ten-year lease extension for its corporate headquarters. We entered into multiple lease
agreements for tower space related to out TeamConnect business. The lease expiration dates range from June 30, 2020, to June 30, 2026.
Rent expense amounted to $2.7 million and $2.8 million for Fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively. For Fiscal 2020 and 2019, rent
expense amounting to $1.7 million each year was classified in direct cost of revenue and the remainder of the $1.0 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, was classified in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Restructuring reserve. In April 2018, we announced a shift in our focus and resources to pursue the regulatory initiatives at the FCC
and prepare for the future deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and services. In light of this shift in focus, our Board
approved a chief executive officer transition plan, under which, John Pescatore, our then-current chief executive officer and president,
transitioned to the position of vice-chairman and Morgan O’Brien, our then-current vice chairman, became the chief executive officer. In
connection with the transition, we entered into a Continued Service, Consulting and Transition Agreement and a separate Consulting Agreement
with Mr. Pescatore (collectively the “CEO Transition Agreements”) and we also entered into additional consulting and transition agreements
with several other key employees.
As of March 31, 2020, our contractual obligations, including estimated payments due by fiscal year, are as follows:
(in thousands)
Total

Operating lease obligations(1)
Restructuring reserve

$

(2)

Asset retirement obligations(3)
Monthly service fee obligations
Total

(4)

$

2021

Payments due by Fiscal Year
2022-2023

11,963 $

2,703 $

636
886
446
13,931 $

2024-2025

After 2025

4,435 $

3,452 $

1,373

636

—

—

—

246

640

—

—

446
4,031 $

—
5,075 $

—
3,452 $

—
1,373

(1) Represents aggregate rentals, under non-cancellable leases for office and tower site locations (exclusive of real estate taxes, utilities,
maintenance and other costs borne by us) for the remaining terms of the leases as described in Note 10 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report for further information.
(2) Represents non-cancellable consulting agreements relating to the Continued Service, Consulting and Transition Agreement with Mr.
Pescatore and Consulting and Transition Agreements with other key employees. See Note 9 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Annual Report for further information.
(3) Represents the asset retirement obligations we have for our tower site locations. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Annual Report for further information.
(4) Represents the remaining monthly service fee due to the LLC through January 7, 2021 for its assumption of the Company’s support
obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. See Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report for further information.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
During Fiscal 2020 and 2019, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships that were
established to facilitate off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements is provided in Note 2 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable for smaller reporting companies.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The financial statements listed in Item 15 are filed as part of this report and appear on pages F-2 through F-28.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed
pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness, as of March 31, 2020, of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act,
were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, conducted an assessment of
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (“2013 Framework”). Based on this assessment, our
management determined that, as of March 31, 2020, we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting.
Attestation Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the SEC that
exempt certain smaller reporting companies, as that term is defined in Rule 12-b2 of the Exchange Act, from such requirement.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act,
during the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or
our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud
will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because
of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
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goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
On January 28, 2020, PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a Transition Agreement with
the Association of American Railroads (the “AAR”), which provides that the six narrowband 900 MHz licensed channels held by the AAR will
be exchanged for a nationwide 10-channel license contributed by us. Three of these narrowband channels are located in the 900 MHz
broadband segment created by the FCC. The Transition Agreement provides that the AAR will work cooperatively with us to clear the three
channels it holds in the broadband segment as they become needed for broadband deployment. The foregoing description is qualified in its
entirety to the full terms of the Transition Agreement, which the Company is filing as Exhibit 10.35 to this Annual Report, with certain
confidential portions redacted.
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PART III.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information relating to our directors, executive officers and corporate governance, including our Code of Business Conduct, will be
included in the proxy statement for the 2020 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 days of the end of
our fiscal year, which is incorporated herein by reference. The full text of our Code of Business Conduct, which is the code of ethics that applies
to all of our officers, directors and employees, can be found in the “Investors” section of our website accessible to the public
at www.anterix.com.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information relating to our executive compensation will be included in the proxy statement for the 2020 annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year, which is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information relating to the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be included in the proxy statement for
the 2020 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year, which is incorporated
herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information relating to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence will be included in the proxy statement
for the 2020 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information relating to principal accountant fees and services will be included in the proxy statement for the 2020 annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) The following consolidated financial statements of the Company appear on pages F-2 through F-28 of this report and are incorporated by
reference in Part II, Item 8:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(a)(2) All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related
instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.
(a)(3) The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit No.
3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2.1
3.2.2
4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5#
10.1+
10.2+
10.3+
10.4+

Description of Exhibit
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Certificate of Amendment No 1. to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit
3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on November 5, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference (File No.
001-36827)).
Certificate of Amendment No 2. to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit
3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on August 6, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No.
001-36827)).
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Amendment No.1 to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 8, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 10, 2014, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s executive
officers named therein, and FBR Capital Markets & Co., on behalf of the investors participating in the June 2014 private
placement (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated October 2010, by and among the Company and investors
named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014
and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Amendment and Waiver of Rights under Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, approved May 30, 2014, by
and among the Company and the investors named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Description of Common Stock.
2004 Stock Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
2010 Stock Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2010 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Page 43

Table of Contents
10.5+
10.6+
10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10+

10.11+

10.12†

10.13

10.14†

10.15†

10.16†

10.17+
10.18+
10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

Form of Restricted Stock Bonus Agreement under 2010 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
2014 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19,
2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Executive Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement under 2014 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit
10.7 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on June 10, 2015 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Non-employee Director Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement under 2014 Stock Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on
June 10, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Non-employee Director Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units Agreement under
2014 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, filed with
the SEC on June 10, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units Agreement under 2014 Stock Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and among the Company and its officers and directors (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference
(File No. 333-201156)).
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 13, 2014, by and among the Company, and FCI 900, Inc., ACI 900, Inc., Machine
License Holding, LLC, Nextel WIP License Corp., and Nextel License Holdings 1, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference
(File No. 333-201156)).
Letter Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, by and among the Company and FCI 900,
Inc., ACI 900, Inc., Machine License Holding, LLC, Nextel WIP License Corp., and Nextel License Holdings 1, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Management Services Agreement, dated September 15, 2014, by and between the Company and Sprint Spectrum, L.P.
(filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
License Agreement, dated September 15, 2014, by and between Sprint/United Management Company and the Company
(filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
Spectrum Rights Agreement, dated September 8, 2014, by and between PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC and
Motorola Solutions, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
December 19, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-201156)).
The Company’s Executive Severance Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
March 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
The Company’s Form of Executive Severance Plan Participation Agreement (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 27, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Executive Form of Performance-Based Stock Option Agreement and Grant Notice under the 2014 Stock Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Executive Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement and Grant Notice under the 2014 Stock Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC
on February 16, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Non-employee Director Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement and Grant Notice under the 2014 Stock Plan (filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Executive Form of Time-Based Stock Option Agreement and Grant Notice under the 2014 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on February 16,
2016 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
Executive Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement and Grant Notice under the 2014 Stock Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference)
Continued Service, Consulting and Separation Agreement, dated April 23, 2018, by and between the Company and John
Pescatore (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 23, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
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10.25+

Consulting Agreement dated April 23, 2018, by and between the Company and John Pescatore (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 23, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference (File No.
001-36827)).
10.26
Amended and Restated Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement, dated April 3, 2020, by and between the
Company and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (filed as Exhibit 1.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed with the
SEC on April 3, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 333-237572)).
10.27
Amended and Restated Sales Agreement, dated April 3, 2020, by and between the Company and B. Riley FBR, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 1.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed with the SEC on April 3, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference (File No. 333-237572)).
10.28†
Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement, dated January 2, 2019, by and between the Company and A BEEP LLC
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC
on February 08, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
10.29†
Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement, dated January 2, 2019, by and between the Company and
Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on February 08, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 00136827)).
10.30†
Memorandum of Understanding, dated December 31, 2018, by and between the Company and the principals of
Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on February 08, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 00136827)).
10.31^
Amendment to Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement, dated March 31, 2019 by and between the Company and A
BEEP, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019, filed with the
SEC on May 20, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
10.32
Amendment to Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement, dated March 31, 2019 by and between the Company and
Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2019, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
10.33^
Amendment to Memorandum of Understanding and IP Assignment, dated March 31, 2019, by and between the Company
and the principals of Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
10.34^
TeamConnect, LLC Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated April 30, 2019 (filed as
Exhibit 10.34 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on May 20,
2019 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
10.35#^
Transition Agreement between the PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC and Association of American Railroads,
dated January 28, 2020.
21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on June 6, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference (File No. 001-36827)).
23.1#
Consent of Grant Thornton LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm relating to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.
24.1#
Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).
31.1#
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15-d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2#
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15-d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1#*
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS#
XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH#
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL#
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF#
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB#
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE#
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
______________________
+

Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.
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*

#
^

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment pursuant to either Rule 406 under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which request has been granted by the SEC.
The certification furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto is deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filed”
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Registrant specifically
incorporates it by reference.
Filed herewith.
Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with an asterisk because the identified
confidential portions (i) are not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in Woodland Park, State of New Jersey, on May 28, 2020.
Anterix Inc.
By: /s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Morgan E.
O’Brien and Timothy A. Gray, and each of them individually, as the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power
of substitution and resubstitution, for the undersigned and in the undersigned’s name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and
all amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might
or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming that all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them or their respective substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and
on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date



/s/ Brian D. McAuley
Brian D. McAuley

Chairman of the Board

May 28, 2020

/s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

May 28, 2020

/s/ Robert H. Schwartz
Robert H. Schwartz

President

May 28, 2020

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

May 28, 2020

/s/ Gena L. Ashe
Gena L. Ashe

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

May 28, 2020

/s/ Elaine M. Gangeri
Elaine M. Gangeri

Chief Accounting Officer and Assistant Secretary

May 28, 2020

/s/ T. Clark Akers
T. Clark Akers

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Greg W. Cominos
Greg W. Cominos

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Gregory A. Haller
Gregory A. Haller

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Mark J. Hennessy
Mark J. Hennessy

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Singleton B. McAllister
Singleton B. McAllister

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Paul Saleh
Paul Saleh

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Anterix Inc.
Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Anterix Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
March 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended March 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Changes in accounting principle
As discussed in note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of April 1, 2019, in
accordance with the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 842, Leases.
Basis for opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is
not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
New York, New York
May 28, 2020
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

2020

2019

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $12 and $77, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right of use assets, net
Intangible assets
Capitalized patent costs, net
Equity method investment
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to related parties
Restructuring reserve
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred income tax
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
outstanding at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019
Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares
authorized and 17,184,712 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 14,739,145
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

$

$

$

137,453
61
4,638
142,152
7,000
6,500
111,526
—
39
180
267,397

$

5,649
110
636
1,695
733
8,823

$

$

76,722
444
1,180
78,346
9,830
—
107,548
184
—
845
196,753

5,106
183
2,758
—
792
8,839

7,051
2,733
3,084
640
22,331

—
3,466
685
2,999
15,989

—

—

2
450,978
(205,914)
245,066
267,397 $

1
349,227
(168,464)
180,764
196,753

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

2020

Operating revenues
Service revenue
Spectrum revenue
Other revenue
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Direct cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
General and administrative
Sales and support
Product development
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense (exclusive of restructuring related costs)
Restructuring costs
Impairment of long-lived assets
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Other income (expenses)
Loss on equity method investment
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss per common share basic and diluted
Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic
and diluted net loss per share

$

$
$

2019

835
729
—
1,564
2,833
19,876
3,846
2,693
3,591
5,826
236
46
38,947
(37,383)
1,810
346
(9)
(35,236)
2,402
(37,638)
(2.29)
16,421,610

$

$
$

4,774
729
996
6,499
4,652
19,617
3,673
2,286
2,846
5,784
9,598
782
49,238
(42,739)
1,462
(28)
—
(41,305)
688
(41,993)
(2.88)
14,575,787

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Number of Shares
Preferred
stock
series AA

Balance at April 1, 2018
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2019
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Balance at April 1, 2019
Issuance of stock during July
2019 follow-on offering, net of
closing costs
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2020

Common
stock

Preferred
stock
series AA

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
deficit

Total

—
—
—
—
—
—

14,487,650
89,461
169,003
(6,969)
—
14,739,145

—
—
—
—
—
—

1
—
—
—
—
1

335,767
10,301
3,368
(209)
—
349,227

(126,471)
—
—
—
(41,993)
(168,464)

209,297
10,301
3,368
(209)
(41,993)
180,764

—
—

—
14,739,145

—
—

—
1

(188)
349,039

188
(168,276)

—
180,764

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,222,223
123,689
112,623
(12,968)
—
17,184,712 $

—
—
—
—
—
— $

1
—
—
—
—
2 $

94,243
5,826
2,436
(566)
—
450,978 $

—
—
—
—
(37,638)
(205,914) $

94,244
5,826
2,436
(566)
(37,638)
245,066

* Includes restricted shares issued.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used
by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash compensation expense attributable to stock awards
Deferred income taxes
Bad debt expense
Accretion expense
Loss on disposal of assets
Loss on disposal of capitalized patent costs
Impairment of long-lived assets
Loss on equity method investment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Right of use assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to related parties
Restructuring reserve
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash used by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of intangible assets
Purchases of equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from July 2019 follow-on offering
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Payments of withholding tax on net issuance of restricted stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of the year
End of the year

$

$

2019

(37,638)

$

(41,993)

3,591
5,826
2,399
41
1
76
140
46
9

2,846
10,301
685
218
12
54
—
782
—

464
—
(2,818)
1,404
578
(73)
(2,699)
(1,447)
(791)
(66)
(30,957)

273
173
69
—
914
(41)
2,758
—
(813)
673
(23,089)

(3,962)
(464)
(4,426)

(942)
(724)
(1,666)

94,244
2,436
(566)
96,114
60,731

—
3,368
(209)
3,159
(21,596)

76,722
137,453

$

98,318
76,722

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of Operations
Anterix Inc. (formerly known as pdvWireless, Inc., the “Company”) is a wireless communications company focused on
commercializing its spectrum assets to enable the targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers to deploy private broadband networks,
technologies and solutions. The Company is the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the 900 MHz band (896-901/935-940 MHz) with
nationwide coverage throughout the contiguous United States, Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico. On May 13, 2020, the Federal Communications
Commission (“FCC”) approved a Report and Order (the “Report and Order”) to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its
usability and capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. The Company is now
engaged in qualifying for and securing broadband licenses, with a focus on pursuing licenses in those counties in which it believes it has nearterm commercial opportunities. At the same time, the Company’s sales and marketing organization is pursuing opportunities to lease the
broadband licenses it secures to the targeted utility and critical infrastructure customers.
The Company was originally incorporated in California in 1997 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2014. In November 2015, the
Company changed its name from Pacific DataVision, Inc. to pdvWireless, Inc. On August 6, 2019, the Company changed its name from
pdvWireless, Inc. to Anterix Inc. The Company maintains offices in Woodland Park, New Jersey and McLean, Virginia.
Securing Broadband Licenses
On May 13, 2020, the FCC approved a Report and Order to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and
capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. In the Report and Order, the FCC
reconfigured the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz broadband segment (240 channels) and two narrowband segments, consisting of a 3 MHz
narrowband segment (120 channels) and a 1 MHz narrowband segment (39 channels).
The Role of the County. Under the Report and Order, the FCC established the “county” as the base unit of measure in determining
whether a broadband applicant is eligible to secure a broadband license. There are 3,223 counties in the United States, including Puerto Rico.
Broadband License Eligibility Requirements. The Report and Order establishes three eligibility requirements to obtain broadband
licenses in a county, which the Company refers to herein as (i) the “50% Licensed Spectrum Test,” (ii) the “90% Broadband Segment Test” and
(iii) the “240 Channel Requirement.”
1.
50% Licensed Spectrum Test. To be eligible for a broadband license in a particular county, the Company must
demonstrate that it holds more than 50% of the outstanding licensed channels in the county. Because the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test is based
on licensed channels, any channels that are not licensed by the FCC are not included in the denominator when determining whether the Company
has satisfied this test. The FCC has licensed less than the maximum number of 399 channels in all but the most populous counties. As of the
date of this filing, the Company satisfies the 50% Licensed Spectrum Test in more than 3,100 counties of the 3,223 counties in the United States.
2.
90% Broadband Segment Test. The second test, the 90% Broadband Segment Test, addresses the balance between
a voluntary market process to clear any Covered Incumbent (i.e., holders of licenses in the broadband segment) and the mandatory relocation
process established by the FCC in the Report and Order (which applies to all Covered Incumbents, except for those Covered Incumbents
operating “Complex Systems” as described below). This test requires that the Company holds or has agreements with Covered Incumbents for
90% of the licensed channels in the broadband segment in a particular county and within 70 miles of the county’s boundaries before the FCC
will issue a broadband license or commence the mandatory retuning period. The broadband segment in the 900 MHz band has a total of 240
channels. The 90% Broadband Segment Test is calculated using outstanding licensed channels, which means that if the FCC has licensed all 240
channels, the Company will be required to have control of, or agreements covering, 216 channels within the broadband segment. In many
counties in the United States, the FCC has licensed fewer than 240 channels in the broadband segment and these unlicensed channels are not
included in the denominator when determining whether the Company has satisfied this 90% Broadband Segment Test.
Before filing for a broadband license, the Company must satisfy the 90% Broadband Segment Test by utilizing its channel
holdings and negotiating with Covered Incumbents on a purely voluntary basis for any additional channels we require to satisfy this test. Only
after the Company satisfies the 90% Broadband Segment Test will the FCC issue a broadband license to the Company and commence the
“Mandatory Retuning” period. During this period, any Covered Incumbents that remain in the broadband segment (other than Complex
Systems) are required to negotiate with the Company in good faith to sell its channels or otherwise clear the broadband segment, subject to
intervention by the FCC if the parties cannot reach an agreement.
3.
240 Channel Requirement. The Report and Order requires the broadband applicant to surrender 6 MHz of
broadband or narrowband spectrum (or 240 channels) in the applicable county to the FCC in exchange for a broadband license. If the Company
does not have sufficient channels in the county to return 240 channels to the FCC, it can elect to make an “Anti-Windfall
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Payment” to the U.S. Treasury to effectively purchase unlicensed channels in the FCC’s inventory. The Anti-Windfall Payment for these
channels will be based on prices paid in the applicable county in the 600 MHz auction conducted by the FCC.
Treatment of Complex Systems. The Report and Order exempts “Complex Systems” from the mandatory retuning process—even if
the Company meets the 90% Broadband Segment Test. The FCC defines a Complex System as a radio system that has at least 45 integrated
sites. The FCC exempted Complex Systems from the mandatory retuning requirements because retuning these systems would potentially be
more disruptive to the operators than retuning the smaller systems operated by other incumbents. Of the small number of systems that qualify
for this 45-site exemption, based on the Company’s calculation, all but one system belongs to utilities that the Company has identified as its
target customers.
The Association of American Railroads. The nation’s railroads, particularly the major freight lines, operate on six narrowband 900
MHz channels licensed to their trade association, the Association of American Railroads (“AAR”). Three of these narrowband channels are
located in the 900 MHz broadband segment created by the FCC. The Report and Order seems to acknowledge an agreement between the parties
by which AAR’s channels will be exchanged for a nationwide 10-channel license contributed by Anterix. The Company worked extensively
with the AAR and the railroads throughout the 900 MHz proceeding and expect them to work cooperatively with Anterix to clear their three
channels in the broadband segment as they become needed for broadband deployment.
Historical FCC Initiatives
The Company acquired 900 MHz spectrum and certain related equipment from Sprint in September 2014 for $100 million. While the
spectrum the Company initially purchased can support narrowband and wideband wireless services, the most significant business opportunities it
identified requires contiguous spectrum that allows for greater bandwidth than allowed by the current configuration of its spectrum. As a result,
since purchasing our 900 MHz spectrum in 2014, the Company pursued initiatives at the FCC seeking to modernize and realign a portion of the
900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity by allowing it to accommodate the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and
solutions. Specifically, in November 2014, the Company and the Enterprise Wireless Alliance (“EWA”) submitted a Joint Petition for
Rulemaking to the FCC to propose a realignment of a portion of the 900 MHz band to create a 6 MHz broadband authorization, while retaining 4
MHz for continued narrowband operations. Comments on the proposed rules were filed in June 2015 and reply comments in July 2015.
In August 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) announcing that it had commenced a proceeding to examine whether it
would be in the public interest to change the existing rules governing the 900 MHz band to increase access to spectrum, improve spectrum
efficiency and expand flexibility for a variety of potential uses and applications, including broadband and other advanced technologies and
services. The Company and EWA filed a joint response to the FCC’s NOI in October 2017 and reply comments in November 2017.
On March 14, 2019, the FCC unanimously adopted a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (the “NPRM”) that endorsed the Company’s
objective of creating a broadband opportunity in the 900 MHz band for critical infrastructure and other enterprise users. In the NPRM, the FCC
requested comments from incumbents and other interested parties on a number of important topics that would impact the timing and costs of
obtaining a broadband license. The Company filed comments to the NPRM in June 2019 and reply comments in July 2019.
As discussed above, on May 13, 2020, the FCC approved a Report and Order to modernize and realign the 900 MHz band to increase
its usability and capacity by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions.
Historical Business Operations
Historically, the Company generated revenue principally from our pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses. The Company
historically marketed pdvConnect, a mobile communication and workforce management solution, primarily through two Tier 1 carriers in the
United States. In Fiscal 2016, the Company began offering a commercial push-to-talk (“PTT”) service, which it marketed as TeamConnect, in
seven major metropolitan areas throughout the United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York
and Philadelphia. The Company primarily offered the TeamConnect service to customers indirectly through third-party sales representatives
who were primarily selected from Motorola’s nationwide dealer network.
In June 2018, the Company announced its plan to restructure our operations to align and focus its business priorities on the spectrum
initiatives. Consistent with this restructuring plan, the Company transferred its TeamConnect business and support obligations for the
pdvConnect business in December 2018. Specifically, the Company entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A
BEEP LLC (“A BEEP”) on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc.
(“Goosetown”) on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31,
2018. Under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements, the Company agreed to: (i) transfer its TeamConnect customers located in the Atlanta,
Chicago, Dallas, Houston and Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer its TeamConnect customers located in the
Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with access
to the TeamConnect Metro and Campus Systems (the “MotoTRBO Systems”) and (iv) grant A BEEP and Goosetown the right to resell access to
its MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements for a two-year period. The Company also granted
Goosetown a license to sell the business applications it developed for our TeamConnect service.
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The Company retained a number of significant obligations under our A BEEP and Goosetown agreements related to the TeamConnect
and pdvConnect businesses. To help ensure the transitioning of the TeamConnect customers, the Company continued to provide customer care,
billing and collection services through April 1, 2019. It is required to pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate the
MotoTRBO Systems for a two (2)-year period ending on January 2, 2021. By the end of this two-year period, A BEEP and Goosetown are
required to migrate their respective customers off of the MotoTRBO Systems. The Company is required to continue to pay the cell tower leases
for the TeamConnect networks it deployed for the balance of the lease terms. The Company also retained customer billing and collection
responsibility for the pdvConnect business.
Under the terms of the MOU, the Company assigned the intellectual property rights to its TeamConnect and pdvConnect related
applications to TeamConnect LLC (the “LLC”), a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange for a 19.5% ownership
interest in the LLC, effective April 30, 2019. The Goosetown Principals have agreed to fund the future operations of the LLC, subject to certain
limitations. The LLC assumed the Company’s software support and maintenance obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown
Agreements. The LLC also assumed customer care services related to the pdvConnect service. The Company provided transition services to the
LLC through April 1, 2019. The Company is also obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for a 24-month period ending on January 7,
2021 for its assumption of the support obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements. The Company is obligated to pay the LLC a
certain portion of the billed revenue it received from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month period.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000 and
recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the
assets as of such date. As of December 31, 2019, the Company also completed the transfer of its intellectual property rights with a net book
value of $174,000 to the LLC and recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $34,000 and loss on disposal of capitalized patent costs
amounting to $140,000 relating to the transfer of the intellectual property. For the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred
$942,000 and $331,000 of expenses under the MOU, respectively.
Please see Note 6, Equity Method Investment for additional disclosure relating to the Company’s investment in the LLC.
Follow-on Offering
In July 2019, the Company completed a registered follow-on offering in which it sold 2,222,223 shares of its common stock at a
purchase price to the public of $45.00 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $94.2 million after deducting $5.5 million in underwriting
discounts and commissions and $0.3 million in offering expenses.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates relate to allowance for doubtful accounts, estimated useful
lives of depreciable assets, asset retirement obligations, the carrying amount of long-lived assets under construction in process, valuation
allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets and recoverability of intangible assets. The Company is also required to make certain estimates
with regard to the valuation of awards and forfeiture rates for its share-based award programs. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the financial statements in the applicable period. Accordingly, actual results could
materially differ from those estimates.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including PDV
Spectrum Holding Company, LLC formed in April 2014. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the corresponding amounts in the financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2020. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported results of operations, cash flows,
assets, liabilities or equity for the years presented.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase are considered cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates the quoted market value and include amounts held in money market funds.
Accounts Receivable
The Company historically offered pdvConnect as a mobile workforce management application indirectly through two resellers. As of
March 31, 2020, the Company had one domestic carrier and one reseller that accounted for approximately 71% of total accounts receivable. As
of March 31, 2019, the Company had accounts receivable balances owed to us by one Tier 1 domestic carrier representing approximately 31% of
its accounts receivable balances.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
An allowance for uncollectible receivables is estimated based on a combination of write-off history, aging analysis and any specific
known troubled accounts. The Company reviews its allowance for uncollectible receivables on a quarterly basis. Past due balances meeting
specific criteria are reviewed individually for collectability.
Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized below (in thousands):
2020

Balance at beginning of the year
Bad debt expense
Write-offs
Recoveries
Balance at end of the year

$

2019

77 $
41
(69)
(37)
12 $

$

29
218
(156)
(14)
77

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the assets or the applicable lease term. The carrying amount at the balance sheet date of long-lived assets under construction in
process includes assets purchased, constructed or being developed internally that are not yet in service. Depreciation commences when the
assets are placed in service. Depreciation rates for assets are updated periodically to account for changes, if any, in the estimated useful lives of
the assets, lease terms, management’s strategic objectives, estimated residual values or obsolescence. Changes in estimates will result in
adjustments to depreciation expense prospectively.
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations
An asset retirement obligation is evaluated and recorded as appropriate on assets for which the Company has a legal obligation to retire.
The Company records a liability for an asset retirement obligation and the associated asset retirement cost at the time the underlying asset is
acquired and put into service. Subsequent to the initial measurement of the asset retirement obligation, the obligation is adjusted at the end of
each period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation, if any. Over time, the
liability is accreted to its present value and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset.
The Company enters into long-term leasing arrangements primarily for tower site locations. The Company constructs assets at these
locations and, in accordance with the terms of many of these agreements, the Company is obligated to restore the premises to their original
condition at the conclusion of the agreements, generally at the demand of the other party to these agreements. The Company recognizes the fair
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation and capitalizes that cost as part of the cost basis of the related asset, depreciating it over the
useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any difference between the cost to retire the asset and the recorded liability is
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company revised its asset retirement obligations accrual to $0.9 million based on estimated future cash
flows.
Changes in the liability for the asset retirement obligations for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized below (in
thousands):
2020

Balance at beginning of the year
Revision of estimate
Accretion expense
Balance at end of the year
Less amount classified as current - included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Noncurrent liabilities - included in other liabilities

$

$

2019

328
557
1
886
246
640

$

$

316
—
12
328
—
328

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are wireless licenses that will be used to provide the Company with the exclusive right to utilize designated radio
frequency spectrum to provide wireless communication services. While licenses are issued for only a fixed time, generally ten years, such
licenses are subject to renewal by the FCC. License renewals have occurred routinely and at nominal cost in the past. There are currently no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the useful life of the Company’s wireless licenses. As a result,
the Company has determined that the wireless licenses should be treated as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. The Company will evaluate the
useful life determination for its wireless licenses each year to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support their treatment as
an indefinite useful life asset.
The licenses are tested for impairment on an aggregate basis, as the Company will be utilizing the wireless licenses on an integrated
basis as a part of developing broadband. For the year ended March 31, 2019, (“Fiscal 2019”), the Company performed a step one quantitative
impairment test to determine if the fair value is greater than carrying value. Estimated fair value is determined
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using a market-based approach. In the year ended March 31, 2020, (“Fiscal 2020”), the Company performed a step zero qualitative approach to
test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the
fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform quantitative impairment
testing.
Patent Costs
Costs to acquire a patent on certain aspects of the Company’s technology have been capitalized. These amounts are amortized, subject
to periodic evaluation for impairment, over statutory lives following award of the patent. Gross patent costs were approximately $572,000 at
March 31, 2019 and the associated accumulated amortization amounted to approximately $388,000. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
completed the transfer of intellectual property rights with a net book value of $174,000 in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest to the
LLC. Amortization expense was approximately $10,000 and $13,000 for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Long-Lived Assets and Right of Use Assets Impairment
The Company evaluates long-lived assets, including right of use assets, other than intangible assets with indefinite lives, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Asset groups are
determined at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other groups of assets and
liabilities. When the carrying amount of the asset groups are not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal
to the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over the estimated fair value. As of March 31, 2020, the Company recorded a $46,000 non-cash
impairment charge for long-lived assets consisting of $35,000 for property and equipment and $11,000 for a right of use asset to reduce the
carrying values to zero. As of March 31, 2019, the Company recorded a $0.7 million non-cash charge for long-lived asset impairment of its
radio assets to reduce the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount.
Equity Method Investment
The Company’s 19.5% investment in the LLC for which the Company is not the primary beneficiary and does not influence or control
the activities that most significantly impact the LLC’s economic performance, are not consolidated and are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the LLC’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets and statements of operations. The Company's share of the earnings of the LLC is reported as income (loss) on equity method investment
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s carrying value in an equity method investment is reported as equity
method investment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
If the Company’s carrying value in an equity method is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements unless the Company guarantees obligations of the LLC or commits additional funding. When the LLC subsequently reports
income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously recognized.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are carried at
cost, which management believes approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments.
Leases
Leases in which the Company is the lessee are comprised of corporate office space and tower space. Substantially all of the leases are
classified as operating leases. The Company is obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various
dates from October 31, 2024 through June 30, 2027, which includes lease extensions ranging from three to ten-years for its corporate
headquarters. The Company entered into multiple lease agreements for tower space related to its spectrum holdings.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02 Leases (“ASC
842”), the Company recognized right of use (“ROU”) assets and corresponding lease liabilities on its Consolidated Balance Sheets for its
operating lease agreements. The Company elected the package of practical expedients for its long-term operating leases, which permits the
Company not to reassess under the new standard the prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when a contract with a customer exists and control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the
Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services and the
identified performance obligation has been satisfied.
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the unit of account in
Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (“ASC 606”). A contract’s transaction price is allocated to
each distinct performance obligation and is recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied, which typically occurs
when the services are rendered. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct
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performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment. The Company’s contracts
with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Company allocates revenue to each performance
obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. It generally determines standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers under contracts involving only the relevant performance obligation. Judgment may be used to determine the standalone selling prices
for items that are not sold separately, including services provided at no additional charge. Most of the Company’s performance obligations are
satisfied over time as services are provided.
The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if it expects the benefit of those
costs to be longer than one year. The Company determined that certain sales commissions meet the requirements to be capitalized and were
recorded as an asset upon the Company’s adoption of ASC 606. As a result of the customers being assigned to A BEEP and Goosetown (see
Note 3 below), the Company’s capitalized sales commissions were impaired on April 1, 2019.
Direct Cost of Revenue
The Company’s historical direct cost of revenue related to its TeamConnect service offering includes the costs of operating its dispatch
network and its cloud-based solutions and to a lesser degree, the costs associated with the sales of the relevant user devices. With respect to
sales of its historical software applications through its wireless carrier partners, direct cost of revenue includes the portion of service revenue
retained by its domestic Tier 1 carrier partners pursuant to its agreements with these parties, which may include network services, connectivity,
SMS service, sales, marketing, billing and other ancillary services.
Shipping and Handling Costs
Historically, costs associated with shipping and handling of two-way radios and accessories to dealers or end-user customers are
recognized as incurred and included in direct cost of revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Indirect Sales Commissions
Cash considerations paid to its sales team and indirect dealers were capitalized as part of contract costs and amortized on a straight-line
basis over the customer’s estimated contract period, which was an average of 24 months. The Company compensated its indirect sales
representatives with an upfront commission and residual fees based on a customer’s continued use of its TeamConnect service. When a
commission was earned solely due to selling activity related to the Company’s TeamConnect service, the cost was capitalized as part of contract
costs. The Company reviewed and recorded the estimated incentives payable to the indirect sales representatives as accrued expense on a
monthly basis. As a result of the customers being transferred to A BEEP and Goosetown, all contract and contract acquisition costs were
impaired on April 1, 2019.
Product Development Costs
The Company charges all product and development costs to expense as incurred. Types of expense incurred in product and
development costs include employee compensation, consulting, travel and equipment and technology costs.
Advertising and Promotional Expense
The Company expenses advertising and promotional costs as incurred. Cooperative advertising reimbursements from vendors are
recorded net of advertising and promotional expense in the period in which the related advertising and promotional expense is incurred.
Advertising and promotional expense was approximately $33,000 and $39,000 for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Stock Compensation
The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense, based on the estimated fair value of awards granted to consultants, employees and directors. The Company estimates the
fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately
expected to vest is recognized as expense in the Company’s statements of operations over the requisite service periods. In the event the
participant’s employment by or engagement with (as a director or otherwise) the Company terminates before exercise of the options granted, the
stock options granted to the participant shall immediately expire and all rights to purchase shares thereunder shall immediately cease and expire
and be of no further force or effect, other than applicable exercise rights for vested shares that may extend past the termination date as provided
for in the participant’s applicable option award agreement. Additionally, the Compensation Committee adopted an Executive Severance Plan
(the “Severance Plan”) in February 2015, which was amended in February 2019, and the Company subsequently entered into Severance Plan
Participation Agreements with its executive officers. In addition to providing participants with severance payments, the Severance Plan provides
for accelerated vesting and extends the exercise period for outstanding equity awards if the Company terminates a participant’s service for
reasons other than cause, death or disability or the participant terminates his or her service for good reason, whether before or after a change of
control (each of such terms as defined in the Severance Plan).
To calculate option-based compensation, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company’s determination of
fair value of option-based awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model is affected by assumptions regarding a number of
subjective variables.
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The fair value of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units are measured based upon the quoted closing market price
for the stock on the date of grant. The compensation cost for the restricted stock and restricted stock units is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period. The compensation cost for the performance units is recognized when the performance criteria are expected to be
complete.
No tax benefits have been attributed to the share-based compensation expense because the Company maintains a full valuation
allowance for all net deferred tax assets.
All excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies, including tax benefits of dividends on share-based payment awards, are recognized as
income tax expense or benefit in the income statement, eliminating the notion of the additional paid-in capital (“APIC”) pool. The excess tax
benefits are classified as operating activities along with other income tax cash flows rather than financing activities in the statement of cash
flows. The tax effects of exercised or vested awards are treated as discrete items in the reporting period in which they occur. Cash payments to
tax authorities in connection with shares withheld to meet statutory tax withholding requirements are presented as a financing activity in the
statement of cash flows.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for the
Company’s Fiscal 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its accumulated
deficit by $188,000
Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of
assets and liabilities as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established when it is estimated
that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Changes in valuation allowance for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized below (in thousands):
2020

Balance at beginning of the year
Charged to costs and expenses
Changes in net loss carryforward and other
Balance at end of the year

$

$

2019

37,019
2,399
8,246
47,664

$

$

26,515
685
9,819
37,019

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
The Company recognizes the effect of tax positions only when they are more likely than not to be sustained. Management has
determined that the Company had no uncertain tax positions that would require financial statement recognition or disclosure. The Company is
no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations for periods prior to 2017. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. For purposes of the diluted net
loss per share calculation, preferred stock, convertible notes payable-affiliated entities, stock options, restricted stock and warrants are
considered to be potentially dilutive securities. Because the Company has reported a net loss for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019,
diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for those periods.
Common stock equivalents resulting from potentially dilutive securities approximated 1,440,000 and 1,421,000 at March 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, and have not been included in the dilutive weighted average shares of common stock outstanding, as their effects are antidilutive.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASC 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses and has subsequently modified several areas of the
standard in order to provide additional clarity and improvements. The new standard requires entities to use a Current Expected Credit Loss
impairment model based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under this model, an entity would recognize an impairment allowance
equal to its current estimate of all contractual cash flows that the entity does not expect to collect from financial assets measured at amortized
cost within the scope of the standard. The entity's estimate would consider relevant information about past events, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts, which will result in recognition of lifetime expected credit losses. As a smaller reporting company, the
standard will be effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning April 2023, including
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interim reporting periods within that fiscal year, although early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact that ASC
326 and subsequent modifications may have on its consolidated financial statements.
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standard-setting bodies that do not require adoption
until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting for Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASC 842, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases for both lessees and lessors. Originally, entities were required to adopt ASU 2016-02 using a modified retrospective
approach at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements and the recognition of a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. The FASB subsequently issued ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-11 in July 2018, which
provide clarifications and improvements to ASU 2016-02 (collectively, the “new lease standard”). ASU 2018-11 also provides the optional
transition method which allows companies to apply the new lease standard at the adoption date instead of at the earliest comparative period
presented and continue to apply the provisions of the previous lease standard in its annual disclosures for the comparative periods. The new
lease standard requires lessees to present a ROU asset and a corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet. Lessor accounting is substantially
unchanged compared to the current accounting guidance. Additional footnote disclosures related to leases will also be required.
On April 1, 2019, the Company adopted the new lease standard using the optional transition method. The comparative financial
information will not be restated and will continue to be reported under the previous lease standard in effect during those periods. In addition, the
new lease standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company elected the package of practical expedients.
As such, the Company will not reassess whether expired or existing contracts are or contain a lease; will not need to reassess the lease
classifications or reassess the initial direct costs associated with expired or existing leases. The Company did not elect the use of hindsight or the
practical expedient pertaining to land easements; the latter not being applicable to the Company.
The new lease standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. The Company elected the short-term
lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, the Company will not recognize ROU assets or
lease liabilities, including not recognizing ROU assets or lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition. The
Company elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for certain classes of assets (office buildings).
On April 1, 2019, the Company recognized ROU assets of $7.1 million and lease liabilities of approximately $9.4 million, derecognized
deferred rent liabilities of approximately $2.3 million and did not record an adjustment to accumulated deficit. As of March 31, 2019, deferred
rent liabilities were reported under accounts payable and accrued expenses – other amounting to $0.2 million and non-current other liabilities
amounting to $2.1 million. When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Company discounted lease
payments using its estimated incremental borrowing rate at April 1, 2019. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied was 13%.
The Company’s adoption of the new lease standard did not impact its consolidated statements of operations and its statements of cash
flows. No cumulative effect adjustment was recognized as the amount was not material.
3. Revenue
In December 2018, the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) approved the transfer of its TeamConnect business and support for
its pdvConnect business to help reduce operating costs and to allow the Company to focus on its FCC initiatives and future broadband
opportunities. Specifically, the Company entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A BEEP on January 2, 2019, (ii) a
Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a MOU with the principals of Goosetown
on December 31, 2018. Under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements, the Company agreed to: (i) transfer its TeamConnect customers located
in the Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, Houston and Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer its TeamConnect customers located in the
Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with access
to MotoTRBO Systems and (iv) grant A BEEP and Goosetown the right to resell access to the MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate Mobile
Virtual Network Operation arrangements for a two-year period. The Company also granted Goosetown a license to sell the business applications
the Company developed for its TeamConnect service. On March 31, 2019, the agreements were amended to formally set the transition date for
the businesses as April 1, 2019 and to clarify the responsibilities between the parties.
Under these agreements, A BEEP and Goosetown agreed to provide customer care, billing and collection services for their respective
acquired customers. The Company continued to provide these services through April 1, 2019 to help facilitate the transitioning of the acquired
customers. Additionally, the Company is required to maintain and pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate the
MotoTRBO Systems for a two-year period. As part of the Company’s efforts to clear the 900 MHz spectrum for broadband use, A BEEP and
Goosetown are required to migrate the acquired customers off the MotoTRBO Systems over
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the two-year period. In consideration for the customers and rights the Company transferred, A BEEP and Goosetown are required to pay a
certain portion of the recurring revenues they receive from the acquired customers ranging from 100% to 20% during the terms of the
agreements. Additionally, A BEEP is required to pay the Company a portion of recurring revenue from customers who utilize A BEEP’s pushto-talk Diga-talk Plus application service ranging from 35% to 15% for a period of two years. Goosetown is required to pay the Company 20%
of recurring revenues from the TeamConnect applications it licensed for a period of two years.
On April 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method and recognized the cumulative effect of
initially applying the guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained deficit. The Company applied the new revenue standard to
new and existing contracts that were not complete as of the date of initial application. As a result of applying this standard using the modified
retrospective method, the Company has presented financial results and applied its accounting policies for the period beginning April 1, 2018
under ASC 606.
As a result of adopting ASC 606, on April 1, 2018, the Company recorded a reduction of $0.8 million to its accumulated deficit. The
most significant drivers of the adjustment included the Company’s change in accounting policy related to the deferral of costs to obtain a
contract. The Company is required to capitalize certain contract acquisition costs that relate directly to a customer contract, and recognize such
costs as an asset, including commissions paid to its sales team and indirect dealers, and to amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the
customer’s estimated contract period, which is an average of 24 months. The Company previously expensed these contract acquisition costs as
incurred in selling, general and administrative expenses. Management assesses these costs and the related asset carrying value for impairment on
a quarterly basis.
In accordance with ASC 606, when the customer purchased or received a discounted handset in connection with entering into a contract
for service, the Company allocated revenue between the handset and the service based on the relative standalone selling price. Revenue was
recognized when the performance obligation which includes providing the services or transferring control of promised handsets, which are
distinct to a customer, had been satisfied. Revenue was recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be
entitled to for those performance obligations.
Service Revenue. The Company has historically derived its service revenue from a fixed monthly recurring unit price per user, with
30-day payment terms, for its pdvConnect, TeamConnect and Diga-talk service offerings.
pdvConnect is a proprietary cloud-based mobile resource management solution which has historically been sold as a separate softwareas-a-service offering for dispatch-centric business customers who utilize Tier 1 cellular networks, and to a lesser extent, who utilize land mobile
radio networks not operated by the Company. pdvConnect was historically sold directly by the Company or through two Tier 1 domestic
carriers. The service is contracted and billed on a month-to-month basis, and the Company satisfies its performance obligation over time as the
services are delivered.
TeamConnect combines pdvConnect with push-to-talk (“PTT”) mobile communication services involving digital network architecture
and mobile devices. The contract period for the TeamConnect service varies from a month-to-month basis to 24 months. The customer is billed
at the beginning of each month of the contract term. The Company recognizes revenue as it satisfies its performance obligation over time as the
services are delivered. On April 1, 2019, these customers were transitioned to A BEEP and Goosetown. A BEEP and Goosetown agreed to pay
the Company a certain portion of the recurring revenues during the term of the agreements. While the customer remains on the Company’s
MotoTRBO Systems, the portion of recurring revenues paid by A BEEP and Goosetown is recorded as revenue.
Diga-talk is a mobile communication offering that was being resold by the Company beginning in March 2018. The service was
contracted and billed on a month-to-month basis. The determination was made that the Company was the principal in this reseller arrangement
since the customer viewed the Company as fulfilling the performance obligations and therefore, recorded revenue on a gross basis over time
upon delivery of the services. On April 1, 2019, these customers were transferred to A BEEP and the Company no longer has revenue for this
offering.
Spectrum Revenue. In September 2014, Motorola paid the Company an upfront, fully-paid fee of $7.5 million in order to use a
portion of the Company’s wireless spectrum licenses. The payment of the fee is accounted for as deferred revenue on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets and is recognized ratably as the service is provided over the contractual term of approximately ten years. The
revenue recognized for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $729,000 each year.
Other Revenue. The Company historically derived other revenue primarily from either the sale of radios and accessories for
TeamConnect and Diga-talk as well as the rental of radios for TeamConnect based on 30-day payment terms. The Company recognizes radio
and accessory revenue when a customer takes possession of the device. As of April 1, 2019, and the transition of customers to A BEEP and
Goosetown, the Company no longer sells radios and accessories nor rents radios.
Contract Assets. Contract assets include the portion of the Company’s future service invoices which have been allocated to the
discounted price of the radios and amortized as a reduction against service revenue over the contract period.
As of March 31, 2019, the Company had $0.3 million in total contract assets, of which $0.1 million was classified as a component of
prepaid expenses and other current assets in its condensed consolidated balance sheets for both periods. The amortization of the contract asset
for the year ended March 31, 2019 was not significant.
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The Company also recognizes a contract asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. These costs include
commissions for salespeople and commissions paid to third-party dealers. These costs are amortized ratably using the portfolio approach over
the estimated customer contract period. The Company reviews the contract asset on a periodic basis to determine if an impairment exists. If it is
determined that there is an impairment, the contract asset will be expensed. Under the previous accounting standard, the Company expensed
commissions as incurred. As of March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018, the Company had $0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively, of deferred
costs related to expenses required to obtain or fulfill a contract. Of these total deferred costs, as of March 31, 2019, $0.3 million was recorded as
a component of prepaid and other current assets. As of April 1, 2019, $0.4 million were recorded as a component of prepaid and other current
assets. In addition, the Company recorded $0.5 million resulting from the amortization of its contract assets during the year ended March 31,
2019 in selling, general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statement of operations.
As a result of transferring customers to A BEEP and Goosetown, all contract and contract acquisition costs were impaired. The
Company increased direct cost of revenue amounting to $178,000 for the year ended March 31, 2020 and sales and support expense amounting
to $258,000 for the year ended March 31, 2020.
The following table presents the activity for the Company’s contract assets (in thousands):

Contract Assets

Balance as of April 1, 2018
Additions
Amortization
Impairment
Balance at March 31, 2019
Additions
Amortization
Impairment
Balance at March 31, 2020

$

768
284
(558)
(58)
436
—
—
(436)
—

$

Contract liabilities. Contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from customers for spectrum services, for
which revenue is recognized over time, as the services are performed. These contract liabilities are recorded as deferred revenue on the balance
sheet. The related liability as of March 31, 2019 of $4.2 million has been reduced by revenue recognized in the year ended March 31, 2020 of
$0.7 million leaving a remaining liability of $3.5 million as of March 31, 2020.
4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Estimated
useful life

Network sites and equipment
Furniture and fixture and other equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements

5-10 years
2-5 years
5-7 years
1-7 years
Shorter of the lease term or 10
years

2020

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Construction in process
Property and equipment, net

$

16,242
300
163
550
234
17,489
10,518
6,971
29
7,000

2019

$

$

15,954
1,026
140
28
351
17,499
7,952
9,547
283
9,830

Depreciation expense for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 amounted to approximately $3.6 million and $2.8 million,
respectively. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company adjusted the estimated asset retirement obligations resulting in additional
non-cash capitalized costs in network sites amounting to approximately $0.6 million. In addition, for the year
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ended March 31, 2020, the Company also adjusted the estimated useful life for its network sites resulting in additional depreciation expense
amounting to approximately $1.1 million.
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded a $46,000 non-cash impairment charge for network sites and equipment
to reduce the carrying values to zero. During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company recorded a $0.8 million non-cash charge for longlived asset impairment of its radio assets to reduce the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount.
As of March 31, 2019, construction in progress primarily relates to various software and web projects being developed internally.
On September 30, 2019, the Company transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000 to the
LLC to support the pdvConnect application services in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest.
5. Intangible Assets
Wireless licenses are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization but
instead are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event indicates that the asset might be impaired. There were on impairment
charges related to the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets during the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.
During the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company entered into agreements with several third parties in multiple U.S.
markets to acquire wireless licenses for cash consideration of $4.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively, upon FCC approval. In addition,
during the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company entered into a barter agreement whereby it provided equipment with a net book value of
$21,000 and approximately $15,000 in cash in exchange for wireless licenses valued at approximately $88,000. The Company recorded a
corresponding gain of $52,000.
Intangible assets consist of the following at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Wireless Licenses

Balance at March 31, 2018
Acquisitions
Balance at March 31, 2019
Acquisitions
Reclassed to property and equipment
Balance at March 31, 2020

$

106,606
942
107,548
3,983
(5)
111,526

$

6. Equity Method Investment
In connection with the transfer of its TeamConnect business and support for its pdvConnect business, the Company entered into a
memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. Under the MOU, the Company agreed to
assign the intellectual property rights to its pdvConnect application to the LLC, a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange
for a 19.5% ownership interest in the LLC, effective April 30, 2019. The Goosetown principals have agreed to fund the future operations of the
LLC, subject to certain limitations. The LLC assumed the Company’s software support and maintenance obligations under the Goosetown and
A BEEP Agreements. The LLC also assumed customer care services related to the Company’s pdvConnect application. The Company provided
transition services to the LLC through April 1, 2019 to facilitate an orderly transition of the customer care services.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000 and
recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the
assets as of such date. As of December 31, 2019, the Company also completed the transfer of the intellectual property rights with a net book
value of $174,000 to the LLC and recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $34,000 and loss on disposal of capitalized patent costs
amounting to $140,000 relating to the transfer of the intellectual property.
As of March 31, 2020, the change in the carrying value of the investment in LLC is summarized below as follows (in thousands):

Equity Method Investment

Equity method investment carrying value at March 31, 2019
Non-cash contribution
Share of net loss from LLC
Equity method investment carrying value at March 31, 2020

$

$

—
48
(9)
39
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7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
The table below provides additional information related to the Company’s accounts payable and accrued expenses at March 31, 2020
and March 31, 2019 (in thousands).
2020

Accounts payable
Accrued employee related expenses
Accrued expenses
Other
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

$

2019

645
3,016
1,328
660
5,649

$

743
2,623
825
915
5,106

$

8. Related Party Transactions
Under the terms of the MOU, the Company is obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for a 24-month period ending on January
7, 2021 for its assumption of the Company’s support obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown agreements. The Company is also obligated
to pay the LLC a certain portion of the billed revenue received by the Company from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month period. For the
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred payments of $942,000 and $331,000 under the MOU, respectively. As of and
March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company owed $12,000 and $118,000 to the LLC, respectively.
The Company purchased $11,000 and $0.4 million of equipment from Motorola for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The Company recognized approximately $729,000 each year in Spectrum revenue for the years ended March 31, 2020 and
2019. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company owed $98,000 and $60,000 to Motorola, respectively.
During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company incurred $141,000 in consulting fees to a consultant firm who is an affiliate of a
significant holder of the Company. No such services were provided and owed to the consulting firm for the year ended March 31, 2020.
9. Impairment and Restructuring Charges
Long-lived Assets and Right of Use Assets Impairment
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded a $46,000 non-cash impairment charge for long-lived assets consisting
of $35,000 for property and equipment and $11,000 for a right of use asset to reduce the carrying values to zero.
During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company reviewed assets designated for its TeamConnect business. As a result of the
Company’s transfer of the TeamConnect business, it determined that the carrying value of radios and related accessories were not fully
recoverable. As a result, the Company recorded a non-cash asset impairment charge of $0.8 million for the year ending March 31, 2019, to
reduce the carrying value of these assets to zero.
Restructuring Charges
April 2018 and June 2018 Restructuring Activities
In April 2018, the Company announced a shift in its focus and resources in order to pursue its regulatory initiatives at the FCC and
prepare for the future deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and services. In light of this shift in focus, the Company’s
Board also approved a chief executive officer transition plan, under which, John Pescatore, the Company’s chief executive officer and president,
transitioned to the position of vice chairman and Morgan O’Brien, the Company’s then-current vice chairman, assumed the position as the new
chief executive officer. In connection with the transition, the Company and Mr. Pescatore entered into a Continued Service, Consulting and
Transition Agreement and a separate Consulting Agreement (the “CEO Transition Agreements”) and the Company also entered into additional
consulting and transition agreements with several other key employees. As of March 31, 2019, the Company recorded a liability of $2.7 million,
of which $2.1 million is reflected as restructuring reserve and $0.6 million in other non-current liabilities, for the cash payments under both the
CEO Transition Agreements with Mr. Pescatore and the consulting and transition agreements with other key employees payable within the next
twelve to eighteen months. In addition, for the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company recorded a non-cash $1.7 million charge for stock
compensation expense due to modifications to the key employee stock grants recorded in restructuring costs. For the year ended March 31,
2019, the Company recorded a non-cash $4.6 million charge for stock compensation expense due to modifications to Mr. Pescatore’s stock
grants and the key employee stock grants.
On June 1, 2018, the Company’s Board approved an initial plan to restructure its business aimed at reducing the operating costs of its
TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses and better aligning and focusing its business priorities on its spectrum initiatives. As part of the
restructuring plan, the Company eliminated approximately 20 positions, or 20% of its workforce, primarily from its TeamConnect and
pdvConnect businesses. In August 2018, the Company continued with its restructuring efforts and eliminated approximately seven additional
positions.
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For the year ended March 31, 2020, total accrued restructuring charges for the April 2018 and June 2018 restructuring activities were as
follows (in thousands):

Restructuring Activities

Balance at March 31, 2018
Severance costs
Consulting costs
Facility exit
Cash payments
Balance at March 31, 2019
Cash payments
Balance at March 31, 2020 (classified as current liabilities - restructuring reserve)

$

—
408
3,721
3
(1,477)
2,655
(2,090)
565

$

December 2018 Cost Reductions
On December 31, 2018, the Company’s Board approved the following cost reduction actions: (i) the elimination of approximately 20
positions, or 30% of the Company’s workforce and (ii) the closure of its office in San Diego, California (collectively, the “December 2018 CostReduction Actions”). For the year ended March 31, 2020, the company recorded an additional restructuring charge relating to the December
2018 Cost-Reduction Actions amounting to $0.2 million related to employee severance and benefit costs. For the year ended March 31, 2020,
the Company reduced the facility exit costs accrual for its San Diego, California office by approximately $28,000. An additional $43,000 of
restructuring charges will be incurred through the third quarter of fiscal 2021 related to employee retention costs. The Company completed the
cost reduction and restructuring actions in July 2019 and the related cash payments for severance costs was completed by the end of August
2019.
For the year ended March 31, 2020, total December 2018 cost reduction charges were as follows (in thousands):

Restructuring Activities

Balance at March 31, 2018
Severance costs
Facility exit
Cash payments
Balance at March 31, 2019
Severance costs
Facility exit
Cash payments
Balance at March 31, 2020 (classified as current liabilities - restructuring reserve)

$

—
794
110
(225)
679
223
(28)
(803)
71

$

10. Leases
A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. On April 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 and it primarily affected the accounting treatment for operating
lease agreements in which the Company is the lessee.
Substantially all the leases in which the Company is the lessee are comprised of corporate office space and tower space. The Company
is obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various dates from October 14, 2024 through June 30,
2027, which includes lease extensions for its corporate headquarters ranging from three to ten-years. The Company entered into multiple lease
agreements for tower space related to its TeamConnect business. The lease expiration dates range from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2026.
Substantially all of the Company’s leases are classified as operating leases, and as such, were previously not recognized on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. With the adoption of ASC 842, operating lease agreements are required to be recognized on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as ROU assets and corresponding lease liabilities.
On April 1, 2019, the Company recognized ROU assets of $7.1 million and lease liabilities of approximately $9.4 million and
derecognized deferred rent liabilities of approximately $2.3 million. As of March 31, 2019, deferred rent liabilities were reported under accounts
payable and accrued expenses – other amounting to $0.2 million and non-current other liabilities amounting to $2.1 million. The Company
elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term office leases, leases with initial terms of twelve months or less
(deemed immaterial) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
ROU assets include any prepaid lease payments and exclude any lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Lease expense for
minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease terms may include options to extend or terminate
the lease if it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.
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For the year ending March 31, 2020, the Company recorded an $11,000 non-cash charge impairment for an ROU asset to reduce the
carrying value to zero. The lease relating to the ROU asset impaired will expire in June 2020.
When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Company discounted lease payments using its
estimated incremental borrowing rate on April 1, 2019. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied was 13%. As of March 31,
2020, the Company’s leases had a remaining weighted average term of 4.97 years.
Rent expense amounted to approximately $2.7 million and $2.8 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively of
which approximately $1.7 million each year are included in direct cost of revenue and the remainder of approximately $1.0 million and $1.1
million included in general and administrative, respectively.
For the year ended March 31, 2020, the following table presents net lease cost (in thousands):

2020

Lease cost
Operating lease cost (cost resulting from lease payments)
Short term lease cost
Sublease income
Net lease cost

$

2,614
52
(16)
2,650

$

For the year ended March 31, 2020, the following table presents other supplemental lease information (in thousands):
2020

Operating lease - operating cash flows (fixed payments)
Operating lease - operating cash flows (liability reduction)
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
Non-current assets - right of use assets, net
Current liabilities - operating lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities - operating lease liabilities

$
$
$
$
$
$

2,743
1,447
7,904
6,500
1,695
7,051

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable leases for office and tower spaces (exclusive of real estate tax, utilities, maintenance
and other costs borne by the Company) for the remaining terms of the leases following the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows (in
thousands):
Operating
Leases

Fiscal Year

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
After 2025
Total future minimum lease payments
Amount representing interest
Present value of net future minimum lease payments

$

$

2,703
2,300
2,135
1,920
1,532
1,373
11,963
(3,217)
8,746

11. Income Taxes
On December 22, 2017, new federal tax provisions under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) were signed into law. The
TCJA includes numerous changes to existing corporate income tax laws. These changes include, among others, a permanent reduction in the
federal corporate income tax rate from the highest marginal rate of 35% to a fixed rate of 21%, effective as of January 1, 2018, and a provision
that federal net operating losses (“NOLs”) incurred in tax years ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely. The
federal NOL carryforward provision of TCJA has now changed (see Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security, (“CARES”) Act narrative
below). As a result, the Company may now consider indefinite lived assets and the associated deferred tax liability as a source of future taxable
income when assessing the potential to realize future tax deductions from indefinite carryforwards of NOLs and interest expense.
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On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law. The Act contains several new or changed income tax provisions, including
but not limited to the following: increased limitation threshold for determining deductible interest expense, class life changes to qualified
improvements (in general, from 39 years to 15 years), and the ability to carry back net operating losses incurred from tax years 2018 through
2020 up to the five preceding tax years. Most of these provisions are either not applicable or have no material effect on the Company. However,
the CARES Act changed the language of when NOLs converted from a 20-year life to an indefinite life. From the TCJA rule noted above,
NOLs in tax periods ending after December 31, 2017 had an indefinite life. Under the new CARES Act, NOLs generated in periods beginning
after December 31, 2017 are carried forward indefinitely. This dating change effectively disqualified the Company's March 31, 2018 NOL as an
indefinite lived asset and source of taxable income to offset the Company's deferred tax liability stemming from indefinite-lived intangibles. The
Company's NOLs generated after March 31, 2018, may continue to be used as an indefinite-lived asset to offset the deferred tax liability, but
limited to 80% of future taxable income (or the balance of the deferred tax liability as of March 31, 2020). The total impact of this date change
from the CARES Act increased the Company's net federal deferred tax liability from approximately $0.2 million to $1.6 million as of March 31,
2020. The state deferred tax liability of approximately $1.4 million as of March 31, 2020 is unchanged.
For the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company had federal and state NOL carryforwards of approximately $164.0 million and $74.0
million, respectively, expiring in various amounts from 2020 through 2038, to offset future taxable income. Federal and state NOLs generated
during the March 31, 2019 period of approximately $38.5 million and $6.0 million, respectively, can be carried forward indefinitely but limited
to 80% of future taxable income when used. For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company incurred federal and state operating losses of
approximately $48.1 million and $38.8 million, respectively, to offset future taxable income, of which the entire $48.1 million federal NOL and
$9.2 million of state NOLs can be carried forward indefinitely, but can only offset 80% of taxable income when used.
The Company has net deferred tax assets, before applying the valuation allowance, of approximately $44.6 million and $36.3 million
relating principally to the NOLs as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Federal NOL carryforwards may be subject to limitations as a
result of the change in ownership that occurred in the year ended March 31, 2015 as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.
State NOL carryforwards are subject to limitations which differ from federal law in that they may not allow the carryback of net operating
losses and have shorter carryforward periods.
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, Income Taxes, requires that a valuation allowance be recorded to reduce deferred tax
assets when it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The evaluation includes the consideration
of all available evidence, both positive and negative, regarding historical operating results including recent years with reported losses, the
estimated timing of future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, estimated future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary
differences and carryforwards, and potential tax planning strategies which may be employed to prevent an operating loss or tax credit
carryforward from expiring unused. Since the Company has incurred tax losses since inception, combined with a lack of sufficient positive
evidence factors at this time, the Company believes it is more likely than not that its net deferred tax assets will not be realized upon reversal of
its temporary differences. Therefore, the Company continues to apply a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of March 31,
2020, with the exception of the net deferred tax liability of approximately $3.1 million regarding indefinite-lived intangibles.
For Fiscal 2020, analysis of the state NOL carryforwards revealed that most of them are not indefinite. The Company recorded $0.8
million of state deferred tax expense during the year March 31, 2020 and increased the state deferred tax liability by the same amount from the
inability to use the state NOL carryforwards against the indefinite-lived intangible. This valuation allowance has no effect on the Company’s
ability to utilize the deferred tax assets to offset future taxable income, if generated. As required by U.S. GAAP, the Company will continue to
assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be realizable in the future and the valuation allowance will be adjusted accordingly. The tax
benefits relating to any reversal of the valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets in a future period will be recognized as a reduction of
future income tax expense in that period.
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Net deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

2020

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Accrued expenses
Restructuring reserve
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue
Asset retirement obligations
Net operating loss carryforward
Operating lease liabilities
Charitable contributions carryforward
Stock compensation expense
Total deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment
Right of use assets
Definite-lived intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
Total deferred tax liability
Total deferred tax assets and liabilities
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities

$

2019

3
682
83
—
855
10
51,694
2,289
62
809
56,487

$

$

19
386
820
569
1,034
10
40,739
—
58
786
44,421

(7)
(1,701)
—
(10,199)
(11,907)
44,580
(47,664)
(3,084) $

(264)
—
(6)
(7,817)
(8,087)
36,334
(37,019)
(685)

The components of the income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):
2020

Current:
Federal
State
Total current

$

2019

—
3
3

Deferred:
Federal
State
Total deferred

$

1,637
762
2,399

Total income tax expense

$

2,402

—
3
3

—
685
685
$

688

The differences between the United States federal statutory tax rate and the Company's effective tax rate for the years ended March 31,
2020 and 2019 are as follows (in thousands):
2020

Statutory federal tax
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Incentive stock option expense
Other permanent differences
Restricted stock shortfall/windfall
Change in valuation allowance - Federal
Change in valuation allowance - State
Prior-year adjustments

$

$

(7,400)
(439)
(41)
(91)
(437)
9,440
1,205
165
2,402

2019

21%
1%
0%
0%
1%
-27%
-3%
0%
-7%

$

$

(8,675)
(1,480)
681
93
(435)
9,819
685
—
688

21%
4%
-2%
0%
1%
-24%
-2%
0%
-2%

12. Stock Acquisition Rights, Stock Options and Warrants
The Company established the 2014 Stock Plan (the “2014 Stock Plan”) to attract, retain and reward individuals who contribute to the
achievement of the Company’s goals and objectives. This 2014 Stock Plan superseded previous stock plans, although under such previous plans,
23,550 stock options were outstanding and vested as of March 31, 2020.
The Company’s Board has reserved 4,147,985 shares of common stock for issuance under its 2014 Stock Plan as of March 31, 2020, of
which 1,187,260 shares are available for future issuance. The number of shares may increase, based on Board
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approval, each January 1 through January 1, 2024 by an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 5% of the number of shares of common stock issued
and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii) a lesser amount determined by the Board. Effective January 1, 2020, the
Board elected to increase the shares authorized under the 2014 Stock Plan by 342,762 shares, which represented 2% of the of the Company’s
common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019.
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
A summary of non-vested restricted stock activity for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
Weighted
Average
Grant Day
Fair Value

Restricted
Stock

Non-vested restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Non-vested restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Non-vested restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2020

217,813 $
171,780
(28,798)
(81,583)
279,212 $
208,722
(2,163)
(133,776)
351,995 $

24.69
31.58
(25.39)
(25.45)
28.71
42.86
(22.85)
(28.96)
37.04

The Company recognizes compensation expense for restricted stock on a straight-line basis over the explicit vesting period. Vested
restricted stock units are settled and issuable upon the earlier of the date the employee ceases to be an employee of the Company or a date certain
in the future. Stock compensation expense related to restricted stock was approximately $4.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2020. Stock
compensation expense related to restricted stock was approximately $4.1 million the year ended March 31, 2019, which included $1.4 million of
expense related to the modification of restricted stock held by the Company’s former chief executive officer and president and several other key
employees which were accounted for in restructuring costs.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for
the Company’s fiscal year 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its
accumulated deficit by $14,000 relating to restricted stock.
As of March 31, 2020, there was $10.2 million of unvested compensation expense for the restricted stock, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.82 years.
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the performance-based restricted stock unit activity for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Performance
Stock

Performance stock outstanding at March 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Performance stock outstanding at March 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Performance stock outstanding at March 31, 2020

109,138 $
—
—
—
109,138 $
150,291
(120,445)
—
138,984 $

Weighted
Average
Grant Day
Fair Value

23.80
—
—
—
23.80
46.23
(25.19)
—
46.85

On October 2, 2019, the Company awarded 11,307 performance-based restricted stock units under the 2014 Stock Plan. The
performance goal was: prior to January 13, 2020, (A) issuance of a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of
licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of contiguous
spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (B) the lack of objection by the Company's Board to the terms and
conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award mechanisms and
technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.
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All 120,445 performance-based restricted stock units awarded were forfeited in January 2020 as a result of the performance conditions
not being met by January 13, 2020. No compensation expense was recorded for these performance-based restricted stock units.
On February 28, 2020, the Company awarded 95,538 performance-based restricted stock units. The performance goals are:
(A) Target Goal: 50% of the shares vest upon (i) achievement by December 31, 2020 of a Final Order from the FCC providing for the
creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at
least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company’s
Board to the terms and conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award
mechanisms and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order; and
(B) Stretch Goal: The remaining 50% of the performance shares vest and settle upon the earliest to occur of each of the following
conditions: (i) the Company enters into one or more long-term agreement(s) with critical infrastructure or enterprise business(es) to enable such
business(es) to utilize the Company’s spectrum for broadband connectivity; (ii) the combined total contract dollars payable to the Company over
the initial term(s) of such agreement(s) equals or exceeds a certain amount as specified by the Board; and (iii) the agreement(s) is/are binding on
such business(es) and is/are either not contingent on prior Board approval(s) or such approval(s) has/have been received. If all of these
conditions have not been achieved by December 30, 2020, the performance shares will expire unvested.
Additionally, on February 28, 2020, the Company awarded 43,446 performance-based restricted stock units. The performance goal
related to these units is: 100% of the shares will vest upon (i) achievement by December 31, 2020 of a Final Order from the FCC providing for
the creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at
least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company’s
Board to the terms and conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award
mechanisms and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.
For the year ended March 31, 2020, there was no stock compensation expense recognized for the 138,984 performance-based restricted
stock units. As of March 31, 2020, there was approximately $6.5 million of unvested compensation expense related to the outstanding
performance-based restricted stock units.
Stock Options
A summary of Stock Option activity for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Options

Options outstanding at March 31, 2018
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited/expired
Options outstanding at March 31, 2019
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited/expired
Options outstanding at March 31, 2020
Exercisable at March 31, 2020
Total vested or expected to vest at March 31, 2020

1,968,374
726,875
(169,003)
(602,612)
1,923,634
3,330
(107,623)
(11,875)
1,807,466
1,579,433
1,807,101

Weighted
Average
Weighted Average Contractual
Aggregate
Exercise Price
Term
Intrinsic Value

$

$

$
$
$

22.79
23.73
(19.93)
(23.08)
23.64
46.85
(21.71)
(45.42)
23.57
23.12
23.57

4.85 $ 40,016,394
4.52 $ 35,686,550
4.85 $ 40,008,998

The Company entered into the CEO Transition Agreements on April 23, 2018. It also entered into additional consulting and transition
agreements with several other key employees during the year ended March 31, 2019. As a result of these agreements, the Company determined
that 574,434 stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock should be accounted for as a Type I modification (which does not
change the expectation that the award will ultimately vest resulting from an increase in the term to exercise the options) for the year ended
March 31, 2019. The Company also determined that 56,250 stock options to purchase shares of common stock should be accounted for as a
Type III modification for the year ended March 31, 2019. As a result, the 580,684 stock options are reflected as new grants and the previous
grants are treated as forfeited.
The Company awarded stock options to purchase 146,191 shares of common stock to employees and consultants during the year ended
March 31, 2019, of which stock options to purchase 112,000 shares of common stock were awarded to employees and stock options to purchase
34,191 shares of common stock were awarded to consultants and which each have a ten-year contractual life. Of the 112,000 stock options to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock that were granted in the year ended March 31,
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2019, 100,000 stock options were granted to the Company’s President and 12,000 stock options were granted to employees. For the stock
options granted to employees, 25% vests on the first anniversary of grant and the remainder will vest in three equal annual installments
thereafter. For the stock option to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock awarded to the Company’s President, 50% of the option shares vest
on the second anniversary of grant and 25% of the options shares vests in two annual installments thereafter. Shares granted to employees are
subject to vesting, future settlement conditions and other such terms as determined by the Board and set forth in the applicable award
agreements.
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company awarded a stock option to purchase 3,330 shares of common stock to a
consultant. The award has a contractual life of 10 years. 50% of the option shares will vest on June 30, 2020 and the remaining 50% on
December 31, 2020 subject to the terms of the award agreement.
The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was approximately $2.4 million at March 31, 2020.
Additional information regarding stock options outstanding at March 31, 2020 is as follows:

Exercise
Prices

$

13.25
20.01
46.24

Number
Outstanding

- $
-

20.00
46.23
72.85

901,550
883,836
22,080
1,807,466

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life in Years

3.47
6.24
5.77
4.85

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of Shares
Exercisable

Options
Exercisable

19.82
26.76
48.79
23.57

901,550
659,133
18,750
1,579,433

$

19.82
26.89
49.14
23.12

$

The fair value of stock options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. This stockbased compensation expense valuation model requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments regarding the variables used in the
calculation. These variables include the expected term, the expected volatility of the Company’s common stock, expected risk-free interest rate,
forfeiture rate and expected dividends. The Company calculates an expected term and volatility from the historical volatilities and terms of
selected comparable public companies within its industry along with the Company’s short history regarding these variables. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the stock
option. The Company estimates its forfeiture rate based on an analysis of its actual forfeitures and will continue to evaluate the appropriateness
of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover and other factors. The Company has never paid, and
does not anticipate paying, any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of zero in the optionpricing model.
The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of stock options:
Year Ended
March 31, 2020

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility
Expected term
Forfeiture rate

0.93%
-%
49.63%
5.67 years
-% to 2%

Year Ended
March 31, 2019

2.41% to 2.68%
-%
49.71% to 50.30%
5 years
3%

Performance-Based Stock Options
A summary of the Performance-Based Stock Options as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Performance Options

Performance Options outstanding at March 31, 2018
Performance Options granted
Performance Options exercised
Performance Options forfeited/expired
Performance Options outstanding at March 31, 2019
Performance Options granted
Performance Options exercised
Performance Options forfeited/expired
Performance Options outstanding at March 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

179,945 $
—
—
—
179,945 $
82,197
—
(179,945)
82,197 $

25.83
—
—
—
25.83
46.85
—
(25.83)
46.85
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The vesting of the performance-based stock options outstanding at March 31, 2019 were subject to the attainment of a performance
goal. The performance goal was: prior to January 13, 2020: (A) the issuance of a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and
allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of
contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (B) the lack of objection by the Company's Board to the terms
and conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award mechanisms and
technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.
All 179,945 performance-based stock options were forfeited on January 13, 2020 as a result of the performance goal not being attained
and no stock compensation expense was recorded for these awards.
On February 28, 2020, the Company awarded 67,562 performance-based stock options. The performance goals are:
(A) Target Goal: 50% of the shares vest upon (i) achievement by December 31, 2020 of a Final Order from the FCC providing for the
creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at
least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company’s
Board to the terms and conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award
mechanisms and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order and
(B) Stretch Goal: The remaining 50% of the performance shares vest and settle upon the earliest to occur of each of the following
conditions: (i) the Company enters into one or more long-term agreement(s) with critical infrastructure or enterprise business(es) to enable such
business(es) to utilize the Company’s spectrum for broadband connectivity; (ii) the combined total contract dollars payable to the Company over
the initial term(s) of such agreement(s) equals or exceeds a certain amount as specified by the Board; and (iii) the agreement(s) is/are binding on
such business(es) and is/are either not contingent on prior Board of Director approval(s) or such approval(s) has/have been received. If all of
these conditions have not been achieved by December 30, 2020, the performance shares will expire unvested.
Additionally, the Company awarded 14,635 performance-based stock options on February 28, 2020. The performance goal is: 100%
of the shares will vest upon (i) achievement by December 31, 2020 of a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of
licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of contiguous
spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company’s Board to the terms and
conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award mechanisms and
technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.
For the year ended March 31, 2020, there was no stock compensation expense recognized for the 82,197 performance-based stock
options. As of March 31, 2020, there was approximately $1.4 million of unvested compensation expense relating to the outstanding
performance-based stock options.
The stock compensation expense related to the consulting and transition agreements entered into by the Company for the year ended
March 31, 2019 was $3.2 million. This expense was incurred due to the Type I and Type III modifications resulting from the consulting and
termination agreements. The expense is accounted for in restructuring costs in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Stock compensation expense related to the amortization of the fair value of service-based stock options issued was approximately
$1.5 million and $3.0 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. There was no stock compensation expense related to
the performance-based stock options issued during those periods. Stock compensation expense is included as part of general and administrative
expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for
the Company’s fiscal year 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its
accumulated deficit by $174,000 relating to stock options.
The weighted average fair value for the stock option awards granted for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 was $46.85 per share. As
of March 31, 2020, there was approximately $2.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted under
the Company’s stock option plans, of which $0.7 million pertains to the non-performance based stock options which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.
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Motorola Investment
On September 15, 2014, Motorola invested $10.0 million to purchase 500,000 Class B Units of the Company’s subsidiary, PDV
Spectrum Holding Company, LLC (at a price equal to $20.00 per unit). The Company owns 100% of the Class A Units in this
subsidiary. Motorola has the right at any time to convert its 500,000 Class B Units into 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Company also has the right to force Motorola’s conversion into shares of its common stock. Motorola is not entitled to any assets, profits or
distributions from the operations of the subsidiary. In addition, Motorola’s conversion ratio from Class B Units to shares of the Company’s
common stock is fixed on a one-for-one basis and is not dependent on the performance or valuation of either the Company or its subsidiary. The
Class B Units have no redemption or call provisions and can only be converted into shares of the Company’s common stock. Management has
determined that this investment does not meet the criteria for temporary equity or non-controlling interest due to the limited rights that Motorola
has as a holder of Class B Units and accordingly has presented this investment as part of its permanent equity within Additional Paid-in Capital
in the accompanying financial statements.
13. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
For the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company paid in cash approximately $36,000 and $31,000 in taxes,
respectively. The Company did not pay any interest for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.
The Company capitalized asset retirement obligations that amounted to approximately $557,000 during the year ended March 31,
2020. The Company did not capitalize any asset retirement obligations during the year ended March 31, 2019.
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company entered into a barter transaction with a third party whereby it acquired wireless
licenses valued at approximately $88,000 in exchange of equipment with a net book value of $21,000 and approximately $15,000 in cash. The
Company recorded a corresponding gain of $52,000.
In connection with the transfer of its TeamConnect business and support for its pdvConnect business, the Company entered into an
MOU with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. Under the MOU, the Company agreed to assign the intellectual property rights
to its pdvConnect application to the LLC, a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest in the
LLC, effective April 30, 2019. The Goosetown principals have agreed to fund the future operations of the LLC, subject to certain
limitations. The LLC has assumed the Company’s software support and maintenance obligations under the Goosetown and A BEEP
Agreements. The LLC has also assumed customer care services related to the Company’s pdvConnect application. The Company provided
transition services to the LLC through April 1, 2019 to facilitate an orderly transition of the customer care services.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000, and
recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the
assets as of such date. As of December 31, 2019, the Company also completed the transfer of the intellectual property rights with a net book
value of $174,000 to the LLC and recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $34,000 and loss on disposal of capitalized patent costs
amounting to $140,000 relating to the transfer of the intellectual property.
14. Contingencies
Litigation
In addition to commitments and obligations in the ordinary course of business as reflected in the lease footnote above, the Company
may be subject, from time to time, to various claims and pending and potential legal actions arising out of the normal conduct of its
business. The Company assesses contingencies to determine the degree of probability and range of possible loss for potential accrual in its
financial statements. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing litigation contingencies is
highly subjective and requires judgments about future events. When evaluating contingencies, the Company may be unable to provide a
meaningful estimate due to a number of factors, including the procedural status of the matter in question, the presence of complex or novel legal
theories and/or the ongoing discovery and development of information important to the matters. In addition, damage amounts claimed in
litigation against it may be unsupported, exaggerated or unrelated to possible outcomes, and as such are not meaningful indicators of its potential
liability.
The Company regularly reviews contingencies to determine the adequacy of its accruals and related disclosures. During the period
presented, the Company has not recorded any accrual for loss contingencies associated with any claims or legal proceedings; determined that an
unfavorable outcome is probable or reasonably possible; or determined that the amount or range of any possible loss is reasonably
estimable. However, the outcome of legal proceedings and claims brought against the Company is subject to significant uncertainty. Therefore,
although management considers the likelihood of a material adverse outcome to be remote, if one or more of these legal matters were resolved
against the Company in a reporting period, the Company’s consolidated financial statements for that reporting period could be materially
adversely affected.
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COVID-19 Pandemic
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic and
COVID-19 continues to cause significant disruptions throughout the United States. The ultimate extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the
financial performance of the Company and its ability to secure broadband licenses pursuant to the terms of the 900 MHz Report and Order and to
commercialize any broadband licenses it secures, will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of COVID-19, the laws,
orders and restrictions imposed by federal, state and local governmental agencies, and the overall economy, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted. If the financial markets and/or the overall economy are impacted for an extended period, the Company's operating results
may be materially and adversely affected. The Company is actively managing the business to maintain its cash flow and believes that it has
adequate liquidity.
15. Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and trade
accounts receivable.
The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with financial institutions for which credit loss is not anticipated.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company sells its pdvConnect product and extends credit predominately to one third-party carrier. The
Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the write-off history, historical trends and other information.
16. Business Concentrations
For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company had two domestic carriers and one reseller that accounted for approximately 21% of
total operating revenues, respectively. For the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company had one Tier 1 domestic carrier that accounted for
approximately 25% of operating revenue. For the 2020 and 2019 fiscal years, operating revenues were from domestic sales.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company had one domestic carrier and one reseller that accounted for approximately 71% of total accounts
receivable. As of March 31, 2019, the Company had one Tier 1 domestic carrier that accounted for approximately 31% of its accounts
receivable.
17. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Selected financial data by quarter was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Fiscal Year ended March 31, 2020
Operating revenues
Net loss
Net loss per common share basic and diluted

Fiscal Year ended March 31, 2019
Operating revenues
Net loss
Net loss per common share basic and diluted

Full Year

$
$
$

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
453 $
423 $
361 $
327 $
(9,374) $
(7,715) $
(8,811) $
(11,738) $
(0.63) $
(0.46) $
(0.52) $
(0.68) $

Full Year

$
$
$

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
1,872 $
1,824 $
1,501 $
1,302 $
(12,302) $
(11,779) $
(8,351) $
(9,561) $
(0.85) $
(0.81) $
(0.57) $
(0.65) $

1,564
(37,638)
(2.29)

6,499
(41,993)
(2.88)
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Exhibit 4.5
DESCRIPTION OF ANTERIX INC.’S
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of March 31, 2020, Anterix Inc. had one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1932, as amended: common stock, $0.0001 par value per share.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “we”, “us”, the “Company”, or “Anterix” in this Exhibit 4.5 refer
to Anterix Inc.
The following description of our common stock summarizes the material terms and provisions of our common stock.
The following description is only a summary and it may not contain all the information that is important to you. For the
complete terms of our common stock, please refer to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended
and restated bylaws, each as amended to date, that are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10K. The terms of our common stock may also be affected by the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).
General
Our authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, with a $0.0001 par value per share, and
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a $0.0001 par value per share, all of which shares of preferred stock are
undesignated. Our board of directors may establish the rights and preferences of the preferred stock from time to time.
Common Stock
Voting
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders.
Dividends
The holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time
by our board of directors out of funds legally available, subject to preferences that may be applicable to preferred stock, if any,
then outstanding.
Liquidation
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, the holders of common stock are entitled to
share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to prior distribution rights of preferred stock, if any,
then outstanding.
Rights and Preferences
The common stock has no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights. There are no redemption or
sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock. All outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.
Stock Exchange Listing
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ATEX.”

Preferred Stock
Under the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized to issue
shares of preferred stock in one or more series without stockholder approval. Our board of directors has the discretion to
determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights,
redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock. There are no restrictions presently on the
repurchase or redemption of any shares of our preferred stock.
The issuance of preferred stock will affect, and may adversely affect, the rights of holders of common stock. It is not
possible to state the actual effect of the issuance of any shares of preferred stock on the rights of holders of common stock
until our board of directors determines the specific rights attached to that preferred stock. The effects of issuing preferred
stock could include one or more of the following:
·
·
·
·

restricting dividends on the common stock;
diluting the voting power of the common stock;
impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock; or
delaying or preventing changes in control or management of our company.

We have no present plans to issue any shares of preferred stock nor are any shares of our preferred stock presently
outstanding. Preferred stock will be fully paid and nonassessable upon issuance.
Possible Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and
Amended and Restated Bylaws
Provisions of the DGCL and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
could make it more difficult to acquire the Company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove
incumbent officers and directors. These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive
takeover practices and takeover bids that our board of directors may consider inadequate and to encourage persons seeking to
acquire control of the company to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased
protection of our ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure the
company outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover or acquisition proposals because, among other things,
negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Amendment
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our voting stock then outstanding is required to amend certain provisions relating to
the required vote at stockholder meetings, action by written consent of stockholders, stockholder notice procedures, required
vote for directors, qualification, number, term, election, removal and remuneration of our directors, the calling of special
meetings of stockholders and the indemnification of directors.
Size of Board and Vacancies
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that the number of directors on our board of directors is fixed exclusively by
our board of directors. Newly created directorships resulting from any increase in our authorized number of directors and any
vacancies in our board of directors resulting from death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other
cause will be filled generally by either (i) the majority vote of our remaining directors in office, even if less than a quorum is
present, or (ii) the stockholders holding a majority of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of
the Company authorized to vote on such action at a duly called annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders.

Special Stockholder Meetings
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that only the Chairman of our board of directors, a
presiding director, our Chief Executive Officer or by a majority of our board of directors then in office may call special
meetings of our stockholders.
Stockholder Action by Unanimous Written Consent
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly eliminates the right of our stockholders to act by
written consent other than by unanimous written consent.
Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals
Our amended and restated bylaws provide advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and
nomination of candidates for election as directors other than nominations made by or at the direction of our board of directors
or a committee of our board of directors.
No Cumulative Voting
The DGCL provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
does not provide for cumulative voting.
Undesignated Preferred Stock
The authority that is possessed by our board of directors to issue preferred stock could potentially be used to discourage
attempts by third parties to obtain control of the company through a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise by
making it more difficult or more costly to obtain control of the company. Our board of directors may issue preferred stock
with voting rights or conversion rights that, if exercised, could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common
stock.
Authorized but Unissued Shares
Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock will be available for future issuance without
stockholder approval. We may use additional shares for a variety of purposes, including future public offerings to raise
additional capital, to fund acquisitions and as employee compensation. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of
common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company by
means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.
The above provisions may deter a hostile takeover or delay a change in control or management of the Company.
Indemnification.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will
indemnify our officers and directors against losses as they incur in investigations and legal proceedings resulting from their
services to us, which may include service in connection with takeover defense measures.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute
We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. In general, Section 203
generally prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested
stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the person became an interested stockholder unless:
·
·
·

·

prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination
or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the
time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, but not the
outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder, (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and
also officers and (2) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to
determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
at or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors of the
corporation and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the
affirmative vote of at least 66 / % of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.
2 3

In general, Section 203 defines business combination to include the following:
·
·
·
·
·

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of either the assets or
outstanding stock of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;
subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of
the corporation to the interested stockholder;
any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any
class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or
the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial
benefits by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines interested stockholder as an entity or person who, together with affiliates and associates,
beneficially owns, or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the
outstanding voting stock of the corporation.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. Its address is 1
State Street 30th Floor, New York, NY 10004-1561, and its telephone number is (212) 509-4000.
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TRANSITION AGREEMENT

THIS TRANSITION AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), dated the 28th day of January, 2020
("Effective Date"), is by and between Association of American Railroads, a District of Columbia
Corporation ("AAR"), and PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC ("PDV"), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Anterix, Inc., a Delaware corporation. AAR and PDV are sometimes referred to herein as the "Parties"
or individually as a "Party."
RECITALS
WHEREAS, AAR holds the license ("AAR License") from the Federal Communications
Commission ("FCC") authorizing the use of six (6) non-contiguous 900 MHz frequencies ("AAR
Frequencies"), three (3) of which are within the 900 MHz Broadband service ("AAR BB Frequencies")
and three of which are below the 900 MHz Broadband Service ("AAR Non-BB Frequencies") proposed in
WT Docket No. 17-200, throughout the geographic area specified on the AAR License as set forth on
Exhibit A hereto; and WHEREAS, the Parties understand that the FCC is expected effectively to effect an
"exchange" of the AAR frequencies for ten (10) contiguous 900 MHz frequencies ("PDV Frequencies") set
forth on Exhibit B hereto and authorized on a geographic basis throughout the 47 MTAs in the Continental
United States ("CONUS"), which are to be exchanged through modification of the AAR License and
cancellation of relevant PDV licenses on terms to be specified by the FCC (presumably in the WT Docket
No. 17-200 Report and Order, referred to herein as the "900 R&O," and a related Order of Modification
(collectively, the "FCC Orders")).
WHEREAS, the Parties and individual Class I freight Railroads ("Railroads") who are using the
AAR Frequencies have had ongoing discussions about a transition plan for the AAR Frequencies, and
wish to set forth their agreement herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and of the mutual covenants, conditions and
agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which hereby are acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Transition Plan. Unless otherwise specified in the FCC Orders and subject to the good faith
flexibility described below, AAR will discontinue use of the AAR Frequencies within five (5) years of
adoption of the Order of Modification, and will discontinue use of the AAR BB Frequencies within three
(3) years of adoption of the Order of Modification subject to the following provisions of this Section 1
(collectively the "Clearing Deadlines"). The Parties recognize that requirements of individual Railroads
and/or entities desiring broadband capability may require the Parties to cooperate in good faith to adjust
the Clearing Deadlines to later or earlier dates in particular geographic areas. While the FCC has expressed
interest in deployment of 900 MHz broadband systems in a timely manner, both PDV and the Railroads
acknowledge the need for reasonable flexibility in some circumstances, particularly related to the AAR BB
Frequencies. The Parties recognize that some Railroads may be able to transition off the AAR BB
Frequencies on an expedited basis while others may require more time. Determining the location and
additional time needed for clearing the AAR BB Frequencies under some circumstances would result from
mutual, good faith discussions between the Parties and, likewise, the Parties anticipate that accelerated

migration in some locations would be balanced with the need for additional time in other locations. In
particular, the Parties have discussed upon mutual agreement, accelerated clearing in identified priority
areas where potential utility customers have indicated interest in deploying 900 MHz private broadband
networks. The plan set forth in this Section 1 is referred to herein as the "Transition Plan".

2.

Matters with the FCC.

(a) Within five (5) days after the date hereof, or by another mutually agreed upon date,
the Parties shall cooperate in notifying the FCC, through a mutually agreed mechanism, of the existence of
this Agreement.
(b) The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement does not constrain the FCC, which may
choose in the FCC Orders to require discontinuation of use of the AAR Frequencies within a time period
other than that set forth in this Agreement. In such event, the provisions of this Agreement shall remain in
effect, but the period for discontinuation shall be the period set forth the in the FCC Orders rather than this
Agreement, although the Parties shall still use commercially reasonable efforts to meet the Transition Plan
including the provisions in Section 1 regarding mutually agreed accelerated or deferred clearing.
(c) The Parties agree to coordinate and cooperate with regard to approaching the FCC
regarding matters relating to the Transition Plan, and each Party agrees to inform the other Party of any
relevant information or questions from the FCC regarding matters relating to the Transition Plan.

3. Notice of Timing Issues. AAR shall notify PDV, or PDV shall notify AAR, respectively,
promptly and in reasonable detail upon obtaining knowledge of any facts that would result in additional
time being needed for clearing the AAR BB Frequencies in specific locations or under particular
circumstances, or would result in the need for accelerated clearing in identified priority areas for potential
utility customers deploying 900 MHz private broadband networks. In addition, each Party shall notify the
other Party promptly and in reasonable detail upon the occurrence of, or the impending or threatened
occurrence of, any event which could cause or constitute a material breach of its obligations under this
Agreement. Each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent or promptly remedy any
such breach of this Agreement or if that is reasonably achievable to mitigate the effects thereof
4. Further Assurances. Each Party upon request shall execute and deliver such documents and
take such actions as may reasonably be requested by the other Party in order to effectuate the purposes of
this Agreement.
5.

Certain Definitions. The following terms have the following meanings:

(a) "Affiliate" shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly,
is in control of, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term "control"
(including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as
applied to any Person, means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction
of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or
other ownership interest, by contract or otherwise.

(b) "MTA(s)" shall mean a Major Trading Area(s), the geographic unit used by the FCC
in issuing 900 MHz geographic authorizations.
6.
Confidentiality. The Parties (a) will protect and keep confidential the existence of this
Agreement (with the exception of the notification to the FCC under Section 2), its terms and conditions
and any other information obtained by the other Party in connection with or related to this Agreement
(including, but not limited to, all information relating to the other Party's technology, customers, business
plans and construction schedules), (b) will use such information only for the purpose(s) for which it was
originally disclosed and in any case only for the purpose of fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement,
and (c) will return all such information to the other Party promptly upon the termination of this Agreement.
All such information will remain the disclosing Party's exclusive property, and the receiving Party will
have no rights to use such information except as expressly provided herein. Notwithstanding the above, (i)
a Party may make available to the FCC, upon its request, a copy of this Agreement and shall seek
confidential treatment of all such confidential information and (ii) each Party may disclose the basic terms
of this Agreement to shareholders and potential investors and may make a copy of the Agreement
available to such persons, as well as to consultants, engineers and other third-party service providers and
representatives, so long as such third party agrees to use the same degree of care as the receiving Party to
keep such information confidential.
7.
Press Releases. Subject to the provisions of applicable law, no press release or public
disclosure or disclosure to any third party, either written or oral, of the existence or terms of this
Agreement shall be made by any Party without the prior written consent of the other Party. This Section
shall not be construed to prohibit any Party from making any disclosures to any governmental authority or
securities exchange or other entity that it is required to make by law or regulation or from filing this
Agreement with, or disclosing the terms of this Agreement to, any such governmental authority or such
person or entity in connection with obtaining the consent or approval of such governmental authority or
such person or entity the disclosing Party is obligated to seek pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
8.

Limitation of Liability.

(a) No Consequential Damages. NEITHER AAR NOR PDV, NOR THEIR
RESPECTIVE MEMBERS, AFFILIATED COMPANIES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS,
EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS, SHALL BE LIABLE TO PDV OR AAR RESPECTIVELY FOR
ANY INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING WITHOUT
LIMITATION, LOSS OF REVENUE, LOSS OF CUSTOMERS, CLAIMS OF CUSTOMERS,
LOSS OF GOODWILL OR LOSS OF PROFITS OR MARGINS, ARISING IN ANY MANNER
FROM THIS AGREEMENT OR AAR'S OR PDV'S PERFORMANCE OR NONPERFORMANCE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.
(b) No Assumption of Liabilities. NEITHER PARTY SHALL ASSUME OR BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY OBLIGATIONS OR LIABILITIES OF THE OTHER, ITS
RESPECTIVE MEMBERS, AFFILIATED COMPANIES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS,
EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS, OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN,
CONTINGENT OR OTHERWISE, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT.

9. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given hereunder
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered, sent by facsimile, recognized
overnight delivery service, electronic mail (provided that such communications are concurrently sent by
first class mail in accordance with this Section), return receipt requested, or registered or certified first
class mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, to the following addresses:
If to AAR:
Association of American Railroads Attn: [***]
425 Third Street, SW Suite
1000
Washington, DC 20024
Phone: [***]
Email : [***]
If to PDV:
pdvWireless, Inc. Attn:
[***]
8260 Greensboro Drive, Suite 501
McLean, VA 22102
Phone: [***]
Email: [***]
Notices delivered personally shall be effective upon delivery against receipt. Notices transmitted by
facsimile or electronic mail shall be effective when received, provided that the burden of proving notice
when notice is transmitted by facsimile or electronic mail shall be the responsibility of the Party providing
such notice. Notices delivered by overnight mail shall be effective when received. Notices delivered by
registered or certified mail shall be effective on the date set forth on the receipt of registered or
certified mail.
10. Expenses. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, each Party shall bear its own
expenses and costs incurred in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby. Neither Party shall be responsible for costs incurred by the other
Party in clearing operations from, respectively, the AAR Frequencies and the PDV Frequencies, and
relocating operations to the exchanged or new frequencies as contemplated herein.
11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the District of Columbia (without regard to the choice of law provisions thereof which
could cause the laws of any other jurisdiction to apply).

12. Assignment. Neither Party may assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of
the other Party; provided, however, that either Party may, without the consent of the other Party, assign
this Agreement to any Affiliate thereof, provided that none of the assignments described in this clause
shall relieve the assignor of its obligations hereunder. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall
inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
13. Amendments; Waivers. No alteration, modification or change of this Agreement shall be
valid except by an agreement in writing executed by the Parties hereto. No such waiver shall be effective
unless in writing signed by a duly authorized officer of such Party. Except as otherwise expressly set forth
herein, no failure or delay by any Party hereto in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder (and
no course of dealing between or among any of the Parties) shall operate as a waiver of any such right,
power or privilege. No waiver of any default on any one occasion shall constitute a waiver of any
subsequent or other default. No single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege shall
preclude the further or full exercise thereof.
14.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the schedules and exhibits hereto collectively
represent the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all prior representations, warranties, covenants, understandings,
agreements, written or oral, discussions, or negotiations among the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof, and cannot be amended, supplemented or changed, except by an agreement in writing that
makes specific reference to this Agreement and that is signed by each of the Parties hereto. Each Party
hereby represents, acknowledges and agrees that it has not relied on any representation, warranty,
covenant, understanding, agreement, written or oral, discussion, or negotiation not expressly contained
herein in entering into this Agreement, Each Party hereby represents, acknowledges and agrees that this
Agreement is independent of, and not in any way conditioned on, connected to, or to be construed with
any other agreement or arrangement, written or oral, between the Parties.
15. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one agreement. Signatures transmitted by electronic mail or facsimile shall be deemed
original signatures.
16. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person,
entity or circumstance shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement
and the application of such provision to other persons, entities or circumstances shall not be affected
thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by applicable law.
17.
Interpretation. As all Parties have participated in the drafting of this Agreement, any
ambiguity shall not be construed against either Party as the drafter. Unless the context of this Agreement
clearly requires otherwise, (a) "or" has the inclusive meaning frequently identified with the phrase
"and/or," (b) "including" has the inclusive meaning frequently identified with the phrase "including, but
not limited to" and (c) references to "hereof," "hereunder" or "herein" or words of similar import relate to
this Agreement.
18. Third Parties. Nothing herein, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall confer on any
Person other than the Parties hereto any rights, remedies, obligations or Liabilities under or by reason of
this Agreement.

19.
Dispute Resolution. The Parties will attempt in good faith to resolve all disputes,
disagreements or claims relating to this Agreement. In the event a question or controversy arises between
the Parties, the Parties shall first exercise reasonable efforts to resolve the matter through a Steering
Committee composed of the individuals specified below (or individuals of similar rank or function
appointed by the respective Parties). In the event that either (i) the question or controversy is not able to be
resolved through the Steering Committee within thirty (30) days or (ii) the question or controversy relates
to a matter that is not addressed in the Agreement, then the Parties shall escalate the matter to their
executive level leadership and if not resolved on that basis within thirty (30) days, then to the respective
senior executive/CEO level leadership of each Party, before proceeding with any formal legal dispute in
any federal court, state court, or other administrative body.
The AAR Steering Committee Members will be made up of the seven Class I members of the AAR
Wireless Communication Committee Steering Committee.
The following are the names of the (initial) PDV Steering Committee Members:
[***]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound hereby, have duly
executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.
Association of American Railroads
By: /s/ Michael Rush
Name: Michael Rush
Title: Senior Vice President – Safety & Operations
Date: 02/11/2020
PDV Spectrum Holding Company, LLC
By: /s/ Jay Paull
Name: Jay Paull
Title: General Manager
Date: 01/28/2020

EXHIBIT A
AAR·LICENSE/FREQUENCIES
[***]

EXHIBIT B
PDV FREQUENCIES
[***]

Exhibit 23.1

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our report dated May 28, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of Anterix
Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2020. We consent to the incorporation by reference of the said report in the Registration
Statements of Anterix Inc. on Form S-3 (File No. 333-237572) and on Forms S-8 (No. 333-236251, No. 333-229565, No. 333-222890, No. 333215934, No. 333-209543 and No. 333-201699).
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
New York, New York
May 28, 2020
Exhibit 31.1

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Morgan E. O’Brien, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Anterix Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: May 28, 2020
/s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Timothy A. Gray, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Anterix Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: May 28, 2020
/s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Anterix Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Morgan E. O’Brien, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and
Timothy A. Gray, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Dated: May 28, 2020

/s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: May 28, 2020

/s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Anterix Inc. and will be retained by Anterix Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and
is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Anterix Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained
in such filing.

